# MAINSTREAM TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS IN MEETING THE ACADEMIC AND LITERACY NEEDS OF ADOLESCENT ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS

by

Zahra S. Alhuwairini
A Dissertation
Submitted to the
Graduate Faculty
of
George Mason University
in Partial Fulfilment of
The Requirements for the Degree
of
Doctor of Philosophy
Education

Committee:	
	Chair
	Program Director
	Dean, College of Education and Humar Development
Date:	Fall Semester 2020 George Mason University Fairfax, VA

Mainstream Teachers' Perceptions of the Effectiveness of Professional Development Programs in Meeting the Academic and Literacy Needs of Adolescent English Language Learners

A Dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at George Mason University

by

Zahra S. Alhuwairini Master of Art Kent State University, 1997 Bachelor of Arts Princess Nourah University, 1993

Director: William Brozo, Professor College of Education and Human Development

> Fall Semester 2020 George Mason University Fairfax, VA



THIS WORK IS LICENSED UNDER A <u>CREATIVE COMMONS</u> <u>ATTRIBUTION-NODERIVS 3.0 UNPORTED LICENSE</u>.

# **Dedication**

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my dear husband, Sulaiman Alaraini, for always wholeheartedly supporting me through the thick and thin. Thank you for always pushing me to strive for greater successes and for always being my guiding light through this long and difficult journey. I am forever grateful for your love, patience, and encouragement that have helped me make it this far.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the school principal and teacher participants, my dissertation committee, my colleagues and friends, and my family. First and foremost I would like to sincerely thank the school principal for allowing me to conduct my study within the school. With principal's and administrators' devoted support and cooperation, I was able to successfully conduct my research. I am also grateful for the teachers who participated in my study for dedicating some of their invaluable time to engage in my research. Their essential feedback and contributions helped me build a strong base that greatly aided in the completion of this dissertation.

I am also forever grateful for my dissertation committee members, Dr. William Brozo, Dr. Robert Smith, and Dr. Kristien Zenkov for their utmost support and encouragement. They have stood by me and continuously motivated me to strive for success in the doctoral program. It would not have been possible to successfully complete this dissertation without their immense support. I would like to thank Dr. Brozo for sincerely guiding me on this journey from the beginning. His words of encouragement and wisdom have eased my challenges and led me to reach the end of this journey. He was always there to provide a bright light for me at the end of the tunnel. I want to also thank him for all his detailed and attentive feedback and input that have greatly aided me in the construction of my dissertation. His constant efforts and availability have pushed me forward to finalize my research. I want to also thank Dr. Smith for always motivating and advising me throughout my doctoral program. His constant encouragement and guidance have meant much more to me than he will ever know. He provided me with many valuable comments, questions, and suggestions that have aided in strengthening my research. I would also like to thank Dr. Zenkov for earnestly providing me with essential and informative feedback and comments that helped me in developing my research. He was always willing to provide me with additional support and feedback in my research and helped ease the process of conducting my study.

I would like to thank all my colleagues and friends for their continuous support in the completion of this journey. Each one of them has provided me with unique assistance that contributed to concluding my dissertation. I want to first thank my colleague, Dr. Megan Lynch, for her endless support and lively spirit that has truly helped me in advancing through my dissertation. She went out of her way to assist me in gaining access to a school where I was able to conduct my research. I am also grateful for Dr. Lori Silver for her tremendous assistance, support, guidance, and expertise throughout this dissertation study. I am grateful for her encouragement and inspiration that have motivated me to conduct this research. I want to also thank my dear friend and colleague, Dr. Karen Wrightsman, for her constant and positive inspiration that helped me get through this research. I have been overwhelmed by her encouragement and support as well as her

motivating spirit. I want to sincerely thank her for providing some of her valuable time to provide me with beneficial feedback as a critical friend and as an editor.

Lastly, I want to thank my family for all the love and support and for believing in me to fulfill this journey. I am extremely grateful for my husband, Sulaiman, for always being supportive and caring along the way. I also want to thank my children for all their love, understanding, patience, and encouragement.

# **Table of Contents**

List of Tables	xi
List of Abbreviations	xii
Abstract	xiii
Chapter One	1
Statement of the Problem	
Purpose of the Study	4
Theoretical Framework	5
Research Questions	9
Significance of the Study	10
Definition of Terms	12
Summary	15
Organization of the Dissertation	15
Chapter Two	17
Adult Learning Theory and the Social Constructivist Theory	20
Mainstream Teachers of ELLs	21
Mainstream Teachers' Role and Responsibility in Teaching ELLs	22
Pedagogical Content Knowledge of Mainstream Teachers of ELLs	23
PD of Mainstream Teachers of ELLs	25
Needs for PD for Mainstream Teachers	27

Current issues in PD for Mainstream Teachers of ELLs	30
Mainstream Teachers of ELLs' Perceptions and Attitudes of PD	33
Reforming PD for Mainstream Teachers of ELLs	37
Changing Mainstream Teachers' Beliefs and Attitudes	38
Interest and Engagement of Mainstream Teachers in PD	39
Closing Mainstream Teachers' Learning Gap about ELLs' Teaching	41
Instructional Strategies of Teaching ELLs in Mainstream Classrooms	43
Supporting Mainstream Teacher Learning within the School Setting	46
Summary4	48
Chapter Three5	52
Qualitative Research5	53
Case Study5	55
Context5	56
School district	57
Setting	60
Participants6	62
Lakewood PD Activities6	57
Data Collection6	58
Individual interviews	70

Focus group interviews
Field notes journal
Memos
Procedure and Data Analysis72
Validity75
Research Timeline77
Summary78
Chapter Four
Participants' Personal and Professional Backgrounds79
Findings90
Attitude and Perception93
Teachers value PD experiences
Teachers build on their personal and professional experiences
Teachers acknowledge the vital role of organizational support in teaching and
understanding of the academic and social needs of ELLs and their families 102
Teachers remain critical of some PD opportunities
Language and Content Integration109
Mainstream teachers ought to consider literacy as an integral part of their daily and
routine instructions

Teachers benefit more from practical and authentic PD	118
Teachers gain better teaching experiences through social interactions with their	
peers	124
Differentiation	132
Teachers demand PD programs be based on their prior knowledge	133
Teachers desire the content of PD to be relevant to their current situation	137
Teachers want to have a voice in their learning opportunities	141
Time	145
Teachers require PD materials to be divided into segments	146
Teachers desire to have ample time to master content covered	149
Teachers seek opportunities to reflect and follow up on their professional practi	ices
	154
Summary	159
Chapter Five	161
Discussion	163
Implications	172
Implications for Instructional Practices	173
Implications for Teacher Education	175
Implications for Teachers' PD	176

Implications for Policy	178
Implications for Research	180
Limitations	182
Final Thoughts	183
Appendix A	186
Appendix B	188
Appendix C	190
Appendix D	191
Appendix E	193
Appendix F	194
Appendix G	
Appendix H	196
References	

# **List of Tables**

Table	Page
Table 1. Participants' Detailed Demographic Information	65
Table 2. Participants' Detailed Teaching and PD Experiences	66
Table 3. Research Timeline	77
Table 4. Initial Codes, Categories, and Eventual Themes Emerging t	from Data Analysis91

# **List of Abbreviations**

Professional Development	PD
English Language	
English Language Learners	
English as a Second Language	
Professional Learning Community	
Curriculum Learning Team	
Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol	
Pedagogical Content Knowledge	
Wilson Public Schools District	

Abstract

MAINSTREAM TEACHERS' PERCEPTIONS OF THE EFFECTIVENESS OF PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS IN MEETING THE ACADEMIC AND LITERACY NEEDS OF ADOLESCENT ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS

Zahra S. Alhuwairini, Ph.D.

George Mason University, 2020

Dissertation Director: Dr. William Brozo

There is a learning gap between what mainstream teachers ought to know and practice to effectively teach English language learners (ELLs) and what they know and practice in actuality when working with adolescent ELLs. This study employed a qualitative method to assess the effectiveness of teacher professional development (PD) opportunities from the perspectives of mainstream teachers of ELLs. This research is best situated within social constructivist theory and the theory of adult learning. By listening to the voices of ten experienced mainstream teachers from a middle school, I was able to shed some light on their attitudes and perceptions about their PD experiences amid teaching ELLs. Generally, the views of the participating teachers provide a holistic picture of how teachers make meaning of their experiences of their PD activities. A key finding of this study indicates that the main challenge mainstream teachers face is figuring out how to successfully enhance ELLs' English proficiency while teaching them the content of the subject area. The participants openly expressed their desire and interest to learn and apply new instructional strategies and practices through a cohesive set of PD offerings rather than one-shot PD. While the participants revealed that their previous PD activities had partially helped them improve their attitudes, beliefs, and perceptions toward teaching ELLs and toward PD opportunities, they mostly relied on their previous experiences and prior beliefs when developing their attitudes toward teaching ELLs. Differentiating PD to meet teachers' different learning needs was also highlighted by many of the participants as a major suggestion for improving PD opportunities. Within the concept of differentiation, participants highlighted the need to get special training on supporting those ELLs with varying degrees of English proficiency and academic abilities. The findings of the study also revealed that mainstream teachers need sufficient time to shift their thinking and start practicing what they have learned in PD activities.

## **Chapter One**

In recent years, the number of English language learners (ELLs) attending K-12 schools in the United States has dramatically increased, with more than 10% (or more than 5.5 million) of the K-12 student population being labeled as ELLs (Hersi et al., 2016; Polat & Cepik, 2015). While it takes approximately three years for ELLs to exit English as a Second Language (ESL) programs and join mainstream classrooms, it is important to note that not all adolescent ELLs succeed in becoming proficient in English, which may result in them becoming long-term struggling readers while underperforming academically (Calderon et al., 2011; Gandara et al., 2005; Hamman & Reeves, 2013; O'Brien, 2011; Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013). The alarming and persistent low academic performance of ELLs, as compared to non-ELLs, leads to major challenges for mainstream teachers as well as school and district leaders on how best to support adolescent ELLs during their school years and beyond.

In examination of this issue in providing effective support for adolescent ELLs, research findings reveal that mainstream teachers are largely not well-equipped with the right pedagogical content knowledge and skills, social and cultural knowledge, beliefs, and attitudes needed to meet learning needs of these students (Coady et al., 2015; Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Lee & Buxton, 2013; Téllez & Waxman, 2006; Yoon, 2008). While there is an increase in professional development (PD) opportunities for mainstream

teachers of ELLs (Ballantyne et al., 2008), little is known about the effectiveness of these PD programs, through the lenses of mainstream teachers' perspectives of how these programs assist them in adequately instructing ELLs (Rice Doran, 2014; O'Brien, 2011).

Teaching adolescent ELLs can be more effective if content area knowledge and English language acquisition are integrated, which in turn, places more responsibility on mainstream teachers to get the proper training and education on how to effectively teach literacy strategies in their subject areas to adolescent ELLs (Molle, 2013; Yoon, 2008). To better employ content-based instruction for ELLs and to support more effective literacy program implementation, it is essential that mainstream teachers participate in high quality PD, which builds their instructional capacities, as well as social and cultural awareness and understanding needed to adequately educate adolescent ELLs (August et al., 2010; Berg & Huang, 2015; Coady et al., 2015; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; Jiménez et al., 2015). By inviting teachers of ELLs to share their experiences and perspectives about these PD programs, PD opportunities for teachers of ELLs and ultimately the teaching practices which best benefit EL students may be improved (Gandara et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2011; O'Neal et al., 2008).

#### **Statement of the Problem**

An initial review and assessment of the literature on the availability, extent, and effectiveness of PD for mainstream teachers working with ELLs revealed that there is a gap between what mainstream teachers ought to know and practice to effectively teach ELLs and what they know and practice in actuality when working with ELLs in mainstream classrooms (August et al., 2010; Coady et al., 2015; Franco-Fuenmayor et al.,

2015; Molle, 2013; Short, 2013). This gap in professional learning significantly contributes to the observed achievement gap exhibited between ELLs and non-ELLs (Berg & Huang, 2015).

In general, K-12 PD has consisted of the generally accepted practice of in-service activities (e.g., collaboration, co-teaching, peer meetings, and workshops). Yet, the impact and effectiveness of these PD opportunities remain questionable. Current PD opportunities, in most of their forms and types provided for mainstream teachers to assist and support ELLs, are both limited in quantity and are considered ineffective to a large extent in supporting mainstream teachers to adequately teach ELLs (Berg & Huang, 2015; Bunch, 2013; Coady et al., 2015; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; Molle, 2013; Lee & Buxton, 2013; Téllez & Waxman, 2006). Borko (2004) elaborates on this issue by arguing that "the professional development currently available to teachers is woefully inadequate" (p. 3). In contrast to the traditional PD programs provided to content area teachers, Knight and Wiseman (2006) asserted, "the results of professional development for teachers of diverse populations are even more problematic" (p. 391).

Many mainstream teachers are not only unprepared to teach ELLs, but more importantly, they are unaware and less informed of the critical role they play in having an impact on supporting and meeting the learning needs of ELLs (Bunch, 2013; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Gandara et al., 2005; Molle, 2013). O'Neal et al. (2008) argue that even when mainstream teachers participate in PD programs to help them enhance their teaching strategies and practices of ELLs and gain some understanding of their

culture and diversity, they learn more about ELLs and their qualities but less about how to directly and effectively teach this group of students.

### **Purpose of the Study**

The purpose of this study is to assess the effectiveness of teacher PD opportunities from the perspectives of mainstream teachers of ELLs. In conducting this study, PD is defined as those training activities such as collaboration with colleagues and workshops, college courses, or seminars which are planned and implemented by schools and school districts to support mainstream teachers in how best to meet the academic and literacy needs of adolescent ELLs. PD opportunities can be significantly enhanced by engaging mainstream teachers in the planning and implementation processes of PD, including getting their ideas and suggestions for the content, delivery, and outcome of these programs (Coady et al., 2015; Gandara et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2011; O'Neal et al., 2008). This can be accomplished by listening to the voices of mainstream teachers about their experiences with and perceptions of the quality of PD opportunities.

To accomplish this goal, I conducted a case study in which I described and assessed the role and impact of PD programs adopted by a selected middle school to support mainstream teachers in meeting the academic and linguistic needs of ELLs. More specifically, I interviewed a group of mainstream teachers to describe and assess, from their perspectives, the effect of these PD opportunities on their pedagogical content knowledge, skills, beliefs, and attitudes pertaining to the teaching of adolescent ELLs in mainstream classrooms.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

There are different theories on teacher education, but this study on the perceptions of mainstream teachers of the effectiveness of PD activities in enhancing their teaching of ELLs is best situated within social constructivist theory and the theory of adult learning. Beck and Kosnik (2006) state that a social constructivist theory of teaching and learning is postulated on an epistemology that suggests "the primary purpose of knowledge is to help learners function in the world, not to describe universal reality" (p. 10). According to the social constructivist theory of learning, therefore, knowledge is constructed from lived experiences and social interactions between people in social or educational settings (Palincsar, 1998).

Through the construction of new knowledge, learners assimilate information into previously held cognitive structures as well as make necessary changes in those structures. Further, during the process of knowledge acquisition, and for new data to be meaningful, it is not just simply acquired, but it needs to be truly constructed and assembled by the learner. The latter approach of knowledge construction represents a major transformation from the traditional model of teacher education programs which "operate in a system of isolated and fragmented courses, passing on knowledge about teaching to frequently passive students" (Short, 1993, p. 156).

Constructivism, therefore, may offer a lens through which teachers develop their perceptions based on their own PD experiences that are influenced by prior knowledge and skills. Consequently, teachers' perceptions can be refined or changed by both personal transformation or by participating in a particular experience such as PD

programs. Through participating in PD activities and opportunities, learners will engage in some type of questioning and reflection about their experiences and will eventually interpret and construct new knowledge and skills that they can implement in their future teaching strategies and practices.

In effect, the social constructivist theory assumes learners make sense of new information by linking it to what they already know and hopefully integrating it into previous knowledge and skills. By participating in PD activities, learners, or mainstream teachers in this study, have ample time and variety of occasions to receive, analyze, and construct new information and hopefully develop a new understanding of the information through their own personal reflections and experiences. This actually explains how participating mainstream teachers in PD activities construct, interpret, and integrate their personal reality with their perceptions of what they have learned and experienced in those PD opportunities.

During actual PD activity processes, teachers develop new understandings and perceptions with regards to their teaching strategies and practices through learning from and interacting with teacher educators, PD instructors, and peers. Equally important, PD participants have an opportunity to gain new knowledge and skills by interacting in a very productive and meaningful way with the content presented in the PD activity and by collaborating with others (e.g., their peers), who bring in rich teaching experiences and pedagogical content knowledge and skills in the subject covered by the underlying PD. Through collaboration, teachers may construct new knowledge based on their experiences and those of others about how to enhance teaching practices of ELLs.

By applying a social constructivism perspective, I sought to learn from individual experiences and perceptions to both understand the reality of PD opportunities and explain how these PD experiences can be enhanced to meet the ultimate goal of improving the teaching strategies and practices of teachers of ELLs. Research findings greatly suggest that PD experiences in which teachers are engaged need to be more active, collaborative, flexible, personalized, relevant, and socially constructed to meet the teaching needs of today's teachers of ELLs (Stewart, 2014). Therefore, this study utilized open-ended questions as a vital element of qualitative research to construct meaning by listening to the voices of mainstream teachers and by attempting to understand their lived experiences regarding their participation and perceptions of PD opportunities.

Effective and sustained PD can be also viewed and understood within the theory of adult learning. Adult learning incorporates principles that assume that unlike the teaching of children, adult learners are expected to be self-directed and potentially ready to learn, as they are driven by the fact that they have an instructional deficiency. Also, adult learners, by default, tend to strive for direct and immediate application of the new skills and knowledge they have acquired (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

Learning can be described as a continuous and interactive process, and adult learners can build new knowledge and skills by refining or rejecting their prior knowledge. In this process, learners (in this case mainstream teachers) already have their own beliefs, knowledge, and skills about how to make sense of their reality of teaching ELLs (Loucks-Horsley et al., 2003). Consequently, PD introduces these teachers to a new reality, or understanding of teaching practices and knowledge that they may use to make

connections with their prior knowledge, allowing them to eventually integrate and implement what they have learned in their mainstream classroom practices (Risko et al., 2008).

Adult learning, additionally, is largely driven by individual, personal factors, which include but are not limited to teacher beliefs, attitudes, perceptions, and school and district culture (Guskey, 2000; Loucks-Horsley et al., 2003). In an education program of adult learners, a transaction process between the learners and the teacher takes place through the learners' active participation in the identification of their learning needs and the planning of how these needs will be met (Knowles, 1980). Teachers who gain maximum outcomes from PD are those who "monitor their own ideas, and thought processes, compare and contrast them with those of others, and provide reasons why they accept one point of view over another" (Loucks-Horsley et al., 2003, p. 35).

School contexts greatly affect the learning outcomes that can be gained during site-based PD, and formal school leadership, and schools' cultures and norms greatly influence how mainstream teachers (as learners) collaborate and interact with each other. Further, research findings significantly indicate that formal school leaders play critical roles in promoting positive and effective PD, through promotion of culture and norms, which could largely contribute to the improvement of instructional practices of ELLs (Gallucci et al., 2010).

Given the vital role of mainstream teachers in closing achievement discrepancies exhibited between ELLs and non-ELLs, it is equally important to simultaneously close the gap in teacher education. Effective teacher training programs are expected to have a

significant impact with varying degrees on teachers in terms of changing their pedagogical knowledge, skills, attitudes, and perceptions towards the teaching of ELLs, which, subsequently enhances their instructional strategies and practices. Since mainstream teachers of ELLs need to improve their pedagogical content knowledge, skills, attitudes, and perceptions towards the teaching of ELLs, they should receive training on how best to teach ELLs, both within formal education and in-service settings.

In the examination of training opportunities, however, mainstream teachers may have different experiences with such PD, which may enrich intended benefits of these programs (Loucks-Horsley et al., 2003). Some teachers may change their negative attitudes and perceptions about the teaching of ELLs by engaging in PD programs. It is this aspect of the relationship between PD opportunities and their effect on mainstream teachers of ELLs that this study aims to tackle. In effect, a new approach to teacher PD is emerging in K-12 education, prompting a paradigm shift from the traditional model of teacher PD to a more progressive model of PD that takes into account the diversity of the K-12 student population by meeting the learning needs of ELLs within all student groups.

## **Research Questions**

The following research questions guided this study of the PD opportunities available for mainstream teachers of ELLs:

1. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of PD opportunities on their perceptions and attitudes regarding teaching ELLs?

2. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of PD opportunities on the degree to which their pedagogical content knowledge and skills support the academic and literacy needs of ELLs?

#### **Significance of the Study**

In order to elevate the achievement of ELLs, mainstream teachers require the support and commitment of school leaders and school districts in areas related to foundational linguistic knowledge and skills specific to the teaching of ELLs (Coady et al., 2015; Kibler & Roman, 2013). This also includes introducing PD opportunities related to cultural awareness, attitudes, and beliefs. To bridge the gap in mainstream teachers' capacity to help educate ELLs, new and creative ways to improve the effectiveness of PD should be considered.

Additional research in this endeavor is necessary to better understand the most effective ways to positively change mainstream teachers' attitudes towards teaching ELLs, address challenges teachers are facing in implementing what they learn in PD, and identify innovative solutions to improve PD to better support teachers of ELLs in improving their knowledge and skills about teaching. Teacher preparation and PD opportunities could be a solution to not only address the problem of teacher quality in the US, but also to solve the problem of shortage in trained teachers who can work with ELLs (Short, 2013).

During my work as an ESL teacher and as a graduate student, I have conducted preliminary research about struggling readers in middle and high schools, which involved visiting a number of secondary schools and meeting with reading specialists and ESL

teachers. Within these visits and conversations, I noticed that there is a knowledge gap between ESL and mainstream teachers on how best to deal with and teach ELLs.

Consistent with prior research findings (Baecher, 2012; Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015) and through my initial class observations, and consideration of feedback from ESL teachers, I noticed that mainstream teachers in middle and high schools are facing major pedagogical and PD challenges which may hinder their abilities to better identify and support struggling readers—most of whom are classified as ELLs.

To acquire more insight into how effective PD programs are in those schools that have an ELL population, I conducted this case study about one specific middle school. In this study, I interviewed a group of mainstream teachers to listen to their experiences and concerns about PD programs offered by the selected school, with emphasis on how effective these programs are in supporting them in meeting the learning needs of ELLs. This study contributes to the extant literature on PD for mainstream teachers of ELLs by focusing on the experiences and perception of mainstream teachers about the PD opportunities in which they have been engaged.

I utilized the feedback of mainstream teachers to evaluate the degree of effectiveness of these PD opportunities in developing the pedagogical knowledge and skills of mainstream teachers to adequately integrate and teach the academic literacy with content knowledge and skills to the targeted ELL population. I measured effectiveness of PD in this setting by analyzing responses of mainstream teachers to questions about the effects of PD on their knowledge, attitudes and perceptions of ELLs, and improvement in instructional strategies and practices in mainstream classrooms. Additionally, by listening

to the voices of mainstream teachers of ELLs, this research helps to identify areas of continuous learning needs in PD.

#### **Definition of Terms**

For conducting this study, the following terms describe and define the key vocabulary used in educational and research settings.

**Collaboration**. Within group dynamics, collaboration refers to a group of people such as teachers sharing common attributes and interest and working together systematically and interdependently to improve results (Haberman, 2004).

**Content area teachers**. Content area teachers are those who teach core academic subjects in K-12 schools such as science, mathematics, language arts, and social sciences.

Content-based instruction. Content-based instruction (CBI) focuses on the integration of language and content instruction, ranging from content-driven approaches (e.g., immersion, partial immersion, sheltered subject-area courses) to language-driven approaches that focus on the development of language through the content instruction (Pawan & Ortloff, 2011; Snow et al., 1989; Stoller, 2004).

English language learners. The term English language learner (ELL) has been recently and widely used to refer to a student who has limited English language proficiency, especially in terms of reading and writing, and is working toward developing proficiency. The term ELL, to a large extent, replaces the old description of Limited-English proficient (LEP), as an effort to switch schools' efforts and focus on "learning" as opposed to a focus on "limitation" (U. S. Department of Education, 2017). For the

sake of this study, ELLs are defined as those who have already completed their required ESL program and have joined mainstream classrooms.

Professional development experiences. Professional development experiences refer to those professional experiences that help teachers to grow in pedagogical knowledge and skills, therefore making them more valuable and productive teachers, and in turn, allowing them to be in a better position to meet the learning needs of their ELLs.

**Mainstream classrooms**. Mainstream classrooms are classrooms where content area teachers serve ELLs simultaneously with general education students.

Mainstream teachers. Mainstream teachers are classroom teachers who provide educational services to all students, including those students with special needs such as ELLs or special education, in a regular classroom setting. Teachers in mainstream classrooms are also referred to as content area teachers.

**Professional development**. It is learning to earn or maintain professional credentials such as academic degrees to formal coursework, attending conferences, and informal learning opportunities situated in practice. It has been described as intensive and collaborative, ideally incorporating an evaluative stage.

Pedagogical content knowledge. Possessing pedagogical content knowledge (PCK) is viewed as a teacher's ability to approximately organize information of knowledge, by blending content and pedagogy so that students are able to assimilate and learn the content (Bunch, 2013). Within the learning environment, PCK is knowing those structures within a content field that help to confer some appropriate level of understanding to advance students' understanding of a subject.

**Social constructivist theory**. It refers to the theory of knowledge in sociology and communication that examines the development of jointly constructed understandings of the world that form the basis for shared assumptions about reality.

**Teacher attitudes**. Teacher attitudes refer to the opinions, attitudes, perceptions, and beliefs possessed by teachers in general, which could influence their teaching styles and interactions with students in the classroom (Reeves, 2006).

**Teacher perceptions**. Perception refers to the thoughts or mental images which teachers have about their professional activities and their students. Teachers' perceptions are shaped by their background knowledge and life experiences. Most importantly, these perceptions greatly influence their teaching and professional style as well as their behavior.

Teachers' professional development. Teachers' professional development can be defined as "those processes and activities designed to enhance the professional knowledge, skills, and attitude of educators so that they might, in turn, improve the learning of students" (Guskey, 2000, p. 16). Simply put, PD is a comprehensive, sustained, and intense approach to improving learners' effectiveness in increasing student achievement (Hirsh, 2009).

**Theory of adult learning**. The theory of adult learning provides insights on the ways in which learners change over time, while proposing strategies to capitalize on the strengths of adult learners (Weimer, 2002).

#### **Summary**

For those who are identified as adolescent ELLs, further investigation is warranted towards a focus on the continuous and growing enrollment of ELLs and their low academic and literacy performance, especially as these students come from different cultural and educational backgrounds (Rubinstein-Avila, 2004). This section presented a background on the issue related to the teaching of ELLs, including their noticeable growing number within the K-12 school system and the observed achievement gap among ELLs as compared to their native peers. The statement of the problem to be investigated in this study was also identified, followed by specifying the purpose of the study, research questions, significance of the study, definition of terms, and organization of the study.

## **Organization of the Dissertation**

This study is organized into five chapters: introduction, literature Review, methodology, results, and discussion. The introduction, chapter 1, includes background of the investigated problem, statement of the problem, purpose of the study, significance of the study, definition of key terms used in the literature, and the study's limitations. Chapter 2 provides a comprehensive literature review pertaining to the problem of how best to support mainstream teachers to teach ELLs. Chapter 3 identifies the methodology adopted in this study. More specifically, this section of the study outlines the participant selection, data collection, and data analysis procedures. The main findings of the study are presented and discussed in Chapter 4. Finally, Chapter 5 concludes the study with

some analysis and discussion of the results, and their implications for practice, educational policies, teacher education, PD, and research.

#### **Chapter Two**

The number of ELLs continues to increase, and currently, more than 5 million (10%) of the US student population consists of these students. Yet, based upon the body of research dedicated to increasing the effectiveness of the teaching for ELLs, educational efforts at the federal, state and local levels remain unsatisfactory. Data reveal that the educational performance of ELLs continues to decline, and the achievement gap between ELLs and native-speaking students widens (Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013; Yoon, 2008). The extant research on the academic performance of ELLs provides ample evidence about observed achievement gaps between native-speaking students and ELLs (Goldenberg, 2011; Lee & Buxton, 2013; Lucas et al., 2008; Kibler & Roman, 2013).

ELLs are best defined as those students whose native language is one other than English, and who are learning English as a second language (Escamilla, 2007; Hamman & Reeves, 2013). It is evident in the United States, however, that ELLs are a heterogeneous group of students, representing more than 400 different cultural, linguistic, and socio-economic backgrounds, with varying levels of English proficiency, educational knowledge, and learning skills (Goldenberg, 2011). Educational and cultural background is a key factor that significantly contributes to their potential educational performance. Some ELLs have relatively sound and competitive educational and economic backgrounds, while others have experienced inferior and disrupted educational and economic circumstances.

Even after completing their required ESL programs and joining mainstream classes, a great number of adolescent EL students may still experience academic and literacy difficulties (Calderon et al., 2011). In fact, today's adolescent ELLs' difficulties with reading and writing may have begun early in their elementary school years, and for most EL students, these literacy problems were not adequately addressed. This has resulted in many EL students either dropping out early from school or being unable to graduate from high school (Snow & Biancarosa, 2003). Other adverse effects of ELL's poor literacy skills are likely linked to future challenges in colleges and/or joining the labor market (Batalova et al., 2007; Snow & Biancarosa, 2003).

A majority of the documented ELLs were born in the United States (Capps et al., 2005), and are therefore broadly identified as long-term English learners (LTEL). This alarming phenomenon of LTEL is clearly a testimony of the failure of schools to academically and linguistically serve this population. To resolve this issue and to be effective in teaching ELLs such as LTELs, schools need to go beyond just meeting the learning needs of students themselves, and work toward understanding the social and cultural factors involved in their learning process (Bainbridge & Macy, 2008; Escamilla, 2007; Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015).

Statistics demonstrate that on average, ELLs' academic achievement is extremely low as compared to non-ELLs. According to the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) (2015), fourth-grade ELLs, for example, scored 37 points below non-ELLs in reading, and 45 points below non-ELLs in math. The achievement gaps for ELL eighth graders were even greater, as their scores were below

the scores of non-ELLs by 49 points in reading and 43 points in math. The actual gap between fourth-grade ELLs and non-ELLs in terms of the percentage of Below Basic category on NAEP was 37 points for reading and 25 in math. The achievement gaps for ELL eighth graders between the two groups was 47 in reading and 40 in math. In another performance measure, the number of ELLs who do not graduate from high school is extremely higher than that of native English speakers (Kohler & Lazarin, 2007). This is especially true for ELLs, as they possess common attributes and challenges that hinder their ability to perform well academically, with the dual challenge of attempting to advance in academics while still learning the instructional language of English. EL students' struggle to adequately read and write, which contributes significantly to the achievement gap between them and non-ELLs within the public-school system (Batalova et al., 2007; Snow et al., 1998).

The national achievement gap between ELLs and non-ELLs will eventually lead to a global achievement gap between US students and other international students, especially those from developed countries, which is manifested by the latest performance scores of US students as compared to those of other international students (OECD, 2016). The increase in this global achievement gap would eventually lead to major and damaging effects on the economic competitiveness of the US labor market. Yet, the gap between the two groups of students (ELLs vs. non-ELLs) remains unresolved, and it is unlikely to close in the near future due to the limited interest, attention, commitment, and investment by policy makers, school districts, and teacher educators to find high-quality and effective ways to support and improve the learning needs of ELLs (Calderon et al.,

2011). Perhaps mainstream teachers can, if prepared and properly trained appropriately, make significant improvement in ELLs' literacy and academic achievement (Knight & Wiseman, 2006).

#### **Adult Learning Theory and the Social Constructivist Theory**

According to the adult learning theory, when adults like teachers are engaged in any type of learning such as PD, it is assumed that they are self-directed learners, they bring a wealth of experience to the educational setting, they enter educational settings ready to learn, they are problem-centered in their learning, and they are best motivated by internal factors (Knowles, 1984). In addition, Knowles (1984) presented four central principles that explain how to best develop training for adult learners: (a) as they are engaged in a learning experience, adults desire to be involved in how their training is planned, delivered, and executed. In the process, they want to control what, when, and how they learn; (b) adults gain more when they can pull past experiences into the learning process by drawing on what they have previously known to add greater context to their learning; (c) as opposed to rely on memorizing facts and information, adult learners need to solve problems and use reasoning to better gain the new knowledge and skills they are presented; (d) adults want to know how to apply new information in their workplace, meaning what they are learning needs to be applicable to their situations and be implemented immediately.

In addition, Knowles (1984) eloquently explained the process of learning for adults occurs in real life situations (e.g., PD), which is uniquely different from the process of learning for children. The process learning for adults needs to be applied with

the consideration of the underlying assumptions of adult learning. There are seven steps to the learning process for adult learning: (a) creating a cooperative learning climate; (b) planning goals mutually; (c) diagnosing learner needs and interests; (d) helping learners to formulate learning objectives based on their needs and individual interests; (e) designing sequential activities to achieve these objectives; (f) carrying out the design to meet objectives with selected methods, materials, and resources; and (g) evaluating the quality of the learning experience for the learner that includes reassessing needs for continued learning.

#### **Mainstream Teachers of ELLs**

The increasing and somewhat alarming trend in the number of ELLs places great responsibility on secondary subject area teachers and educational stakeholders (e.g., principals, coaches, teacher educators, developers, and researchers) to provide high quality instruction for ELLs. In particular, mainstream teachers are expected to have the interest, willingness, and pedagogical capabilities to accept and assume responsibilities to adequately serve the academic and linguistic needs of this group of students (NCELA, 2011; Yoon, 2008). Adding to the complexity of the problem of not satisfactorily meeting the academic needs of ELLs, there is a shortage of highly qualified ESL teachers, and it is estimated that on average, there is only one ESL teacher for every 37 EL students (Pawan & Ortloff, 2011). This shortage places more responsibility on mainstream teachers to support the learning needs of ELLs.

Unlike the teachers of only English-speaking students, mainstream teachers of ELLs are faced with the demand and challenge of not only supporting the academic

requirements in subject areas for ELLs, but to concurrently promote English language and literacy development for this group of students. It is not uncommon to find that mainstream teachers who specialize in areas such as history, math, or science utilize a specific set of instructional strategies, practices, and assessments (one size fits all), regardless of what types of students they have in their class literacy programs (Escamilla, 2007). The alternative is to adapt instructional practices that ensure the integration of language and content in order to meet the learning needs of ELLs.

#### Mainstream Teachers' Role and Responsibility in Teaching ELLs

A large body of research has found that mainstream teachers are not only unprepared to teach ELLs, but more importantly, they are unaware and less informed of the critical role they play in having an impact on supporting and meeting the learning needs of ELLs (August et al., 2010; Ballantyne et al., 2008; Bunch, 2013; Coady et al., 2015; Molle, 2013; Téllez & Waxman, 2006). Furthermore, studies in this area reveal that secondary mainstream teachers may not be attentive to their ELLs' learning needs over students' academic careers. This occurs as many ELLs have been identified as academically and linguistically struggling students throughout their K-12 school grades due to the fact that they repeatedly did not achieve required reading level benchmarks in the standardized tests administered to them (Ballantyne et al., 2008).

It is widely accepted that closing the achievement gap between ELLs and non-ELLs requires closing similar gaps in teacher preparation programs and the ongoing and sustained PD programs that are used to support mainstream teachers to adequately teach ELLs (Calderon et al., 2011). To help support the academic and literacy demands of this specialized group of students, mainstream teachers need to assume responsibility for their students' instructional needs, while developing foundational understandings of the cultural and social knowledge of ELLs and building adequate pedagogical capacities to promote their own learning towards teaching ELLs.

## Pedagogical Content Knowledge of Mainstream Teachers of ELLs

The capacity of teachers to educate ELLs has not been adequately addressed in most states, despite the issuance of educational policies such as the Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA) (previously the No Child Left Behind (NCLB)) and the Common Core State Standards (CCSS) that address issues of student diversity and the need to help prepare teachers to teach ELLs (Coady et al., 2015). In fact, only a few states (e.g., Arizona, California, Florida, and Texas) require all general education teachers to have some training on how to teach ELLs, separate from re-certification of licensure (Peter et al., 2012). Still, it is widely accepted that most mainstream teachers are struggling to discover and learn how best to teach ELLs, with most of them being unaware of the underlying learning needs of this population of students (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; Lee & Buxton, 2013; Lucas et al., 2008).

In contrast to mainstream teachers, ESL and bilingual teachers are perceived as being more aware of their role and understanding of the learning needs of ELLs; however, it can be argued that this group of teachers remains somewhat unprepared to effectively teach this group (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Lovette, 2013). Franco-Fuenmayor et al. (2015) examined emerging issues related to ELL et al.s teaching and learning, including teachers' knowledge of instructional practices for ELLs, research on

bilingual programs, research-based instructional strategies, and knowledge related to second-language development. Based on a sample of 225 bilingual/ESL teachers in a large suburban school district in Texas, Franco-Fuenmayor and her colleagues (2015) reported that most teachers were not properly informed and trained in areas pertaining to bilingual education and knowledge related to second-language development. The findings of the study also revealed that bilingual/ESL teachers were not being provided with information about research on bilingual education and best practices that should be utilized to teach culturally and linguistically diverse students.

While there is strong evidence suggesting that secondary mainstream teachers are less prepared to deal with and help adolescent ELLs to overcome their academic problem, there is still limited effort reflected in educational reforms and policies to resolve this issue (Hamann & Reeves, 2013; Leko & Mundy, 2012; Paris and Block, 2007). Hamann and Reeves (2013) concluded that middle and high school teachers of identified ELLs were substantially less prepared for supporting the academic and literacy needs of ELLs than their elementary peers. Based on the answers of 371 state and local secondary literacy teachers, 27 directors or coordinators of adolescent reading programs, 22 district-based supervisors of literacy or language instruction, and 21 professors of literacy education, master's level teachers of reading or English, or site-based administrators, Paris and Block (2007) concluded it is imperative for all secondary teachers to consider literacy as an integral part of their daily and routine instructions.

Leko and Mundy (2012) examined three secondary special education teachers' implementation of reading knowledge and strategies acquired during a two-year

preparation program. The results of the study indicated that teachers' instructional decisions were driven by contextual factors, including school-adopted curriculum and students' abilities and needs. Similarly, Janzen (2007) found that individual learners and teachers themselves frame the instruction of secondary teachers. This argument can be applied to the case of teaching literacy in content area classrooms to EL students who have varying levels of English proficiency and, as such, require more specialized and differentiated instruction than non-ELLs (Watkins & Lindahl, 2010).

#### PD of Mainstream Teachers of ELLs

Issued in 2001, the NCLB law was considered a major change in school reforms that focus on the issue of teaching ELLs (U.S. Department of Education (2001). NCLB (2001) required that each State create an accountability plan that included implementation of academic and performance standards for all students. States were also required to show that ELLs were progressing in their proficiency of the English language by meeting annual measurable achievement objectives (U.S. Department of Education, 2001). By definition, the NCLB law placed the responsibility to effectively teach ELLs on each individual state. On December 10, 2015, ESSA was established to replace NCLB. To measure the progress made by EL students, a report called "Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP)" was generated every year, which includes a summary of the outcomes of standardized tests administered within school districts. As a result of the issuance of the NCLB (2001) and ESSA (2015) coupled with CCSS (2010), schools in each state began to enroll ELLs from the time they first arrived into mainstream classes along with non-ELLs. These educational requirements placed more responsibility on the part of

mainstream teachers to properly serve ELLs but fell short in addressing and enforcing teacher training on how to properly teach EL students.

While federal policies such as NCLB (2001) and the CCSS (2010) have generally addressed the academic needs of ELLs, many scholars and researchers argue that such policies do not adequately address mainstream teachers' PD and commitment to quality native-language instruction (Gebhard, 2010). Hawkins (2004) contended that educational policies set at the federal, state, and local levels are being developed without the participation and contribution of educational researchers and professionals. This, in turn, adds to the complexity of having more teachers lacking sufficient and necessary preparatory or professional knowledge for how to best serve ELLs' learning needs. Even professional programs that are developed and implemented at the state and district levels are considered ineffective in supporting mainstream teachers in instructing ELLs (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015).

As more ELLs are enrolling in mainstream classrooms in schools across the United States, especially in the states of Arizona, California, Florida, and Texas (both in rural and suburban schools), all teachers are required by federal and local educational mandates to support and meet the learning needs of ELLs to achieve academic success. Under NCLB, for example, schools could not make AYP unless all student subgroups, including ELLs, met targeted progress benchmarks. However, limited support and incentives were provided for teachers to professionally build the knowledge and skills they needed to adequately enable them to serve the academic needs of the growing population of ELLs (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; Peter et al., 2012).

Despite the issuance of federal, state, and local laws, and funding allocated to programs targeting teaching ELLs, the educational outcomes for ELLs has a limited outlook in terms of success (Hawkins, 2009). Poor performance, on the part of ELLs, has motivated researchers to call for immediate intervention and correction on the part of policy makers, school districts, and teacher educators. This urgent demand to change how ELLs are viewed and taught by mainstream teachers is highly warranted, given the increasingly observed growth in numbers of ELLs in US classrooms. There is a high cost to be paid for having low performing ELLs in all grade levels, who are more likely to drop out of school, and turn into "unproductive citizens" through eventual incarceration or unemployment (Lovette, 2013).

#### Needs for PD for Mainstream Teachers

Ample research evidence, supported by the continuous and growing number of low performing ELLs, suggests that a primary solution to the problem of ELLs may be to invest in PD programs for mainstream teachers (Coady et al., 2015). PD programs should focus on closing the gap between the foundational knowledge, skills and dispositions needed by mainstream teachers to effectively educate ELLs. Teachers can both build upon and continuously develop their teaching capacities in general, but more importantly, to meet the academic literacy needs of the growing student population of ELLs. This may occur through formal college programs in teacher preparation and continuing education, certification and licensure programs, and those collegial environments built upon collaboration and coaching with continuous PD opportunities.

With the growing number of ELLs, coupled with their low literacy and academic performance as compared to their native speaker peers, it is widely recommended that mainstream teachers be more informed and educated about how to teach reading to ELLs. School districts provide different types of PD, including workshops, online training, cycles of peer observation and feedback, school visitations, research inquiry and action research, and university courses, all of which are utilized to train in-service teachers in improving their instructional practices. In addition, teachers may voluntarily engage in PD experiences, or may be required to do so through district or state-level mandates. There is no consensus, however, on what type of PD is best for teachers and whether or not to require and mandate that teachers participate in PD or to provide it as an option for teachers to decide upon (or a combination of both). It is critical, therefore, to create an open dialogue with mainstream teachers to find effective ways to train them and positively change their attitudes and beliefs when working with ELLs.

Concurring with many researchers, Tran (2014) asserts that the purpose of PD is to continuously improve the knowledge and skills of mainstream teachers. However, there continues to be areas of major disagreement and heated debate at the policy and research levels concerning the terms of its status, the extent and timelines of training opportunities, the degrees of its effectiveness, the factors affecting its use (including cost), and the possible and relevant ways to improve it. In a mixed method based study involving 144 PK-12 teachers with five or fewer years of teaching experience in two local school districts in central Texas, Tran (2014) found that PD played a major role in helping and supporting teachers to improve their self-efficacy. In this study, self-efficacy

was related to the following: more utilization of inquiry-based practices, higher teacher confidence levels, positive long-term teaching and learning behaviors, more use of differentiated instruction, and more use of real-life examples to enhance learning. Through the utilization of interviews with selected groups of teachers and classroom observations, Tran (2014) conducted five case studies to acquire insights into the reflections of teachers on their experiences in relation to PD. The analysis of these five cases revealed that PD led to pedagogical changes which not only increased teachers' content knowledge base, but also promoted positive thoughts, attitudes, and actions towards ELLs' learning and academic achievement.

Researchers have also reported the finding that teachers who instruct in a bilingual education system have significantly better knowledge about how best to teach ELLs than those teachers who support ESL programs only (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015). This finding could be explained by the degree of quality and quantity of preservice education that bilingual teachers have prior to working with ELLs. This research indicated it is important for bilingual/ESL teachers to be knowledgeable about effective research-based instruction for ELLs, as well as be highly competent in implementing best practices for ELLs, including first- and second-language acquisition, and effective organization and management of instruction (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Gandara et al., 2005). This finding indicated that the lack of preparation on the part of ESL/bilingual teachers (to effectively work with ELLs) validates that mainstream teachers are more likely to face on-going problems as to how to better meet ELLs' academic and social needs.

#### Current issues in PD for Mainstream Teachers of ELLs

There are various factors which clearly affect the degree to which PD advances mainstream teachers' knowledge and skills in improving the teaching of ELLs. These factors include: federal, state, and local policies related to the teaching and assessment requirements (Kibler & Roman, 2013); funding available to support PD (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016); bilingual and mainstream teachers' linguistic, social, and academic knowledge and skills (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015); the beliefs, attitudes, desires and interests of mainstream teachers to engage in specialized PD programs aimed toward developing their knowledge and skills about how best to teach ELLs (Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013); and the degree of commitment, support, and involvement of school districts and school leaders (Molle, 2013).

Urmston and Pennington (2008) and Gandara et al. (2005) explained that mainstream teachers were not able to adopt newly learned strategies and practices in their PD due to the constraints and difficulties they were facing, including issues with wide variability in academic and English needs and levels, teacher-parent communication, large class sizes, numerous responsibilities, unmotivated students, and pressures to prepare students for required tests. The findings of these studies highlighted a common research finding among educators that teacher-parent communication is an issue, especially for maintaining professional interactions between schools and students' families in relation to ELLs and their learning (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016).

Many schools across the States have been using one or more models of teaching ELLs, including: Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol (SIOP), Cognitive Academic

Language Learning Approach (CALLA), Quality English and Science Teaching (QuEST), and Guided Language Acquisition Design (GLAD), but the extent of usage and effectiveness of these methods of teaching, however, is not clear (Short et al., 2012). This finding can be explained in part by the reality that not all schools are required by laws or mandates to implement such programs. Also, it is worthwhile to notice that there may be no incentives or sufficient budgets provided for schools to implement certain research-based or instructional models to effectively teach ELLs. In essence, it is left to the discretion of school and division-level administrators, and in certain cases for ESL/mainstream teachers, to determine whether to adopt such programs and to what extent they will implement them in their classrooms (Daniel & Conlin, 2015). If the teachers are well-educated and trained in theories about effective practice, they may be able to design their own models—but that is often not the case.

Research findings revealed that only about 25% of mainstream teachers have reported enrolling in PD specific to the teaching of ELLs (Ballantyne et al., 2008), which suggests the need to openly discuss and resolve the problem of teaching and learning of ELLs at the policy, research, and school levels. Research on teacher preparation for ELLs largely focuses on either practicing teachers without reference to their professional preparation, or teachers' attitudes towards ELLs (Kibler & Roman, 2013). By conducting a research synthesis that examined 19 studies which addressed the issue of what types of PD were used for in-service teachers who work with ELLs, Knight and Wiseman (2006) found there was little guidance on how to provide teachers with the necessary knowledge and skills needed to be successful in effectively teaching ELLs. Knight and Wiseman

(2006) also reported that the studies identified in the research synthesis did not provide any evidence on the impact of the various PD activities on teachers' classroom behavior or students' learning.

In most teacher education programs, the issue of student diversity has not been substantially integrated and discussed in the learning context of K-12 education (Berg & Huang, 2015; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Goldenberg, 2011; Kibler & Roman, 2013; Molle, 2013). It is evident that there is a mismatch between what PD communicates and instructs, versus realities and demands of classroom environments and contexts. This is especially relevant to the degree of effectiveness of PD, and the impact of PD on the learning and performance of ELLs. In a study involving interviews and classroom observations of 23 K-12 teachers in one urban and three rural school districts, Berg and Huang (2015) reported that teachers who taught in culturally and linguistically diverse settings felt they learned little from typical teacher preparation opportunities. The researchers concluded these opportunities did not address the academic needs and issues pertaining to the teaching of ELLs.

Concurring with many researchers, Ballantyne et al. (2008) and Calderon (2009) reported most staff development programs do not significantly contribute to the level of instructional quality needed to effectively educate ELLs. By surveying 5,300 educators in California, Gandara et al. (2005) found most teachers had little or no PD designed to support them in teaching ELLs, with only 43% of teachers (who instructed a large percentage of ELLs) indicating they received only one or no in-service training which focused on the teaching of ELLs. Similarly, Cervone (2010) reported that out of four

school districts in Connecticut, 70% of the 356 surveyed teachers, who worked with ELLs in mainstream classrooms, did not feel adequately prepared to work with ELLs, and 64% of teachers had not received any specialized PD. Cervone (2010) also found that the degree of quality of training provided to teachers varied from one school to another, and from one PD program to another.

Based on the review and analysis of large-scale national studies on PD, Blank and de las Alas (2009) concluded that most PD programs designed for mainstream teachers are not well developed to effectively meet the key characteristics of effectiveness. They measured effectiveness of PD programs by a number of attributes, which include but were not limited to the following: a content focus, collective participation in designing and implementing PD programs, an alignment to State standards, and sufficient time (Blank and de las Alas, 2009). Penuel et al. (2011) contributed significantly to the literature by highlighting the importance of focusing on the effectiveness of PD targeting teachers. They provide strong evidence that PD can be more effective when factors such as program duration and proximity to practices and teachers' professional communities are considered. Their research utilizes a convincing theoretical framework based on the constructs of the role of context in teacher learning as a result of in-service PD.

# Mainstream Teachers of ELLs' Perceptions and Attitudes of PD

Researchers on the issue of effective PD recommend that all types of PD activities should be utilized to educate mainstream teachers to view content of PD not only from their own perspectives, but most importantly from the perspectives of their students, especially ELLs. PD allows for first-hand experiences with improving and integrating

new teaching practices for ELLs through intensive interaction and discussions about the subject at hand, and by actively engaging in meaningful dialogue with colleagues.

It is well established in the literature that PD is greatly promoted and practiced throughout schools and districts, with the intention to enhance instructional practices for all students, including ELLs (Birman et al., 2000; Darling-Hammond, 1997). While engaging in continuous and effective PD, teachers have the opportunity to provide their input, while being engaged in critical reflection through their involvement in meaningful collaboration and interactive discussion with designated PD instructors, teacher leaders, and/or coaches.

A recent survey that examined teachers' perspectives toward inclusion of ELLs in regular classes, found that lack of time and professional inadequacy were two important factors that greatly affected them in meeting the learning needs of their students, some of whom are ELLs (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016). The results of this study revealed there was no consensus among mainstream teachers, however, about the need to get additional training on how best to instruct ELLs. Some mainstream teachers reported lacking adequate special training to work with ELLs where others indicated that there is no special training required to work with this group of students (Darling-Hammond et al., 2002; Mueller et al., 2006). In the latter, mainstream teachers erroneously perceived their students as equal in all aspects, including their English language proficiency.

By surveying 3,000 novice in-service teachers, Darling-Hammond et al. (2002) concluded that mainstream teachers regard their PD programs for teaching ELLs as inadequate. This finding is further supported by O'Brien (2011) and Rice Doran (2014),

who reported that teachers perceive all types of PD, especially those they receive in colleges or through school districts, as unsatisfactory. However, teachers in these studies indicated that they greatly benefit from on-site-based support provided by dedicated ELL educators. In another study conducted by O'Neal et al. (2008), it was reported that only 25% of mainstream teachers felt they were prepared to teach ELLs. However, teachers revealed that they were willing and eager to participate in PD regarding ELLs.

There are perceptions which some mainstream teachers have about ELLs, such as not feeling responsible for teaching ELLs in a manner which differentiates for their English learning needs, or disregarding the literacy differences between ELLs and non-ELLs. This may be further explained by the notion that those who are identified as long-term English learners (LTELs) often possess good conversational skills but lack academic language and literacy skills. This may lead some teachers to misperceive that their EL students' language abilities are commensurate with other native-English speakers in a class. Hansen-Thomas et al. (2016) concluded this assumption on the part of some mainstream teachers, which disregards the differences in their students' English language proficiency, could have major negative implications for the academic performance of ELLs. These misconceptions would likely lead to an increase in the achievement gap between ELLs and non-ELLs.

The research findings on the degree of preparation of mainstream teachers for teaching ELLs reveal that a majority of mainstream teachers feel unprepared to adequately teach the growing and demanding population of ELLs (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Gandara et al., 2005; Lovette, 2013). While it is essential to provide high

quality professional support to mainstream teachers to develop their pedagogical and sociocultural knowledge and skills to adequately teach ELLs, it is vitally important to pay close attention to teachers' commonly held beliefs about teaching ELLs in their classrooms. Teachers' perceptions of their capacity to teach ELLs significantly contributes to their overall beliefs and attitudes about instruction.

Research findings also demonstrate that teachers who feel that they are well prepared to teach ELLs are likely to hold positive attitudes and beliefs about their work, while teachers who think that they are ill-prepared are likely to possess negative attitudes and beliefs (Durgunoglu & Hughes, 2010). The same conclusion can be made about the direct relationship of the levels of teachers' preparation to teach ELLs and their pedagogical content knowledge and skills (Durgunoglu & Hughes, 2010). Concurring with many researchers on the positive effects of enhancing mainstream teachers' self-efficacy for teaching ELLs, Gandara et al. (2005) suggested that well- prepared mainstream teachers of ELLs have "a sense of self-confidence regarding their ability to teach EL students, a finding that echoes a broader body of research on teacher efficacy in general and its effect on student achievement" (p. 3).

Overall, research has revealed that secondary mainstream teachers are not equipped to assist struggling adolescent ELLs, suggesting the need to identify and propose areas of instructional improvement (Darling-Hammond & Richardson, 2009; Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015). Polat and Mahalingappa (2013) argued that public schools "have failed to serve this important student population (ELLs) adequately" (p. 3). While PD programs for teachers with adolescent struggling readers can be credited for a

marginal improvement in bridging the gap in literacy education (Baecher, 2012), there is still a need to reexamine present PD opportunities, at the levels of concerned policy makers and educators, in order to support mainstream teachers of ELLs to ensure their effectiveness.

## **Reforming PD for Mainstream Teachers of ELLs**

Teacher education in areas concerning the learning needs of ELLs is a multifaceted and complex process. Teaching ELLs requires that all mainstream teachers possess a high level of proficiency in knowledge and practices needed to promote and support the language development and academic achievement of their students (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015). In alignment with the CCSS and the forthcoming Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS), the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO, 2012) expects that ELLs "must simultaneously learn how to acquire enough of a second language to participate and learn in academic settings while gaining an understanding of the knowledge and skills in multiple disciplines through that second language" (p. ii). Unlike ESL teachers, mainstream teachers need to learn about integrating pedagogical language knowledge with the teaching of the core subject areas for which they are responsible. Without proper and effective PD, Calderon (2009) argued, it will be rather difficult to find teachers who possess and effectively use language, content knowledge, and skills domains, especially when working with ELLs.

Experiences related to PD are multidimensional, incorporating more than just provisions for teachers with a basic set of instructional strategies. Teachers may be able to deliver high quality instruction to linguistically diverse students, particularly ELLs,

when they are exposed to a complex set of experiences, beliefs, knowledge, and skills (Kibler & Roman, 2013; Lucas & Grinberg, 2008). Calderon et al. (2011) argued that enhancing the quality of instruction and teachers in terms of integrating and understanding the linguistic and socio-cultural aspects of ELLs would lead to both better instruction and educational outcome for ELLs. Based on the aforementioned research findings that have been presented thus far, there are a number of factors that need to be addressed in PD to ensure the success and effectiveness of such programs, while helping to prepare mainstream teachers in adequately meeting the learning needs of ELLs.

#### Changing Mainstream Teachers' Beliefs and Attitudes

A large body of the literature suggests that the best way to support and promote teachers of ELLs is to ensure the focus of PD programs is making positive changes in teachers' attitudes and beliefs, teachers' classroom practices, thus leading to an outcome of student achievement (Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013). Teachers' beliefs largely influence their pedagogical decision-making pertaining to curricular frameworks, instructional practices, and interaction with ELLs. Negative, and somewhat biased teachers' beliefs about teaching ELLs, will adversely influence how and what instructional practices are employed by mainstream teachers to educate these students. Consequently, the failure of mainstream teachers to adapt new and modified instructional strategies and practices will definitely lead to poor performance of ELLs as a result of the unjust denial of equal access to the rigorous education offered to non-ELLs (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; O'Brien, 2011; Urmston & Pennington, 2008). There are other factors that influence teachers' beliefs about the language development and academic

achievement of ELLs in mainstream classrooms, including: gender, sociocultural experience, bilingual education, teacher education, and in-service experience (Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013). For example, teachers who have rich, personal sociocultural experiences are more prepared to effectively support and work with ELLs.

In this direction, PD programs should be redesigned to ensure that teachers will be able to understand and possess knowledge of the cultural backgrounds of ELLs, PCK (including knowledge of accommodations and assessments which addresses the learning needs of ELLs), and the involvement and engagement of ELLs' families and communities in education. Research on PD supports the notion that all content teachers should regularly enroll in training programs designed to not only help them better understand their EL students' cultures and to how communicate with students and their families, but also gain specific skills in dealing with ELLs in the regular classroom (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016).

#### Interest and Engagement of Mainstream Teachers in PD

The interest and engagement of teachers who work with ELLs in the designing, conducting, and providing feedback about PD is proven to be both beneficial and productive as these teachers are considered to be the most influential change agents in the context of the teaching and learning of ELLs (Gandara et al., 2005; Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013; Yoon, 2008). There are certain realities that mainstream teachers face, such as their own self-interests and motivation to effectively work with ELLs, the realities of relatively large class sizes, and pressures to prepare students for standardized assessments. As these constraints could be anticipated ahead of planning and

implementing PD, it is rather important to consider their relation to and their impacts upon promoted practices during PD programs (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016).

Research results reveal that most teachers who work with EL students possess the desires and interests to increase their professional knowledge and skills to effectively work with these students (Cervone, 2010). Gandara et al. (2005) concluded that some teachers showed an interest in observing successful teachers and their practice, collaborating and planning with their colleagues, and building coaching relationships in an ongoing manner rather than a "one-shot" PD. Baecher (2012) and Farrell (2008) argued for using mainstream teachers' feedback in designing teacher PD programs. They contend that mainstream teachers should be invited to communicate their experiences with the personal, social, and psychological demands of working with ELLs, as these students struggle to adapt to the realities of their learning environment. Jiménez et al. (2015) explained a three-pronged framework to guide PD for teachers of ELLs. The proposed framework emphasized the need to prioritize teachers' dispositions toward ELLs, while examining their PCK and their ability to implement that knowledge.

Teachers should be engaged in providing feedback about how PD programs have or have not met their teaching needs and concerns. He, Prater, and Steed (2011) completed a needs assessment prior to conducting PD sessions for 75 teachers in a school district. The survey results revealed that most teachers rated themselves as average in regard to their competency in the areas of current trends in ESL instruction, the research and theories related to language learning, and relevant assessment issues. This research suggests PD modules should specifically address the needs of teachers who work with

linguistically diverse populations and within different types of bilingual/ESL programs (Coady et al., 2015; He et al., 2011). To increase the chances of improving the effectiveness of PD, researchers have offered that it is critical to conduct a needs assessment prior to developing PD, especially when teachers are working with linguistically diverse students and within different types of bilingual/ESL programs. This ensures that the PD may be customized to support mainstream teachers in meeting ELLs' learning needs. Additionally, teachers need more extensive and repeated field experiences and hands-on teaching experiences to develop solid understandings of literacy practices (Baecher, 2012).

### Closing Mainstream Teachers' Learning Gap about ELLs' Teaching

When the content of teacher preparation programs fails to connect with the real-world knowledge and skills that teachers of ELLs need to succeed on their teaching mission, a learning gap develops that cannot be closed (Coady et al., 2015). To support mainstream teachers of ELLs in enhancing their teaching practices, teacher educators and PD instructors/facilitators need to pay close attention to the realities faced by teachers of ELLs. By tapping into feedback from teachers of ELLs, as well as classroom observations, teacher educators should be better able to identify, understand, and resolve the challenges that teachers of ELLs are likely to encounter based on first-hand knowledge (Baecher, 2012; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016). While teaching ELLs, mainstream teachers face a multitude of issues, which include but are not limited to a lack of cultural understanding, a lack of being prepared to support students in learning English, and a lack of pedagogical strategies in teaching content area literacy (Coady et

al., 2015). These problems, in turn, create a learning gap between what mainstream teachers know and what they should know that can only be closed through the investment in and delivery of PD.

The extant research on the value of PD for teachers of ELLs suggests that there is a demand to consider new ways of how PD can be improved. As indicated in the previous section, traditional PD programs lack the integration of language, literacy, and subject matter that are considered essential in teaching ELLs, and they have failed to build mainstream teacher's capacity needed to teach ELLs (Howard & Aleman, 2008). Lucas (2011) stated that the predominant conclusion of the literature on the extent, status, and effectiveness of PD is that mainstream teachers should be involved in opportunities to acquire "special knowledge and skills" to best meet the learning needs of ELLs (p. 6). Additionally, Calderon (2009) contended that language and reading specialists as well as subject-area teachers have not adequately addressed language, literacy, and content needed to support and promote the learning of ELLs.

It has become imperative to engage mainstream teachers who teach ELLs in extensive specialized PD programs, with the sole purpose of raising their awareness and understanding of the learning needs of ELLs, as well as developing their PCK and skills specific to the teaching of ELLs in their classroom (Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013). Teachers should have sufficient knowledge in second language acquisition processes and applications of ESL methods and strategies. PD designed for this purpose should focus on the ability to teach the academic content and skills in English to students who are still in

the process of learning and mastering the English language from an academic perspective (Lucas et al. 2008).

### Instructional Strategies of Teaching ELLs in Mainstream Classrooms

When designing and implementing PD programs to support mainstream teachers to properly teach ELLs, schools and districts should ensure that such programs specifically address the need to incorporate literacy components into the learning of content specific material. Public school systems and researchers have made recommendations to examine and evaluate current programs, practices, and instruction provided to ELLs to ensure that the quality of learning provided to them matches the quality of learning given to English-speaking students (Molle, 2013). In many studies, researchers argued that the achievement gaps between ELLs and non-ELLs are largely due to the lack of instructional focus on the integration of language and content (Berg & Huang. 2015; Bunch, 2013; Calderon et al., 2011; Tellez & Waxman, 2006; Tran, 2014).

The extant literature on ELLs suggests that there is a critical need to assess currently employed PD programs and resources and determine which instructional strategies are more effective in meeting the academic needs of ELLs (Coady et al., 2015; Molle, 2013). There has been a growing interest and support for the use of advanced models of teaching ELLs that integrate the teaching of English and subject content instruction (Coady et al., 2015; Pawan & Ortloff, 2011; Snow et al., 1989). While it may seem natural to teach language to ELLs within the context of key main subject areas such as science and math, this approach contrasts with many existing instructional approaches

of teaching ELLs in which subject area content strategies are not utilized when teaching the English language to these students.

In comparison to the traditional model of teaching ELLs (e.g., separate classrooms for ELLs), more schools are recently adopting immersion (e.g., co-teaching) models to teach and integrate ELLs in the classrooms (Coady et al., 2015). These models of sheltered instruction provide better opportunities for mainstream teachers to be attentive to and supportive of the learning needs of ELLs through a collaborative process of working and cooperating with ESL and bilingual teachers as well as interacting and engaging with ELLs during their early phases of learning the English language (Pawan & Ortloff, 2011). However, many schools may be using "one size fits all" literacy programs that are not tailored to the specific needs of ELLs (Escamilla, 2007). In these contexts, the issue becomes whether all students should be taught and evaluated equally (regardless of their linguistic, cultural, academic, and social backgrounds), versus teachers differentiating instruction according to the types and academic needs of students targeted (e.g., ELLs).

Snow et al. (1989) explained that it is more effective to shift from teaching English language and literacy skills and strategies in isolation to teaching those within content-based instruction. The latter approach of instruction requires some degree of collaboration and sharing of responsibility between ESL and mainstream teachers for teaching ELLs. By collaborating with ESL teachers, it will be possible for content area teachers to gain access to knowledgeable support networks for instruction of these students. Stoller (2004) indicated there are several models that lend themselves to ELLs'

teacher preparation models, with an emphasis on the integration of language and content instruction or content-based instruction, ranging from content-driven approaches (e.g., immersion, partial immersion, sheltered subject-area courses) to language-driven approaches that focus on the development of language through content instruction.

Alternatively, Pawan and Ortloff (2011) described these models in terms of the level of responsibility assumed by ESL and mainstream teachers with respect to the teaching of ELLs. According to Pawan and Ortloff (2011), there were three shifts of responsibilities in content-based instruction, ranging from: (a) default responsibility by the language teacher, (b) sharing of the responsibility by ESL and content area teachers, (c) to training of both groups of teachers in content-based instruction in order to assume responsibility individually or jointly in educating and academically advancing ELLs in their classrooms. For example, under CALLA model, ESL teachers aligned their instruction with content area teachers by integrating the content area subjects in the language classroom. In contrast, the sheltered instructional approach simultaneously provides academic and language support for ELLs beyond the two or three years of mandated ESL instruction, by promoting sustainable PD, engagement, and collaboration of ESL and mainstream teachers in the instruction of ELLs (Short et al., 2012).

The literature, as well as current practices coupled with the observed and growing achievement gap between ELLs and non-ELLs, strongly advocates for both the use of differentiated instruction and the delivery of more academic, linguistic, and social support for mainstream teachers when dealing with ELLs (Calderon et al., 2011). For this to occur, however, all teachers of ELLs, rather than just a designated "language" teacher,

need to have the pedagogical and sociocultural capacity to work effectively with ELLs. This includes having sufficient PCK in linguistic, teaching and communication skills, cultural understandings, sensitivity, and positive attitudes and beliefs.

Yoon (2008) suggested that it is imperative for teachers of all subject areas, including math, science, and social studies, to be able to provide direct and explicit vocabulary and comprehension strategy instruction to ELLs. Also, teachers should use text-based cooperative learning activities to allow for extended discussion of text meaning and interpretation and for application of new vocabulary. In principle, it is left to the discretion of school administration, and in certain cases for ESL/mainstream teachers, to determine whether to adopt such instructional strategies and to what extent they will implement those strategies (Daniel & Conlin, 2015). This suggests that teacher educators should search for more innovative ways to support mainstream teachers of ELLs. If the teachers are well educated in the theory about effective practice, they might be able to design their own models. Yet, this is often not the case.

#### Supporting Mainstream Teacher Learning within the School Setting

Unlike the traditional PD programs (e.g., one-shot workshops, college courses), it is argued that sustained, job-embedded professional learning is considered more effective in supporting mainstream teachers of ELLs (Cobb et al., 2003; Darling-Hammond et al., 2002; O'Brien, 2011). This implies that the most appropriate and sustainable solution, to continuously support mainstream teachers to effectively educate ELLs, is by providing professional support for teachers in their classrooms. In these settings, it is important for school leaders to promote professional learning communities where a focus is placed on

the needs of ELLs. Within their roles, school leaders are expected to encourage and support collaboration among impacted teachers, as well as invest in teacher leaders and instructional coaches to promote on-site PD for teachers in general, and in meeting the academic and literacy needs of ELLs.

School leaders (both administrators and teachers) can make the difference in improving instructional practices in mainstream classrooms, by transforming their school culture, norms, and classroom practices as well as promoting a culture of collaboration and sustained PD. Administrators may greatly influence the way teacher leaders, specialized teachers, and instructional coaches perform. Additionally, during periods of transformation, principals can establish the relevant culture and norms in the school to promote positive changes in instructional practices for ELLs (Gallucci et al., 2010; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016). Teacher leaders can greatly assist in this regard as well. Acting as instructional leaders, designated teacher leaders can play a key role in supporting mainstream teachers in meeting the learning needs of ELLs (Portin et al., 2006). Teacher leaders have wider and more intensive instructional experiences with all types of students (including ELLs), and in doing so, are better positioned to provide academic and administrative support to mainstream teachers. In settings of professional partnerships, teacher leaders can act as change agents in improving the learning practices of ELLs.

Collaboration between ESL teachers and/or instructional coaches and mainstream teachers can also be an effective PD vehicle for supporting mainstream teachers with ELLs. By working with ESL teachers, mainstream teachers will likely assume some

responsibility for the teaching of ELLs. Additionally, collaboration between ESL teachers and mainstream teachers can take different forms, including collaborative teaching in mainstream classrooms (e.g., co-teaching), advising, and consulting. In this regard, instructional coaches may be optimally utilized, as they may serve as mediators between district directed reform efforts and classroom practices. Using data from a longitudinal study of three reforming school districts and their partnership with a university-based third party organization, Gallucci et al. (2010) adopted a conceptual framework developed by Harré (1984) and elaborated by the Vygotsky Space to describe how coaches' learning through participation in PD activities, with coaches' learning directed towards supporting the learning of others (e.g. teachers).

Limited information is known, however, about how mainstream teachers learn to develop the knowledge and skills needed to provide effective literacy instruction for ELLs (Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2005; de Jong & Harper, 2005; Lucas et al., 2008). A large body of the literature proposes that further studies of teacher PD in mainstream education are needed (Baecher, 2012; de Jong & Harper, 2005; Darling-Hammond et al., 2002; O'Brien, 2011; Walqui, 2000). Walqui (2000) contends that "research is needed in several areas to better inform the implementation of effective programs for English Language Learners at the secondary school level" (p. 206).

#### **Summary**

In this section, a comprehensive review of the literature was presented pertaining to the issue of professionally developing mainstream teachers to better support and meet the learning needs of the growing population of ELLs. In this review of the extant

literature surrounding the problem under investigation, a detailed discussion was provided about the related literature, including descriptions of demographic data and achievement of ELLs, the conditions facing mainstream teachers teaching ELLs in general education classrooms, the types of instruction provided to ELLs (e. g., content-based instruction and sheltered instruction), the current issues in PD programs provided to mainstream teachers with ELLs, and the opportunities which are available to reform and/or enhance these PD programs to better prepare mainstream teachers to effectively teach ELLs.

In reviewing the extant literature on PD for teachers with ELLs, the following major key issues clearly emerged:

- There is an imperative need to professionally develop not only ESL teachers, but more importantly, mainstream teachers to adequately meet the cultural, academic and linguistic needs of EL students, with more attention to the development of ELLs' literacy knowledge and skills (Gandara et al., 2005),
- Federal, state, and local educational policies are neither specific nor detailed as they pertain to supporting and guiding teachers who deal with ELLs in terms of promoting proper and adequate teacher preparation and PD opportunities (Gebhard, 2010),
- There is a lack of relevant foundational knowledge (e.g., PCK) and skills on the part of mainstream teachers (both pre- and in-service teachers) to enable them to effectively develop the academic literacy and content area knowledge of adolescent ELLs (Lee & Buxton, 2013),

- There is a number of contributing factors such as beliefs, interest, desires, willingness, attitudes, values, and perceptions of mainstream teachers that affect their acceptance and support of PD programs related to students in culturally and linguistically diverse settings (Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013),
- There is an urgent need for mainstream teachers to integrate academic language development and content area knowledge and literacy skills when teaching and working with ELLs (Bunch, 2013; Cummins, 2000), and
- Current PD opportunities should be assessed to consider how to improve their content and delivery to ensure their effectiveness (Berg & Huang, 2015; Lee & Buxton, 2013).

Research on the role of teachers of ELLs has mainly focused on the need to promote and implement PD opportunities to help support mainstream teachers in improving their classroom instruction to ELLs (August et al., 2010; Baecher, 2012; Gebhard, 2010; Goldenberg, 2011; Lee & Buxton, 2013). However, little is known about the effectiveness of these PD opportunities and how these programs are best aligned with the teaching and learning needs of adolescent ELLs (August et al, 2010; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; Hawkins, 2004). This study investigated the effectiveness of PD activities from the perspectives of mainstream teachers of ELLs. In line with research findings and recommendations, I met with mainstream teachers of ELLs to hear their voice and get their feedback and perceptions about the effect of PD opportunities on their teaching of ELLs. In essence, teaching ELLs requires that all mainstream teachers possess a high level of proficiency in pedagogical knowledge and skills needed to promote and support

literacy development and academic achievement of their EL students (Franco-Fuenmayor et al, 2015).

In alignment with the CCSS and the forthcoming NGSS, the Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO, 2012) asserted that "English language learners (ELLs) thus face a double challenge: they must simultaneously learn how to acquire enough of a second language to participate in an academic setting while gaining an understanding of the knowledge and skills in multiple disciplines through that second language" (p. ii). In response to federal and state policy educational mandates regarding the efficacy in teaching of ELLs, coupled with the observed student diversity in K-12 across the country and the achievement gap between ELLs and non-ELLs, mainstream teachers need to learn more about the imperative needs to integrate pedagogical language knowledge and skills of ESL with the teaching of the core subject areas for which they are responsible (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Short, 2013).

Given the research gaps identified above as well as the imperative need to search for more innovative ways to improve the instructional practices of ELLs, this study intended to acquire feedback from and perceptions of mainstream teachers of ELLs on the effectiveness of PD opportunities to help them in supporting the academic and literacy needs of ELLs.

#### **Chapter Three**

Research findings on PD opportunities for mainstream teachers of ELLs indicate that there is a major gap between what mainstream teachers of ELLs ought to know and practice in classrooms and what they actually practice in their classrooms (Coady et al., 2015; Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Molle, 2013; Short, 2013). This gap suggests that there is a need for research regarding how to bring the research to ELL teachers so that it may inform and enhance their instruction. This gap in PD for mainstream teachers of ELLs prompts further investigation of this issue, which I pursued by interviewing a selected group of mainstream teachers of ELLs in a middle school and asking them to describe their perceptions and experiences of their PD opportunities.

In this chapter, I will introduce and discuss the selected research design and methods for the study of the perceptions of mainstream teachers on the degree of effectiveness of PD opportunities for supporting them in meeting the academic and learning needs of ELLs. Additionally, a description of the study setting, and the selection of the study participants is presented. Finally, the procedures governing the data collection and analysis are introduced and discussed, with a critical analysis of the concepts and principles of qualitative research that influenced this study's design.

For the purpose of conducting this descriptive qualitative research, a case-study research design was employed. The purpose of this qualitative case study was to describe and assess mainstream teachers' perceptions of the impact and effectiveness of PD on their attitudes toward teaching of ELLs. By listening to the voices of mainstream teachers

of ELLs, and by collecting and analyzing the answers and feedback from these participants who teach in a suburban middle school in a mid-Atlantic state, I was able to acquire meaningful information about and interpretations of mainstream teachers' perceptions of the effectiveness of PD opportunities in supporting their teaching of ELLs.

To shed more light on the issue of the perceptions of mainstream teachers of ELLs relative to their PD opportunities, the following two research questions guided this investigation:

- 1. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of PD opportunities on their perceptions and attitudes regarding teaching ELLs?
- 2. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of PD opportunities on the degree to which their PCK and skills support the academic and literacy needs of ELLs?

## **Qualitative Research**

Qualitative research can be defined as a multi-layered approach that involves an interpretive, naturalistic technique to the understanding and interpretation of the underlying social setting (Denzin & Lincoln, 2005). The primary focus of qualitative research is to understand and interpret a social or educational phenomenon which can be largely uncovered by providing voices to those individuals who otherwise may not be heard (Creswell, 2012; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

From a methodological perspective, it is important to understand that the primary instrument for data collection in qualitative research is the researcher, with the outcome of the study being detailed and descriptive in nature (Patton, 2015). The descriptive

knowledge that can be produced in qualitative research is used to answer not only *what* is happening, but *how* it is happening in the real world or lived experiences as described by participants of the study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). In this study, the voices, perceptions, and experiences of mainstream teachers of ELLs were elicited in order for them to describe and assess their perceptions and experiences of the effectiveness of the PD opportunities in which they participated. The primary intent of soliciting their insights was to discover ways in which PD programs may be enhanced for meeting the ultimate goal of improving instructional practices for ELLs.

Experts assert that the primary focus of qualitative research is to construct a systematic strategy for answering queries about how people or individuals get a sense of their world or reality and how later they assign meaning and interpretations to their experiences (Creswell, 2012; Patton, 2015; Yin, 2011). Qualitative research allows for methods which may be used to gather meaningful knowledge about individuals' experiences and perceptions of a particular social setting.

In this study, I investigated the role and effectiveness of PD to support mainstream teachers in their work with ELLs, by using social constructivist theory and theory of adult learning as frameworks to guide both my methods of data collection and analysis. As outlined in Chapter 2, PD can be explained by the concepts and principles of social constructivist theory (Beck & Kosnik, 2006; Patton, 2015) and theory of adult learning (Knowles, 1980, 1984). Together, these theories provided considerable understanding of (a) how teacher PD influences and enhances the instructional practices, perceptions, and attitudes of mainstream teachers of ELLs; and (b) how this PD translates

into supports for the learning needs of ELLs (Loucks-Horsley et al., 2003; Risko et al. 2008; Stewart, 2014).

The social constructivist theory as applied to teacher PD assumes that by participating and actively engaging in PD, characterized by cooperative and collegial learning experiences and support, teachers can develop new understandings for instructional strategies and practices (Beck & Kosnik, 2006). Similarly, adult learning theory views adult learners as self-directed learners, who are continuously eager to learn and practice new and enhanced instructional approaches (Knowles, 1980, 1984). An important premise of this research is that mainstream teachers of ELLs are motivated to employ new strategies, practices, knowledge and skills they have gained during their active participation in PD opportunities.

## **Case Study**

As one type of qualitative research design, case studies have been utilized as a means to generate new, meaningful, and informative knowledge concerning the perceptions and experiences of individuals in a social setting or workplace (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). In the current case, mainstream teachers are viewed as an integral part of the world in which they live, with particular focus on their learning and instructional practices in both classrooms and PD settings.

Concurring with other qualitative researchers, Yin (2011) explains that a case study should satisfy certain conditions pertaining to the phenomenon under investigation. When utilizing case studies, qualitative researchers need to specify and consider all factors influencing the case(s) under research, including contexts, situations, time, and

activities. Additionally, case study research design allows for in-depth and multiple sources of data collection (Maxwell, 2013). Creswell (2012) explains that "the case study research approach is a qualitative approach in which the investigator explores a bounded system or case over a time period through detailed, in-depth data collection and reports that include description of the case and themes" (p.13). For the purpose of conducting the current research, 6<sup>th</sup>, 7<sup>th</sup>, and 8<sup>th</sup> grade mainstream teachers of ELLs in a middle school comprise the bounded system to be explored and investigated.

The choice of a case study approach is most appropriate when qualitative researchers attempt to describe an individual's experiences and perspectives using multiple sources of information, such as focus groups, semi-structured interviews, field notes, journals, documents, and field observation (Creswell, 2012; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Yin, 2011). Merriam and Tisdell (2016) argue that the decision to consider qualitative case studies is based on the notion that case study design is selected specifically because qualitative researchers are interested in the insights, discoveries, and interpretations of individual experience as opposed to hypothesis testing. Since the purpose of this research was to study the perceptions and experiences of mainstream teachers with PD opportunities designed to meet the learning and social needs of ELLs, a case study research design was considered most appropriate.

#### Context

According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), when searching for the best case to study, it is imperative to "establish the criteria that will guide case selection and then select a case that meets those criteria" (p. 99). As this study aimed to listen to mainstream

teachers' experiences and perceptions about PD programs targeting the improvement of teaching adolescent ELLs, it seemed natural to target a middle school, high school, or both. A middle school was selected based primarily on the following criteria: (a) the school has a relatively large number of ELLs in all grades and (b) the school and the school district have been implementing a number of PD programs for mainstream teachers of ELLs. In alignment with qualitative research rules of ethics, the school has been given the pseudonym of Lakewood Middle School (hereinafter referred to as Lakewood) to protect the school's and participants' confidentiality. The school has a diverse student population, representing various countries, languages, cultures, and ethnic backgrounds. Demographic data provided by the school officials indicated that the school population includes a number of immigrants, long-term ELLs, and international students.

Overall, about 40% of Lakewood's student population are ELLs. Mainstream teachers have access to various PD opportunities at the school and school-district levels. Based on my initial assessment of the PD opportunities available from which teachers at Lakewood might choose, it was obvious that there was tremendous organizational support from both the school and school district to promote and enhance teachers' instructional practices.

#### School district

Lakewood is one of the public schools in the Wilson Public School District (WPSD) in a mid-Atlantic state. According to publicly available data on WPSD's website, the student population in WPSD as of the academic year 2018-2019 was approximately 28,000. The demographics of the students in WPSD were 46% White,

27% Hispanic, 10% Black/African American, 9% Asian, and 8% Other/Multiple. Students come from 146 countries, with a total of 107 languages spoken.

Interestingly, while there were more than 9,000 (33%) students who came from non-English backgrounds and who were classified as entry-level ESL students, only 5,000 (18%) were enrolled as ELLs in mainstream classrooms. This is due mainly to the county's policy to enroll new ELLs into an ESL program for a period of time. Once they completed the advanced level WIDA 5 (World-Class Instructional Design and Assessment (5) or the intermediate levels (WIDA 3 or 4) of the ESL program, and attained a satisfactory level of English proficiency as measured by WIDA tests, they were integrated into mainstream classrooms and, as such, are referred to as ELLs. WIDA is widely utilized by school districts across the nation to assess the quality of instruction provided to EL students. WIDA has developed five English Language Development standards to help ensure that students proficiently understand and comprehend English in both social and academic contexts.

Recognizing and understanding the urgency to support and advocate to improve the instructional practices for ELLs, the WPSD developed its own mission for teaching and supporting the EL student population. WPSD adopted an ambitious mission that assumes that all English learners attain their fullest potential while building on their diverse language and cultural backgrounds. WPSD's Department of English Learners expresses its intention to fully collaborate with school staff to guide, support, and monitor instruction that helps develop academic language and content knowledge to accelerate student progress. The Department also cooperates with WPSD staff to raise awareness

about ELLs and build effective parental and community involvement that endorses student achievement. This initiative by WPSD to engage, support, and train the families of ELLs about their role in advancing their children's education is highly supported by research findings (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016).

According to WPSD's website, the academic data show that on average, as EL students progress through the program and attain English language proficiency, their State assessment results consistently match or exceed non-ELLs performance. For the academic year 2018-2019, about 94% of ELLs at WPSD who attained proficiency passed their Reading state assessment, whereas only 92% of the WPSD's non-ELLs passed the same Reading state assessment. Another key performance indicator for the WPSD's relatively successful record of serving the EL student group is the active participation of the district families in ELLs' or English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) activities. As of academic year 2018-2019, more than 18% of the district families were involved in these types of services. This meaningful initiative on the part of WPSD to engage ELLs' families in schools' ESOL activities—including raising awareness, providing orientation programs, and conducting training workshops of what ESOL entails and expects from parents of ELLs—is supported in the research literature (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016).

The participants in this study praised WPSD for their distinguished accomplishments in promoting and advancing ELLs, which are largely attributed to the hard work and determination of WPSD's Department of English Language Learners supporting the staff in the District as well as all of the schools' administrators and

teachers' work to close the achievement gap between non-ELLs and ELLs. A senior administrator at WPSD noted that the District has been working on improving the academic and social learning of its whole student population consistently over the years, but only recently made a major commitment to make a paradigm shift by promoting and launching more specialized programs, training, and resources to support the academic and social needs of the EL student and family population.

## Setting

Lakewood, with its large EL student population, is nonetheless considered to be in the top 20% of schools in WPSD, compared to district and state averages. Additionally, since it was classified as an art and communication technology school in 2008, teachers have been supported in their efforts to integrate arts and communications technology in the school curriculum. As of the academic year 2018-2019, there were about 1,000 students attending Lakewood, 70% of whom were minority students, which is higher than the state average of 50% (Lakewood Website, 2018). The demographics of the students enrolled at Lakewood in the same period were: 48% Hispanic, 27% White, 11% Black/African American, 7% Asian, and 7% Other/Multiple.

It is worth noting that the participants in this study teach more culturally and linguistically diverse students than anticipated, with about 70% of the total number of students classified as minorities. There is no valid, documented explanation or justification for the relatively high number of EL students at Lakewood except possibly that more immigrant families, particularly Hispanics, find it more attractive economically and socially to live in this area. Another possible explanation for this phenomenon is the

notion that Lakewood is embracing and promoting more academic and social programs to support the EL student and family population. The White student proportion of 27% is relatively high and is probably attributable to the draw of the art/technology program; otherwise, the proportion of minority students, attributable to the nature of the neighborhoods would likely be larger.

Lakewood's average pass rates for all of the 2018-2019 State assessments were relatively lower than the state and district averages, with no significant differences from previous years. For that academic year, the breakdown of the pass rates for the total students and for ELLs respectively are as follows: reading 76% and 23%; writing 78% and 25%; mathematics 83% and 50%; science 79% and 32%; and history 81% and 39% (Lakewood Website, 2018). These poor results for the EL student group place the school under tremendous pressure to develop and implement plans to address achievement gaps and ensure that all students have the resources they need to succeed.

In accordance with WPSD's requirements to maintain and follow up on students' academic performance, Lakewood has planned and implemented a School Management Plan, which sets a number of school management goals aimed at closing the achievement gaps between ELLs and non-ELLs, including the following:

- 1. The gap in achievement between African-American and White students will be reduced.
- The gap in achievement between Hispanic and White students will be reduced.

 Lakewood will engage the community in accomplishing the School Management Plan Goals.

To address student achievement, the following School Performance Priorities and Actions were taken by Lakewood for the academic year 2016-2017:

- 1. WPSD SIOP Training for the science, math, and social studies teachers.
- 2. Professional Learning for Writing across the Curriculum by content areas
- 3. Implementation of Lucy Calkins Writing Units of Study—Writing Workshop (5-day training during preservice).
- Positive Alternative Learning Supports PLUS for Special Education and High Intensity Language Training Teachers (Wilson Tiered System of Support Tier 2--Flex EXCEL: ELA Interventions and Support during Teacher Advisory period).

It should be noted that these initiatives were implemented in the academic year 2016-2017 and continued throughout the academic year 2018-2019, the academic year in which the data were collected for the purpose of this study.

## **Participants**

A purposeful selection of 10 mainstream teachers for individual interviews and a focus group was adopted based on a specific set of criteria (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The main selection criterion was to locate an appropriate and informative group of mainstream teachers who served one or more ELLs in their mainstream classroom and have participated in PD programs related to teaching ELLs. A study sample size of 10 participants is considered an ideal number to reach saturation in homogeneous groups

(Guest et al., 2006). Research findings reveal purposive sampling is primarily used in case studies to help in the development of deeper understanding and examination of the underlying issues in a case or group (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Patton, 2015). Patton (2015) argues that

the logic and power of qualitative purposeful sampling derives from the emphasis on in-depth understanding of specific cases: information-rich case. Information-rich cases are those from which one can learn a great deal about issues of central importance to the purpose of the inquiry, thus the term "purposeful sampling" (p. 53).

Similarly, Merriam and Tisdell (2016) contend that the use of purposeful sampling is "based on the assumption that the investigator wants to discover, understand, and gain insight and therefore must select a sample from which the most can be learned" (p. 96).

After receiving approval from the school's principal, the district school board, and George Mason University's IRB (See Appendix A) to conduct this study, an email invitation was sent to all mainstream teachers at Lakewood to explain the nature of the research and invite them to participate in the study (See Appendix B). Consistent with standard case study procedures, the email included a statement explaining that all collected data would be kept confidential and used only for research reasons. This initial email was sent by one of the school administrators. Through Lakewood's principal, I was also allowed to attend two staff meetings in which I was given the opportunity to explain the objective and scope of the study and ask teachers to consider participating in the project by responding to the email they had received.

With the approval of the school district and the great support and cooperation of the school administrators, ten mainstream teachers voluntarily agreed to be interviewed individually and in a group setting. Accordingly, I sent a second email to thank the ten teachers for their agreement to participate in the study and to gather some basic data about them such as class assignment, years of experience, and number of PD programs related to teaching ELLs they had attended (See Appendix C). Additionally, consent forms were given to the participants to sign indicating their willingness to participate in this study (See Appendix D). The collected demographic data were then used to determine if all the 10 teachers, who agreed to participate met the criteria to participate in (2) one-on-one interviews and (2) focus group interviews, both of which were used primarily to capture the perceptions of mainstream teachers regarding their PD experiences and the impact of these PD experiences on their pedagogical knowledge and skills needed to effectively teach ELLs.

Table 1 shows detailed demographic information of the study participants (all names are pseudonyms). It is evident from the data shown in Table 2 that most of the participants were females (8 out 10), which is consistent with the documented number and percentage of female teachers in the United States being significantly greater than their male counterparts. According to the National Center for Educational Statistics (2018), about 77% of U.S. public school teachers were female and 23% were male for the academic year 2015-2016. Similarly, 72% of Lakewood's school instructional teachers were female and 28% were male for the academic year 2018-2019.

**Table 1**Participants' Detailed Demographic Information

_		Subject		Languages
Name	Gender	Taught	Grade	Spoken
Amy	F	English	8 <sup>th</sup>	English
Anna	F	English	$8^{th}$	English, Spanish, French
Carlos	M	Social Studies	$7^{\text{th}}$	English, Spanish
Emily	F	English	$6^{th}$	English
Jenna	F	Math	$8^{th}$	English, Urdu, Spanish
Julie	F	Health/PE	$6^{th}$ , $7^{th}$ , $8^{th}$	English
Mark	M	Social Studies	$7^{\text{th}}$	English
Kate	F	Science	$6^{\text{th}}$	English
Megan	F	English	$6^{\text{th}}$	English
Sarah	F	Social Studies	$7^{\text{th}}$	English, German

*Note*. PE = Physical Education.

The participants taught a variety of subjects: English (4 participants), social studies (3 participants), math (1 participant), science (1 participant), and health/physical education (1 participant), which helps not only in getting varied perceptions about PD opportunities from different teachers and from multiple fields, but also to understand their wide-ranging academic needs and challenges. Interestingly, 4 of the 10 participants (Anna, Carlos, Jenna, and Sarah) had mastered more than one language, including French, German, Spanish, and Urdu, which probably helps these teachers to have a positive attitude toward teaching ELLs and a good understanding of the learning and social needs of these students and their families. All four of these participants indicated that they feel that they are more receptive and understanding of the special language/academic needs of ELLs mainly due to their bi- or

multilingualism. Additionally, three of the participants (Amy, Anna, and Jenna) had TESL certificates.

While all of the participants had more than 10 years of teaching experience in general subject areas, their experience with teaching ELLs marginally varied. As shown in Table 2, there were nine participants with more than 10 years of teaching ELLs and one participant (Julie) with fewer than five years of teaching ELLs. Another point of descriptive data relates to the number of PD activities taken by each participant. All of the participants had engaged in PD programs that focused on understanding and teaching ELLs, ranging from 2-5 programs (3 participants) to more than five programs (7 participants). Overall, the participants' demographic data confirm they were relevant to the study and thus well situated to produce meaningful insights and feedback about their experiences with PD programs that were designed to prepare them to better teach and support ELLs in mainstream classrooms.

**Table 2**Participants' Detailed Teaching and PD Experiences

	S and I D LM		
	Years	Years	Number
	of	of	of PDPs
	Teaching	Teaching	(ELLs)
Name	Experience	ELLs	Attended
Amy	> 10	> 10	> 5
Anna	> 10	> 10	> 5
Carlos	> 10	> 10	> 5
Emily	> 10	> 10	> 5
Jenna	> 10	> 10	> 5
Julie	> 10	2-5	2-5
Kate	> 10	> 10	2-5
Mark	> 10	> 10	2-5
Megan	> 10	> 10	> 5
Sarah	> 10	> 10	> 5

#### **Lakewood PD Activities**

In accordance with the requirements of WSPD, Lakewood has been promoting and implementing several PD opportunities throughout the school year. The format of these activities is either formal or informal and they are hosted either in-house or at WSPD. Lakewood also encourages and supports teachers to pursue graduate degrees or enroll in graduate classes of their choice at the university level. At Lakewood, teachers are provided with multiple platforms such as PLCs and CLTs in which teachers can freely engage with each other, learn from one another, and observe each other's teaching (e.g., learning labs).

With the support and partnership of the Center for Applied Linguistics (CAL) focused on applied linguistics, the WPSD promoted and implemented a district-based SIOP for selected groups of the district staff and leading teachers. Starting 2011, CAL conducted an advanced 4-day workshop SIOP and whole-school introductory SIOP training to K-12 teachers. During the course of the SIOP training, CAL provided inschool assistance to teachers to increase their understanding of sheltering instruction through job-embedded PD such as lesson study, guided lesson planning, and coaching. Additionally, CAL extensively supported the district in measuring implementation levels through observations and by applying the SIOP. Thus, the participants in this study had the opportunity to participate in several district-based PD activities, including the basic workshop in SIOP and the associated follow-up observations and assessments.

### **Data Collection**

In qualitative research, data are collected primarily from various and rich sources, including individual interviews, focus group interviews, and documents (Creswell, 2012). To enhance the validity of the findings, qualitative researchers and scholars strongly suggest the utilization of triangulation through utilizing multiple methods of data collection (Creswell, 2012; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Patton, 2015; Yin, 2011). For example, qualitative researchers may use both interviews and classroom observations to investigate the impact of PD on mainstream teachers' instructional practices. In this study, I utilized mainly two sources of data collection: semi-structured interviews with participants and focus-group interviews. Additionally, throughout the course of all of the interviews, I took field notes and memos to keep track of any interpretations, reflections, and observations I had.

According to Bogden and Biklen (2007), qualitative researchers choose to employ interviews "to gather descriptive data in the subject's own words so that the researcher can develop insights on how subjects interpret some piece of the world" (p. 96).

Similarity, Kvale and Brinkmann (2009) and Patton (2015) argue that by asking appropriate questions, individual interviews help to provide some insights about lived experiences of participants from their own perceptions. Interviewing is considered an important qualitative research tool that helps researchers to better understand the study participants' perceptions of the world they live in through an interpretation of the participants' responses (Creswell, 2012).

When compared to individual interviews, focus group interviews provide opportunities for participants to hear each other's responses and exchange comments (Patton, 2015). One of the essential characteristics of focus-group interviews is its group dynamics. As opposed to individual interviews, group dynamics helps in generating deeper and richer data through the social interaction of the group members (Thomas et al., 1995). It is possible, however, that some participants might actively participate more, and be ready to answer any relevant question in individual interviews rather than in focus groups, due to social and political constraints.

According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), when performed thoroughly, the integration of individual interview and focus group interview data should result in an enriched description of the phenomenon's structure and its essential characteristics. For this reason, I made use of both the focus group interviews and individual interviews as data collection methods to gather information from participants.

The order of the data collection was as follows:

- First round of individual interviews
- First focus group interview
- Second round of individual interviews
- Second focus group interview

This way, I was able to generate four data sets. I then used data integration, which involved moving back and forth between the four data sets to discover data convergence, divergence, conformability, and complementarity (Fenech Adami & Kaiger, 2005;

Halcomb & Andrew, 2005). By using data collection triangulation and data integration, the trustworthiness of findings was enhanced (Paton, 2015).

#### Individual interviews

I sent an email invitation to each participant and asked her/him to participate in a one-to-one interview. Each participant was given the option to select the appropriate time and place to meet. As shown in Appendices E and F, the semi-structured, face-to-face individual interviews included open-ended questions and lasted for approximately 25-30 minutes each. A subsequent individual interview was arranged with each participant except for Megan who could not make the second interview, totaling 19 individual interviews. I used a digital voice recorder to record the interview. During the individual interviews, I used follow-up questions and prompts to obtain further insights from the participants.

## Focus group interviews

Focus group interviews were selected to gain rich information and broad understanding and knowledge about the impact and effectiveness of PD from the participants' perspectives. Focus group interviews are a natural setting for participants' voices to be heard and these voices are enriched by the obvious and meaningful interaction, dialogue, and collaboration between participants with diverse views (Kruger & Casey, 2009; Patton, 2002). During the process of the focus group interaction and collaboration, data are essentially socially constructed by means of interaction and collaboration of the focus group members. If effectively planned and managed, focus group interviewing may result in special insights not obtainable through other methods of

data collection, such as individual interviews (Patton, 2015). Open-ended questions are recommended to use in qualitative studies to extract participants' views about the issues under investigation (Creswell, 2012).

I conducted two focus group interviews. Appendices G and H show the focus group interview protocol and questions. I sent an email invitation to all of the participants and asked them to participate in the two focus group interviews. All of the participants agreed that afterschool hours were the ideal time to meet. With the coordination and help of the school administration, a meeting room equipped with all necessary equipment was reserved for the two focus group interviews. During the interviews, I used a digital voice recorder to record the interview. I also served as the moderator and tried to listen and be as objective as possible in order not to have any influence on the participants' views. At the beginning of each focus group interview, I gave a brief introduction about the study and indicated how important and valuable their inputs and voices were to the study. In addition to using the questions in Appendices G and H, I made use of follow-up questions and prompts to gain additional information from the participants

There were six participants in the first focus group (Amy, Anna, Jenna, Mark, Megan, and Sarah) and six in the second group (Amy, Jenna, Julie, Kate, Mark, and Sarah). Four of the 10 participants attended both focus groups (Amy, Jenna, Mark, and Sarah). During the focus groups, the participants had ample opportunity to engage in an intensive and meaningful discussion (e.g. questioning one another, commenting on each other's' experiences), which, in turn, resulted in increasing the depth of the inquiry and uncovering new or misunderstood facets of the PD targeting teachers of ELLs.

In effect, the utilization of focus group interviews as an additional source of data collection helped in understanding what was happening at Lakewood with respect to PD opportunities. This approach also improved the quality of data collected by informing the crafting of the kinds of questions that were asked during the interviews.

# Field notes journal

During and after each individual interview and focus group interview, I documented my reflections in my field note journal. By raising questions about what I observed and perhaps by speculating on some meanings and explanations, it was possible to engage in preliminary data analysis. In these journals, I recorded my perceptions, experiences, and interpretation of responses to the interview questions, provided descriptions of body language, and documented notes on any interruption or disruptions that took place, while including any additional thoughts and/or concerns (Creswell, 2012; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

#### Memos

I wrote memos throughout all of the phases of the research project to help me think through my ideas, concerns, and questions. The use of memos significantly assisted me in conducting the data analysis as explained below.

### **Procedure and Data Analysis**

In qualitative research, data analysis and data collection typically occur simultaneously (Creswell, 2012; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016), which suggests the need to iterate and diversify data collection. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), "Data analysis is a complex procedure that involves moving back and forth between concrete

bits of data and abstract concepts, between inductive and deductive reasoning, between description and interpretation," and "the practical goal of data analysis is to find answers to your questions" (p. 202-203). Data analysis includes the examination, categorization, tabulation, and recombination of the evidence obtained from the study. Through discovery of important underlying patterns and trends in the data it may be possible to construct meaningful interpretations, thereby increasing the trustworthiness of the results (Patton, 2015).

Coding is the main component in qualitative research analysis because themes emerge based on the codes developed. Codes could be "single words, letters, numbers, phrases, colors, or combinations of these" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p. 199). For this study, data analysis and the coding processes were conducted following Merriam and Tisdell (2016) data analysis methodology as outlined by their suggestions for developing coding based on the data collection, with the use of triangulation. Using case study analysis, all the information collected through individual and focus group interviews, field notes, and memos, were viewed and analyzed collectively in order to generate and construct meaningful interpretations (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

Based on the data collected, I classified the data into four streams: (a) first individual interviews, (b) first focus group interview, (c) concluding individual interviews, and (d) concluding focus group interview. After each interview, I listened to the recorded interview and documented my reflections and notes, with ongoing interpretation relative to the social constructivist theory and adult learning theory framing this study. Then, I transcribed the interview data, went over the interview again and wrote

my reflection of it, as well as wrote my plan and additional notes for the next interview in another memo.

After completing all individual and focus group interviews, transcribing them, and critically reading the texts, I started coding the transcripts using a mix of manual and computer management systems (e.g., NVivo coding protocol). I used an open coding process because as I examined the rich descriptive textual data generated from the interviews I was able to manually make notation texts (potential codes) to every bit of data, phrase, and/or expression I considered relevant for answering the research questions (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). I started the initial data analysis by manually coding the data collected from all interviews using an open coding process, with reference to the reflections and memos I took after each interview. As explained earlier, this type of coding is essential and relevant to the type of qualitative research I conducted as it helped me to "capture any data with a word or a phrase that seems to be responsive to [my] research questions" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p. 208).

During this process of initial coding and analysis, I tried to be as expansive as possible to identify any part of data deemed to be useful. I also made a consistent review of the data from the interviews until saturation was reached. In qualitative research, saturation is defined as a description of no new information or evidence in a data collection process (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). This manual coding process marked the first step in the data analysis phase and helped me to identify and construct meanings and knowledge from the rich collected data.

Next, I utilized NVivo coding to generate initial codes which helped me to validate participants' answers by using their direct quotations as codes. This coding enabled me to maintain the integrity of participants' voices by documenting their feedback and most importantly selecting appropriate and prominent quotes that were used to describe their perceptions about the value of PD opportunities in which they had participated.

The third round of coding was performed using axial and analytical coding to analyze and group segments or codes into categories. After developing the codes, I color-coded the responses to generate categories. Then, I aligned the categories to the various perceptions that the participants indicated were related to their experiences in PD programs. To ensure the completeness and accuracy of the coding and analysis of the narratives portrayed by participants, I repeated the previous processes of data analysis to obtain more meaningful categories from the collected data set. By applying this process, I was able to simultaneously combine categories into emerging themes.

# Validity

To ensure the validity of the data collected and results generated, a triangulation method was employed by considering multiple data collection methods, including individual interviews, focus group interviews, field notes journal, and memos. As I acted throughout the study in a full capacity as the researcher, interviewer, and interpreter, I made use of both member checking and critical friend. First, I made use of additional triangulation by sharing my initial findings with the participants from analyzing data collected from the 19 individual interviews and the two focus group interviews. At the

beginning of the second individual interviews, I shared the initial findings from the first individual interviews and first focus group interviews with each participant. After analyzing and interpreting the data collected from all of the interviews, I conducted member checking by sending an email to each participant including a summary of the findings of the study and asked for their comments and additional input.

Overall, the feedback I received from some of the participants after I sent them a summary of the findings of the study was positive and informative. The following are representative of the responses I received from some of the participants:

Anna: Your executive summary nicely caps the discussions we had group and individual.

Emily: Thank you for doing this important work. I agree with the findings; in particular that PD is most effective with peer collaboration.

Kate: Your conclusions look accurate to me.

Mark: I agree with all of what you wrote. Thank you for advocating for us and for sharing this with me!

Sarah: Thank you for sharing your conclusions with me. I feel you accurately captured in your summary the key points we communicated

An additional step I took to increase the validity of my findings was to seek the help and input of a critical friend, who has a professional and academic background in the field of teaching ELLs. She has a Ph.D. in education and has had extensive training in qualitative research, and as such was in a good position to lend support with the research design, formulating interview questions, coding, and interpreting my subsequent findings

based upon my participants' answers in the study. In the process, she read a sample of the interviews, provided her own codes and categories, and presented some interpretations of the data collected. In sum, her suggested codes and data interpretation were consistent with my overall findings.

### **Research Timeline**

My initial plan was to spend approximately two school years (academic years 2018-2019 and 2019-2020) completing the project. As shown in Table 3, the project included the following activities: searching for a list of middle schools candidates for the study, selection of an appropriate and representative middle school, approval of IRB at George Mason University, approval of the selected school district, interviewing mainstream teachers via 2 individual interviews and 2 focus group interviews, and analyzing and interpreting the interview data collected.

**Table 3**Research Timeline

Selected Middle School - Initials Visits	November 2017
George Mason University IRB Approval	May 2018
Selected School County Approval	August 2018
1st Round of Individual Interviews	October 2018
1st Round of Focus Group Interviews	November 2018

2 <sup>nd</sup> Round of Individual Interviews	April 2019
2 <sup>nd</sup> Round of Focus Group Interviews	May 2019
Initial (Simultaneous with Data Collection) Data Analysis	Fall 2019
Final Data Analysis	Spring 2020

# **Summary**

This study employed a qualitative research case study design to investigate and describe mainstream teachers' perceptions of the degree of the effectiveness and impact of PD opportunities on enhancing instructional practices of mainstream teachers with ELLs. The school selected was Lakewood Middle School, which is located in the mid-Atlantic region, and hosts more than 1,000 students, more than 40% of whom are classified as ELLs. The design of this study used four data collection methods: semi-structured individual interviews, focus group interviews, field notes, and memos to capture participants' experiences and perceptions about PD programs for teaching ELLs. I used both a mix of manual and NVivo coding protocol to construct initial codes. Based on the codes generated, I utilized axial and analytical coding to analyze and group codes into categories, which were combined to generate themes.

### **Chapter Four**

Given the well documented gap between what mainstream teachers of ELLs ought to know and practice in classrooms and what they actually practice (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Molle, 2013; Short, 2013), this study was undertaken to gain additional insight into the attitudes and practices of mainstream teachers of ELLs based on their experiences with relevant PD opportunities. This project was conducted by interviewing 10 mainstream teachers of ELLs at Lakewood Middle School, located in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States, in which participants were asked to describe their attitude and perceptions of their PD experiences and opportunities. In this chapter, I will provide descriptive data about the participants. Then, I will describe and discuss the findings of this study by the four themes and with reference to the two research questions that guided this study.

### Participants' Personal and Professional Backgrounds

To better understand the participants' educational backgrounds, professional careers, and experiences—which when taken together helped in the interpretation and explanation of the findings—a short biographical description about each participant follows.

Amy. Amy is an English teacher who has been teaching for more than 20 years. At the start of her teaching career, she taught history, focusing mainly on the content relating to history without referencing the language aspect. Later, she had the chance to teach in Japan and taught English to ELLs there. She came back to the United States with

a clearer and wider perspective regarding the necessary methods of teaching content and language successfully for ELLs.

Amy appreciates and is very devoted to the opportunities that distinct PD programs provide as she views them to be extremely beneficial in informing teachers of successful methods for teaching ELLs. She attended the SIOP training program and expressed that the program addressed different levels of teachers in order to successfully enhance their understanding of the necessary methods for teaching ELLs. However, Amy pointed out that it would also be extremely beneficial to her and her colleagues if the PD programs would provide checkups and feedback on the teachers' implementation of the different strategies in their classrooms. Nonetheless, Amy emphasizes that PD programs still excel in helping subject-area teachers, such as those of math and science, to incorporate aspects of the English language whilst enhancing the curriculum they teach to their EL students. While undergoing the sessions and training with the PD programs, Amy recognized the importance and benefits of teacher collaborations, as sharing ideas and strategies among teachers aided her in improving her teaching strategies for ELLs. In terms of improving aspects of the PD programs, Amy feels that these programs could be better improved by having a more interactive way of delivery that could be more memorable to teachers, thus aiding in implementing the ELL teaching strategies in their classrooms.

**Anna**. Anna is an English teacher with a license in teaching ELLs and extensive teaching experience of ELLs in both elementary and middle school settings. Anna is very open and willing to try new ideas and strategies that could help her develop her methods.

She is devoted to PD and is always willing to adjust her mindset to implement a variety of methods in her classroom. Anna expresses that "there are always new things coming out," showcasing her desire to learn and obtain the growing knowledge around her that she wishes to learn and implement in her classroom and teaching style. Anna is also very empathetic with her students in terms of supporting and encouraging them and works to understand their social and educational backgrounds.

Anna strongly believes that teachers should develop their teaching skills and strengthen their abilities to meet the literacy needs of ELLs through the PD programs provided as well as during their own time. Anna had participated in a great number of PD programs and has received and conducted "The Inner Reliability Training," giving her the capability to provide professional feedback to other teachers. Overall, Anna also strongly believes in the importance of collaboration between ESL teachers and contentarea teachers. Anna strives for and takes advantage of any arising opportunities to help her develop her teaching methods and style to successfully improve the level of her EL students.

Carlos. Carlos is a social studies teacher who first started his teaching career in Miami, Florida where there was a large percentage of ELLs. There he was able to obtain extensive experience with teaching ELLs. Carlos also has an existential connection to the immigrant experience as he came to the United States as a young child. When Carlos was teaching in Miami, he was able to attend multiple PD programs related to teaching ELLs. When he moved to the mid-Atlantic, Carlos was introduced to the SIOP professional development training. However, Carlos felt that he did not require that much training

related to teaching ELLs because of his prior extensive teaching experience at Miami as well as his personal and professional experience as an immigrant, which allowed him to connect and relate to what most of the ELLs are undergoing when learning a new language.

Teaching in both locations, Carlos was able to observe the distinct teaching strategies presented in the PD programs of those different regions and how they would work to ultimately improve the English level of ELLs. With his own personal experience as an immigrant, Carlos understood the academic and social challenges that ELLs are facing as he himself underwent those struggles. With that, he was able to strongly connect with and understand his EL students and relate to their academic and social struggles, allowing him to further aid them on their journey of mastering the English language. Furthermore, Carlos noticed that, in addition to educating and improving the English level of ELLs, it is essential to also educate their parents, as he believes they are an essential aspect of the student's life and can greatly contribute to the English language improvement of their children.

When participating in PD programs, Carlos expressed that, based on his vast amount of experience in teaching and connecting with the EL students, he is already familiar with most of the teaching skills and strategies presented. As a way of further improving aspects of PD programs, Carlos suggests that he would greatly benefit from learning about the distinct cultures of the EL students as that could aid teachers in understanding how best to approach their EL students and possibly improve their English language abilities. Carlos implied that understanding EL students' cultural backgrounds,

as well as their lifestyles, could be essential for teachers in order to craft suitable methods for ELLs to master the English language.

**Emily**. Emily is an English teacher with a master's degree in reading education. Emily has been teaching for over 20 years and started her career as a special education teacher and later became an English teacher. She has taught in an elementary school setting for a long time where she interacted with a great number of ELLs.

Emily attended a PD program of SIOP training for two years. She expressed the many benefits that the SIOP training provided her in terms of the strategies that she could implement in her classroom to further advance her approaches for developing her EL students' language skills. Additionally, Emily has a strong desire to improve her own methods of teaching in order to successfully meet the needs of her EL students. She said she gladly goes out of her way to learn more methods to teach ELLs and shares any successful method that she implements with her colleagues in order to help improve the EL student population in her school area. In addition to attending and learning from the beneficial strategies presented in PD programs, Emily also appreciates and highlights the significance of collaboration between teachers and learning from her peers to improve their teaching methods as a whole and benefit the EL students collaboratively.

**Jenna**. Jenna is a math teacher who has been teaching math for many years. Aside from teaching math, Jenna is also licensed in teaching ELLs and has extensive experience with teaching and interacting with EL students over the course of her teaching career. Jenna speaks three languages, one of which is Spanish, which she learned in order to support the majority of her EL students who also speak Spanish.

Jenna attended multiple PD programs such as the SIOP training programs. She expresses her overall satisfaction with and appreciation for the specialized strategies that the SIOP program offers as well as its way of delivering ideas and methods that are easy for teachers to utilize in their classroom to teach ELLs. She also emphasized how PD programs allowed her to become more aware of the specialized strategies necessary to teach ELLs and some that she noticed she was missing and from which she could greatly benefit. Being a math teacher, Jenna underlines the difficulties that can sometimes arise when attempting to teach English and subject-area content to ELLs. She indicated that PD programs can be utilized in supporting mainstream teachers to better teach ELLs, but teachers need more time and effort to fully benefit from these developmental activities. Overall, despite being highly experienced with teaching ELLs, Jenna still strives to discover additional strategies and methods that she could further utilize to improve her teaching as well as her EL students' educational levels.

**Julie**. Julie is a health and physical education teacher who started teaching ELLs only four years ago. Julie is not experienced or well informed about the specialized strategies that need to be implemented when interacting with EL students. However, she is willing to learn more about the methods that would best improve her capability to teach and communicate with her EL students.

Julie always reaches out to her colleagues and seeks help from other departments when struggling to communicate with and teach her EL students. She was able to attend the SIOP PD program training, which she said was intriguing and very informative. However, Julie indicated that these PD programs are not as beneficial to her because they

are not accompanied by continuous follow-ups and monitoring to ensure that teachers are attempting to implement the teaching strategies they were taught in the programs in their classrooms.

Julie expressed how she is struggling to teach as physical education classes include all levels of students, including newcomers who do not know English at all. She suggests that the physical education classes are easier to teach than the health classes because the students who are struggling in English tend to follow and copy the physical movements and activities of their classmates. However, her teaching of and communication with ELLs proves to be difficult when she conducts the nine-week health curriculum. Julie worries that her limited skills in teaching and communicating with ELLs and their inability to understand English can affect their basic knowledge of important health concepts needed for future learning. She expressed her hope that, with continued teaching methods presented in PD programs as well as support and guidance from her colleagues, she can improve her capabilities to successfully communicate with and educate her EL students.

Kate. Kate is a science teacher with a master's degree in natural resources. She has a total of twenty five years of teaching experience. She has taught ELLs in both elementary and middle school settings. Kate was able to attend a four-day workshop of the SIOP advanced training program during the course of an academic year where she was also able to conduct the SIOP learning lab related to the scientific teaching aspects. Kate prefers training and learning with workshops in which teachers are able to discuss, share ideas, and have time to plan with different strategies that can be incorporated in the

classrooms with colleagues. Kate shows great passion and determination when collaborating and working with science and other subject-area teachers in Curriculum Learning Team (CLT) and Professional Learning Community (PLC) meetings.

While undergoing and conducting the training sessions in the SIOP PD program, Kate emphasized the program's beneficial strategies that aid in integrating both the language strategies with the content aspects, such as improving ELLs' English and academic skills. However, Kate claims that improving both language and content knowledge and skills for ELLs can prove to be difficult at times, but PD programs such as SIOP can provide some assistance. Kate felt that the PD programs provided her, as well as her colleagues, with motivation and determination that aided and expanded her perspective when it comes to successfully teaching and improving the academic level of ELLs.

Mark. Mark is a social studies teacher with a master's degree and a total of nineteen years of teaching experience. He has taught middle school students for the duration of his career and has been teaching at Lakewood for the past thirteen years. Mark expressed his satisfaction with the school district, which has offered many PD programs. He was able to attend PD programs centered around understanding culture and diversity among his students, learning to better interact with them, learning to teach students of different cultural backgrounds, learning to be aware of and sensitive to students' experiences and needs, and lastly learning the way to reach all students' needs fairly in the classroom.

Mark attended two sessions of SIOP beginner training. He also was the beneficiary of the informal SIOP training that was presented by teachers who have attended more advanced SIOP programs. He exhibited a positive attitude toward training and learning from other teachers, which he views as constant PD that has helped expand his perspective, knowledge, and skills regarding the most effective methods in teaching ELLs. Although he taught ELLs, Mark was unlike some of the other participants because he was not an immigrant and was not fluent in another language. Overall, Mark felt extremely appreciative of the opportunity to attend PD programs as they allowed him to gain greater understanding of necessary actions he needs to undertake in order to successfully develop his ELLs' language competencies and social studies content knowledge and skills.

Furthermore, Mark reported that he greatly enjoyed the idea of collaborating with his colleagues regarding the different strategies they all observed in professional PD and how they implemented them in their classrooms. He finds it extremely beneficial to undertake some peer learning from his colleagues whom he deems to be more experienced and knowledgeable, and accordingly is eager to learn more from them and the PD programs.

Megan. Megan is an English teacher with more than 20 years of teaching experience. She said she focuses on building a good relationship with her students.

Megan has degrees in both English speech and theater. She recognizes the overall importance of both speaking and listening skills and their significant impact on students' performance. She supports her students' struggles with the English language by providing

them with books to read at school or home. She expresses that "getting them to be literate means they need books in their homes," suggesting that she is willing to undertake the necessary steps to provide as many resources as she can for her students to help improve their level of English competency. Despite the fact that Megan is an English teacher, she stressed that she always goes out of her way to support her students, especially ELLs, with other subject areas they find difficult.

Throughout her teaching years, Megan recognized that her students were in need of more strategies and methods targeted to support and improve their English literacy and overall academic needs. With that, Megan has taken advantage of all the opportunities that the school or district provides for teachers, such as PD programs, to help teachers meet their students' needs. Megan was able to attend the multiday intensive SIOP program, which she claimed was very beneficial. Megan desires to improve her teaching skills and often attends training sessions in order to obtain more beneficial resources to improve her students' English level. She is also taking a technology class focusing on ELLs which provides her with more resources to help her students, further demonstrating her determination to improve her own skills that would in turn help her advance her students' skills. Megan, with the help of PD programs, is eager to learn and obtain all the necessary techniques and teaching methods to support other teachers and her students.

**Sarah**. Sarah has been teaching social studies for the past 16 years. Before she started teaching at Lakewood, she worked as a secretary. Her entire teaching career of 16 years has consisted of teaching ELLs. Sarah is bilingual in English and German. She acquired her German language through her constant verbal interactions with her mother.

Over the years, she obtained the basic interpersonal communication skills in German but lacked in the academic language aspect. Her personal experience in acquiring a second language aided her in understanding and empathizing with her students who are also undergoing the challenges of acquiring a second language.

Sarah is much attuned when it comes to incorporating specialized strategies into her teaching. She expressed that she is always eager to discuss and share successful ideas and strategies that could benefit her and her colleagues in their teaching methods. She attended a PD session that utilized an advanced training program of SIOP for four full days spread out over the course of the year. The program focused on providing teachers with strategies they could utilize to deepen the academic understanding of the English language for ELLs.

While the SIOP program proved to be effective, Sarah advises that teachers need an adequate amount of time to digest and implement the specialized strategies presented in these PD programs. According to Sarah, granting teachers more time to fully break down and process the strategies presented would allow them to slowly implement and execute those strategies successfully in their classrooms. Sarah expressed how attending a PD program is helpful, but upon returning to the classroom it becomes difficult to recall the essential strategies discussed and the effective methods of implementation.

Further, Sarah conveyed that, in addition to attending PD programs, there is still a great amount of study and practice needed to successfully apply the strategies in classrooms and ultimately aid in the academic development of ELLs. PD programs, like SIOP, allow teachers to be exposed to different strategies that they could potentially

utilize in successfully teaching their ELLs. However, Sarah emphasized that attending one session of a PD program will not immediately lead to teachers becoming proficient in effectively teaching ELLs, but rather it requires determined efforts from teachers as well as a sufficient amount of time to be able to implement these strategies effectively. Ultimately, Sarah felt that the PD programs she attended presented new ideas and granted her greater insight into effectively teaching her students.

### **Findings**

Table 4 shows the codes, categories, and eventual themes that emerged from the interview data analysis. The themes are: the effect of PD opportunities on mainstream teachers' attitudes and perceptions toward teaching ELLs in mainstream classrooms; the need for PD programs to address integrating language and subject-area content; the need to take into account mainstream teachers' abilities, experiences, and pedagogical knowledge and skills prior to designing and implementing PD activities; and the extent of PD impacts due to the limitation of time during and after taking PD activities.

The research questions were:

- 1. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of PD opportunities on their perceptions and attitudes toward teaching ELLs?
- 2. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of opportunities on the degree to which their PCK and skills support the academic and literacy needs of ELLs?

I will also provide an interpretation of the findings in relation to social constructivist theory and adult learning theory.

 Table 4

 Initial Codes, Categories, and Eventual Themes Emerging from Data Analysis

Codes	Categories	Themes
Positive impact	Valuing PD	PD opportunities help
Support teachers		teachers develop positive
Improve instructional practices		attitudes and perceptions
Reinforce positive attitudes		toward teaching ELLs.
SIOP training		toward teaching ELLs.
Concerns		
Personal experiences	Past experiences	
Professional experiences	influence	
Experienced teachers		
Qualified teachers		
Learning opportunities	Organizational support	
Develop pedagogical knowledge		
Enhance skills		
PLC		
CLT		
Provide resources		
Concerns		
Literacy and content	Literacy & content	Participants place great
Challenges	integration	emphasis on the need for
Paradigm shift		PD programs that address
Responsibility		integrating language and
Natural integration		content in mainstream
Professional experience		
Student diversity		classrooms
Differentiated instruction		
Develop pedagogy	Increasing teacher	
Practical strategies	abilities	
Teacher expertise		
ELLs' learning needs		
Theory to practice		
SIOP training		
Hands-on techniques		
Modeling		
Social interaction	Collaboration	
Peer observation		
Peer feedback		
Sharing knowledge		
Mentoring		
Co-teaching		
PLC		
CLT		
Coaching		

Informal school based PD			
SIOP training			
Survey teachers	Build on foundation	It imperative to	
Abilities	knowledge	differentiate PD activities	
Interests		based on mainstream	
Expectations		teachers' abilities, choices,	
Needs		readiness, interests,	
Perceptions		expectations, involvement	
Professional experience		in the PD processes,	
Pedagogical knowledge		teaching and professional	
Diverse learning needs		experiences, and	
Differentiate training		=	
Best practices		pedagogical knowledge and	
Relevant to classroom setting	Make a real-world	skills	
Professional experience	connection		
Outside consultants			
Teachers as instructors			
Practical strategies			
Learning needs			
Professional experience	Teacher involvement		
Teachers expertise			
Involvement			
Teachers' voice			
Active participation			
Teachers' choice			
Overload information	New information	Participating teachers are	
Spread over time	broken-up into	concerned about the lack of	
Time limitation	fragments	time allocated for PD	
Focused programs		programs, including	
Specific training		planning, scheduling,	
In depth content		content, delivery, amount	
Time constraints	Adequate time to	of information,	
Time to practice	comprehend	,	
Best practices		implementation, feedback,	
Self-reflection		self-reflection, and follow-	
Different mandates		up activities.	
Time limitation	Reflection & follow up		
Self-reflection			
Follow up activities			
Organizational support			
Administrators' awareness			
Time to practice			

### **Attitude and Perception**

The first theme that emerged from the analysis of the data collected during all rounds of interviews (individual and group interviews) was that *PD opportunities help* teachers develop positive attitudes and perceptions toward teaching ELLs. Even though some of the participants had minor reservations and at times expressed some concerns and drawbacks about PD training they had participated in, nonetheless, most of the participants were still collectively very positive about their roles, perceptions, and attitudes toward teaching and supporting ELLs. Overall, they attributed the positive change in their attitudes and perceptions toward teaching ELLs and toward implementing instructional strategies and practices to many factors such as PD opportunities. Equally important, there are other factors that support and interact with PD opportunities, including: personal and professional experiences, and school and district organizational support in teaching and understanding of the academic and social needs of ELLs and their families. These results are widely supported by the extant literature on the value and positive impact of PD opportunities on mainstream teachers' attitudes and perceptions toward teaching ELLs (Coady et al. 2015; Cobb et. al. 2003; Darling-Hammond et al. 2002; Franco-Fuenmayor et al. 2015; Molle, 2013; O'Brien, 2011; Short, 2013).

## Teachers value PD experiences

Most of the participants perceived their PD experiences, both within-school informal or formal PD and outside-school PD, as critical and integral parts of satisfying their continuous instructional development needs. When they were describing their previous PD activities, most of the participants suggested that their experiences with PD

programs largely reinforced their positive attitudes and perceptions of ELLs and teaching practices. For example, Mark, a social studies teacher, praised and promoted school and district based PD initiatives to support content teachers to improve and support their teaching of ELLs. He further argued that, for him and for many other teachers who were experienced or novice, PD activities

break down the walls I had in my own head about what the world should be ... I started to see the value in the knowledge and skills that other people had, as well as the value in student experiences (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group).

The positive perspective of the participants on PD opportunities is consistent with the assumptions of adult learning theory that adult learners (e.g., teachers) recognize the value in professional training and are willing to focus on learning (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

The view of the positive impact of PD programs on teaching ELLs was reiterated and confirmed by all of the participants. Commenting on one PD workshop he attended, Carlos, a social studies teacher, indicated that the value of it was "huge," a comment that was echoed by Anna, Kate, Mark, and Sarah, who positively recalled their experiences with one particular SIOP training. Kate, a science teacher, also described her experience in SIOP as "just good instruction" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). I probed further to learn more about what Kate had learned and liked about her PD experiences, especially about those PD strategies and practices that she was able to apply in the classroom. She replied,

Some of these activities I can absolutely apply. Actually all of them I could, it's just a matter of time and there's so many to choose from. I can pick and choose to what I think is going to work best for me as a teacher... I liked that autonomy

within this... if I'm trying to build background knowledge, for example, I can go and look at these 10 activities. If I'm trying to build your vocabulary, I can go and look at these activities... like there's a whole different way. [The instructor] gave us, like real things that we can do in class...she knew this stuff and it was all everything you could learn and apply. And then that's the participant workbook. So, I think I could absolutely use this. And the way it's set up, there's like vocabulary building, ways to promote oral language, academic language, objectives... it's like a handbook, just helpful (1st individual interview).

Anna, an English teacher, perceived PD experiences in general as having a "very positive impact" and she added that "I do know I have picked up things over time that have helped craft my teaching ability, and I know I've always got more room, I could learn to do more" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). Sarah, a social studies teacher, also spoke very positively about her experience with the same SIOP training program, revealing that it was "the best PD that I received last year. That was using this program, it's called SIOP" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview)

Mark provided a compelling testimonial about the valuable lessons he learned from participating in many training programs, particularly the relevant pedagogy and essential instructional practices and techniques that he and all of the other mainstream teachers learned to help their ELLs in improving their reading and writing knowledge and skills. "[These practices] helped our students decode and deconstruct and build context a lot better than what they were doing before", Mark asserted (1st focus group). Carlos came to realize the imperative need to learn how and what to teach when he switched his

professional career from history to teaching social studies. Carlos further noted how things have significantly changed in his classroom after adopting what he has learned in PD activities he had attended. He asserted that "as teachers go through reading comprehension and math and EL strategies, they come to realize that there is a need to consider the linguistics and all this, and that...what EL students needed [was] to see it visually" (1st individual interview).

Anna, Sarah, Mark, and Carlos stressed the need to develop the pedagogical knowledge and skills needed to effectively teach ELLs. Anna, Sarah, Mark, and Carlos had similar views and experiences with PD opportunities, but Emily offered more interesting descriptions about her positive experiences of PD training including attending graduate courses at the college level as well as the district-based training programs on SIOP. She asserted that she learned a great deal from participating in one SIOP training, where she was introduced to and trained on best instructional practices for supporting EL students. Similarly, Amy, an English teacher, felt that SIOP was the most helpful and supportive tool for her ELLs, compared to prior PD training that focused only on ELLs' cultures, and social and educational backgrounds.

Megan and Sarah affirmed their peers' positive perspectives about the value and impact of PD programs on their teaching practices and attitudes. Referring to her experience with the SIOP training run by the school district, Megan, an English teacher, believed that it was relevant because "they make me think about how I'm teaching and how kids are receiving the information and what background knowledge they need" (1st individual interview). For Sarah, the SIOP PD program she took, was exceptionally

cohesive. She stated it was "soup to nuts. It was a complete approach" (1<sup>st</sup> focus group). Sarah felt that for the first time that she actually received something that incorporated a cohesive approach which she was able to utilize to help her EL students access the curriculum in her classroom. In another interview, Sarah elaborated on the value she received from one particular SIOP PD by indicating that

the materials that they provide, the instructor that was there. She was excellent.

And they have a couple of other people who can also provide that kind of leadership in the workshops. That was excellent. It was a great foundation for me from which I could [use] this spring forward." (1st individual interview).

Anna, an English teacher, echoed Sarah's opinion about the value of some PD activities they had participated in. Anna narrated her good experience with one PD program that she considered "so much more cohesive" (1st focus group) as well as timely and efficiently implemented, and was also followed up with some post-PD activities (e.g., observations). According to Anna, participants in this PD training were able to implement what they had learned in the classrooms. Also, she revealed that they had the opportunity to come back to the training and talk about how it went. "That was very impactful," she said (1st focus group). As all participants in this study were required by WPSD to get training on SIOP, they stated that it was SIOP that had the biggest effect on their teaching of ELLs.

Consistent with adult learning theory, Megan, Sarah, and Anna were able to not only learn the concepts and information introduced in the program but most importantly to have the essential opportunity to practice and apply them in the classroom. In these PD

activities, a transaction process between the learners (mainstream teachers) and the PD instructor took place through the learners' active participation in identifying their learning needs, which was how to best teach ELLs (Knowles, 1984).

# Teachers build on their personal and professional experiences

Most of the participants clearly communicated that they attributed most of their positive attitudes and perceptions toward teaching ELLs to their personal and professional experiences and their academic and social backgrounds. Referring to and applying adult learning theory, researchers have argued that learners (in this case, teachers) have their own initial beliefs, knowledge, attitude, and skills about how to make sense of their reality of teaching ELLs (Loucks-Horsley et al, 2003). Accordingly, most mainstream teachers greatly depend on their previous experiences and prior beliefs when developing their attitudes toward teaching ELLs (Sousa, 2017; Stewart, 2014). This finding is corroborated by many of the participants, like Sarah, who believed that developing a positive attitude and perceptions toward teaching ELLs is not necessarily driven by PD alone. Sarah elaborated further on this issue and asserted that it is also "an attitude that you bring with you based either on your experience or on your temperament and your personal interests" (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group). Further, Kate revealed that "at least, I think that the longer I teach, the more I'm able to evaluate what's going to work for me. I think that comes into what [Sarah] was saying about temperament and personal experience" (2nd group interview). When adult learners go through a new experience such as PD training, they will definitely be able to build new knowledge and skills by refining or rejecting their prior knowledge, beliefs, and attitudes.

The following informative exchange between Sarah (social studies), Jenna (math), and Kate (science) during the second focus group supports participants' assertions that they have a positive attitude and perception toward teaching ELLs that goes above and beyond mandatory and/or elective PD training:

Sarah: I think that a lot of teachers will come to the work already with an open view because they're bringing their personal experience to the table. Then there are others who are what I would call children in the world. They're fascinated by the globe and they're not ethnocentric in their perceptions. They too will come to the table open.

Jenna: I don't think teachers would last very long in [Lakewood] if they didn't have that openness to other people and cultures.

Kate: We've seen that because they don't teach here any longer.

Reflecting on her experience with her immigrant and bilingual mother and that of her husband's extended family, Sarah partly attributed mainstream teachers' attitude and perception toward educating ELLs to where they come from. For example, she expressed the belief that if a teacher comes from a multicultural background, has family members who come from other countries, or taught abroad for a period of time, then this is likely to give the teacher a different, positive perspective. Amy, Anna, Carlos, and Jenna also expressed this same belief. Sarah elaborated further on this perspective toward non-English-speaking students when she spoke about her husband's extended family who lived in the countryside and had limited exposure to other cultures and languages. Sarah explained that some members of her husband's extended family are "very narrow in their

perception of people from other countries because they didn't have a lot of experience" (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group).

Being an immigrant himself, Carlos offered a rich and meaningful testimonial of the importance of families in supporting and advancing their ELLs academic and social needs. Because he went through the experience of being an EL student himself, and progressed to work with ELLs, but this time as a teacher, Carlos believed that he understood the social and academic implications of being an EL student. He explained,

I came [to the United States] when I was five, and I spoke only Spanish at home. Never English at home, and I understand what it's like. I have the immigrant experience, so it's hard. And that's why I know when I see kids that come in ...I'm like, 'That's not really the best way or the best approach for this.' I can understand it because I've been in that seat (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Connecting with his successful educational and social journey as an immigrant to the United States, Carlos strongly and passionately advised that it is essential to expand the teaching of ELLs to include the education and communication with their parents. He believed that

the ones that don't have the support at home, they struggle mightily. They struggle a lot... Parents need to know the truth. They need to be given the tools. They need to know what is going on so that they're better prepared (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). The effect of ELLs' families on their children's academic and social advancement is widely supported by research findings (Hansen-Thomas et al, 2016). Teacher-parent

communication is especially critical for maintaining professional interactions between schools and students' families in relation to ELLs and their learning.

Common among most of participants was the continuous positive impact they have had on their teaching of ELLs from their professional experiences. Emily, like many other teachers, had the opportunity to take elective classes in college that focused on the academic and social needs of ELLs, which, in turn, had positively contributed to the growth of her professional career as a mainstream teacher dealing with ELLs. Similarly, Amy professionally transformed after her journey to Japan from working as an English as a Foreign Language teacher, to teach ELLs with a different perspective and more understanding of, not only the academic needs but equally important the literacy needs of this student population. After many years in teaching students who vary in their English proficiency, she realized that some ELLs were struggling in their academic studies mainly due to their low proficiency level in English. She was certain that the only way forward to better help ELLs excel in the academia is to tackle English while simultaneously teaching the content.

Kate echoed Amy's and Emily's perspective on the positive impact of previous professional experience on improving the teaching of ELLs. She referred to her teaching experience as

You have to teach all of it... I think a lot of maybe secondary teachers, as the global child. I think the older you get, the more it levels out. You might have students who are second language, but they're very skilled and gifted and think very mathematically, or they might think very scientifically... For me, I have to

make sure that kids, all kids are able to navigate the curriculum (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

Anna indicated that her "experience is very mixed" as she dealt with ELLs at the elementary and middle schools settings for a long period of time. She added that she "had training in the past and also I've done the inner reliability training to actually give feedback to other people" (1st individual interview). After so many years of teaching mathematics in the elementary and middle schools and dealing with ELLs at various levels of English proficiency, Jenna became more convinced than ever that mainstream teachers ought to pay more attention to the language needs of ELLs in their classrooms. These assertions by this group of experienced participants are corroborated by research findings, which indicate that highly qualified and experienced teachers have a high level of confidence in their abilities to meet the special learning and social needs of ELLs (Gandara et al, 2005).

Teachers acknowledge the vital role of organizational support in teaching and understanding of the academic and social needs of ELLs and their families

Developing a positive attitude and perception toward teaching ELLs requires a cultural change in schools, a culture that embraces and supports EL students. Given the culture at Lakewood, which is characterized by PD support and high expectations from both the WPSD and the school administrators, the mainstream teachers at Lakewood have much to gain from these PD programs. Participants gave major credit to the WPSD and Lakewood administrators for their strong belief in and support of improving ELLs' academic and social needs. As indicated previously, the WPSD has adopted many

initiatives and platforms at the school and the district levels to enhance and enrich the pedagogical knowledge and skills of mainstream teachers of ELLs, including PLC and CLT.

While Emily, an English teacher, echoed her fellow participants' views on the value of some PD activities, she credited the WPSD for allowing teachers to develop their pedagogical knowledge and skills. She believed that "[WPSD] is aware that there is a need to support teachers with ELLs and that they're moving in that direction. I believe that our school does provide adequate support PD opportunities for people teaching ELLs" (1st individual interview). Moreover, the WPSD continued to provide other PD opportunities to mainstream teachers, including the opportunity to pursue graduate degrees; with partial financial support.

Similarly, Anna and Megan both suggested that WPSD recognizes that Lakewood mainstream teachers need extra support due to the large EL student population at the school. Megan assumed that "pretty much everyone in the building has done the SIOP training," a PD program that is, according to Megan and many of the participants, "so helpful for all students, not just English language learners, but particularly for the ELLs" (1st individual interview). Both Anna and Megan believed that Lakewood provides adequate resources and support including PD opportunities for mainstream teachers who teach ELLs. Furthermore, Kate believed that she was so fortunate because she was a part of a very supportive public school district (e.g., WPSD).

It has a ton of resources. I think the training that we get is pretty good for the most part. So, I'm kind of lucky that I teach for a county with the resources. I don't know if that's true everywhere. I hear it's not (1st individual interview).

School administrators should pay more attention to the issue of organizational support and work closely with the school district prior to engaging teachers in any PD activity to have mutual understanding of what is needed to ensure the success of the post PD activities. School administration may choose to introduce new and/or modify some organizational elements to further support and enhance the teaching of ELLs. School administration can also provide certain peer-to-peer collaboration platforms to support mainstream teachers. Many participants were concerned with the school administrators because of their limited follow up on ensuring that teachers implemented what they had learned in PD programs.

## Teachers remain critical of some PD opportunities

Although all the participants generally shared a positive view of the value of PD, they still held some reservations and described drawbacks of some of the PD activities they had engaged in previously, especially those that were planned and managed from outside the school. Having more ELLs in their classes as well as in the school as a whole, participants felt that it would be in the students' best interest if mainstream teachers received more training on how to best teach this group of students.

However, most of the participants complained about the lack of proper planning for the PD activities, the training being incomplete or incohesive, and having competing agendas with some of their previous PD activities. Based on her insights and experiences

in some PD workshops, Anna suggested that most PD activities do not focus on one thing; instead they are "just like scattershot" or "drive-by" (1st focus group). The participants did not shy away from expressing their dissatisfaction with some of their previous PD activities that failed to bring about a noticeable change in their pedagogy and instructional practices while their ELLs continued to struggle. Under these circumstances, some participants expressed their preference not to be called on for future PD programs. Sarah recalled her negative experiences, however, with some PD programs as being "a piece here, a piece here, a piece here" (1st focus group).

Amy reaffirmed the need to continue PD but with more emphasis on advancing the pedagogical knowledge and skills of mainstream teachers of ELLs. She made her argument in favor of the continuation of PD programs but with some improvement. Amy thought that "Lakewood has done a pretty good job, but they need to continue" (1st individual interview). Amy eloquently articulated her positive views and perceptions of the previous PD sessions she had attended, but cautioned that these PD activities were not adequate enough to meet the pedagogical knowledge and skills required by mainstream teachers of ELLs or provide them with the appropriate practices they most needed. Consistent with adult learning theory, the data collected in this study largely suggested that teachers prefer to have PD opportunities that focus on connecting theoretical concepts and instructional strategies to practice (Beck and Kosnik, 2006).

Participants also commented about their experience of using "learning labs." The labs came into existence after an extensive theoretical training on SIOP, as teachers at Lakewood were instructed to use them to exchange and share knowledge and skills about

what they had learned as well as to observe one another in the classroom as they applied what they learned from SIOP. However, many of the participants who went through the learning labs experience suggested in many instances that it is a great follow up. For example, Sarah noted the learning lab "is not a great way to learn how to fully implement strategies that are going to support second language learners" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). The learning lab platform was thoroughly debated during the first focus group interview. Overall, participants complained that there was no master guide to help them through the implementation phase of the SIOP and absence of technical feedback to improve their instruction with ELLs. During this focus group interview, Sarah described the setting in these learning labs as "the blind leading the blind" (1<sup>st</sup> group interview).

As indicated previously, Julie, the health and physical education teacher, had very limited access to PD opportunities targeting mainstream teachers of ELLs as well as limited exposure to experiences with ELLs. In fact, she had never taught any ELL or ESL students prior to joining Lakewood. Julie complained that the school administrators assumed that she was aware of EL students' academic and social needs and that she was well prepared to teach and train them. Due to the lack of State assessment requirements for health/physical education subjects, and the notion that the school and the school district do not consider these subjects as core to students, Julie believed that teachers of these subjects are

an afterthought on a lot of things...We've written curriculum where you talked about specific content, but we've never reached that. And I don't know if it's just

because some of those other schools don't have the population we have, so they don't think it's a need. So it's not on their radar... (1st individual interview).

Moreover, she voiced concern about being unprepared and less informed about the best instructional practices to utilize when dealing with EL students. Julie stated that there is a large percentage of kids that have multiple levels of English... and it's a juggling act and we in PE [physical education], when we go to health, we don't have any help. Like they have help in the academic content areas with teacher's assistance, to help groups get through the lessons. We don't have that. So, I think it just adds to the maybe the negative parts of teaching (1st individual interview).

Julie further elaborated on her potential disadvantage in this regard, admitting that she was not sure how "effective" she was with students who did not have the language skills. She was concerned about what her ELLs may miss in terms of knowledge and skills related to health and physical education. Given their low level of English proficiency, Julie suggested that they will be at a disadvantage with regards to understanding critical issues related to their identity, sexuality, reproduction, and other health aspects.

In a related comment, Carlos stated that he had more PD opportunities related to teaching ELLs when he was teaching in Miami, Florida than what was available at Lakewood. The latter can be explained by the fact that only a few states (e.g., Arizona, California, Florida, and Texas) require all general education teachers to have some training on how to teach ELLs, separate from certification or licensure (Peter et. al, 2012). The limited access and opportunities for mainstream teachers to get PD training on how best to teach ELLs is further supported by research that indicates that only about

25% of mainstream teachers have reported enrolling in PD specific to teaching ELLs (Ballantyne et al, 2008).

Most participants felt PD had a positive impact on their knowledge and pedagogy. Given the notion that it is in the best interest of their students, all participants characterized themselves as being open-minded to learn something new from the PD, regardless of years of teaching experience or previous training on the subject areas. However, there were some outliers. In many instances, Carlos indicated that he does not need to enroll in typical, redundant PD programs related to teaching ELLs. He explained that

the way the system is set up here, I don't really need to go in and get as many tips and tricks because I have so much already and it isn't like when I was in Miami where I had to figure out how to help out a level one student deal with the fact that he's in a classroom with an advanced student. That's such a huge gap to try and fill. Here, at least the student is already somewhat level, you can kind of give them strategies on what to study, where to go, how to repeat things (1st individual interview).

Carlos believed that he already mastered effective skills and instructional practices, and that there was nothing new for him to learn in this field. However, he did suggest that he would love to get more training on understanding other cultures and how to approach other cultures when discussing government... I need someone to explain to me the reason behind why some kids are so apprehensive, why they're so quiet. Explain to me the culture of the child, as opposed to ... Because I think that will

benefit me a lot more in understanding the children that I have in there (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Another outlier was Julie, the health and physical education teacher, who had some training but had not used it or interfaced with anyone to help in understanding how to better teach ELLs. She revealed that

even as our [PD] within the physical education and athletics and health, we've never had [PD] [for] English language learners in that big overall school wide setting. Not when I was part of the high schools and not now that I'm part of the middle school, we've not had that... I think we live in like two different buildings here. We have the academic people are there and the arts and electives are over here (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Julie was not inclined to blame the school or the school district but rather herself and the physical education department for not being actively involved in PD programs which targeted the improvement of teaching ELLs. She explained "it might be a failure on my part" (1st individual interview).

#### **Language and Content Integration**

The second theme was that participants place great emphasis on the need for PD programs that address integrating language and content in mainstream classrooms.

This theme was perhaps the most common concern raised by all participants, a finding broadly confirmed by previous research (Lucas et al., 2008; Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013). Participants' views and perceptions about what PD programs ought to include are also supported by previous research findings that suggest the principal challenge

mainstream teachers are facing is figuring out how to effectively improve ELLs' English proficiency while teaching them the content of the subject area such as math, science, language arts, and social studies (Molle, 2013; Yoon, 2008).

Researchers suggest that mainstream teachers, by far, play a significant role in promoting their ELLs' academic and linguistic progress (Reeves, 2006). As reported in the literature, however, most mainstream teachers are struggling to discover and learn how best to teach ELLs, with most of them being unaware of the underlying learning needs of this population of students (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; Lee & Buxton, 2013; Lucas et al., 2008). Therefore, it is not surprising that in all of the interviews conducted for this study, participants expressed their interest in and preference for having PD opportunities that focus more on how to integrate literacy skills with the academic subject taught on one hand, and to effectively manage teaching their students who may vary in their English proficiency.

For the most part, participants expressed their interest in learning and applying strategies related to such topics as planning and applying best instructional practices with coaches and peers, co-teaching with ESL or reading specialists, gaining awareness and understanding of ELLs' background knowledge, managing instructional strategies such as scaffolding, promoting critical thinking for ELLs, and supporting students with different language levels. More specifically, participants believed that mainstream teachers ought to consider literacy as an integral part of their daily and routine instructions, that they benefit more from practical and authentic PD activities, and they

generally gain more, rich experiences through social interactions with their peers through formal and informal PD such as peer-to-peer, mentoring, co-teaching, and coaching.

Mainstream teachers ought to consider literacy as an integral part of their daily and routine instructions

Researchers have reported that many content-area teachers consider accommodating ELLs in their classrooms as a frustrating and challenging job and erroneously perceive their students as equal in all aspects, including their English language proficiency (Darling-Hammond et al., 2002). In this context, therefore, the major continuous challenge facing mainstream teachers of ELLs is how to teach the content while improving and enhancing ELLs' language knowledge and skills; a challenging paradigm shift (Loucks-Horsley et al., 2003). Carlos openly sympathized and connected with ELLs by confirming the frustration that some EL students frequently have to deal with: "What eats them up is they might be the greatest doctors in their country, but they can't differentiate context in language in English, and they can't pass the exams because of that" (1st individual interview). In essence, Carlos suggested that most EL students very likely know the content in terms of the knowledge and skills needed but "they just can't do the reading and that is what hurts" (1st individual interview).

Jenna echoed Carlos's perspective and insight about the language difficulties

ELLs are facing. Jenna advised that it entails hard work on the part of mainstream

teachers to improve their pedagogy while teaching the academic content: "[Integration]

takes a while; it doesn't happen overnight", she attested (1st individual interview). In these settings, students are expected to learn and interact with the new vocabulary introduced.

Jenna admitted, however, that it is a challenge to integrate language with content because much of the information is theoretical. Consequently, mainstream teachers struggle with how to effectively integrate literacy strategies and content in their classrooms (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Gandara et al., 2005).

Kate, on the other hand, stated that she has already learned a great deal about what and how to integrate literacy instructions in her mainstream classroom. More specifically, she stated that what she learned from SIOP is "integrating a lot of language strategies within a content area, which is where I am." She explained further that she wanted "to have more content that's already adapted for me" (1st individual interview). In particular, Kate desired to learn and practice strategies introducing the content with language support. On her own initiatives, Kate often used many resources to support her EL students' language knowledge and skills such as "Newsela," an online resource which offers students up-to-date, high-interest articles that are indexed to students' reading levels. She mentioned that her short-term goal, however, was to get professional assistance to "write detailed, informative scientific content at a lower level. That's what I need" (1st individual interview). Having mainstream teachers apply basic instructional strategies such as leveling the reading, however, may lead to an undesirable academic outcome: "Sometimes they also miss a lot of very important information," Kate argued (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Amy and many other participants collectively realized that they have a responsibility to accommodate the linguistic needs of ELLs in their mainstream classrooms. Amy believed that "teachers that have been here [at Lakewood] a while

understand that they're all English teachers, they're all reading teachers, even if they teach science or history" (1st individual interview). Megan echoed Amy's assertion and added that "all of us in this building teach reading and writing no matter what subject we're teaching" (1st individual interview). This finding is largely supported by research which concludes that it is imperative for all mainstream teachers to consider literacy as an integral part of their daily and routine instructions (Brozo & Fisher, 2010; Cummins, 2000; Paris & Block, 2007; Risko et al, 2008; Snow et al. 1989).

Prevalent throughout the individual interviews with most of the participants and during the two focus groups interviews was the belief that the only way forward is to think of the solution to the problem of meeting ELLs' language needs as no more than a natural integration of language and content in all mainstream classrooms. In this context, Megan best described the process of integrating literacy skills with content in mainstream classroom when she said, "We are all doing it. It's just natural" (1st individual interview). Snow et al. (1989) explained that it is more effective to shift from teaching English language and literacy skills and strategies in isolation to teaching those within content-based instruction. For the most part, most participants did feel reluctant, however, to implicate anyone other than themselves for not being able to adequately integrate language and content, but they explained that they still needed support and proper and continuous training in this regard.

Amy mentioned that she did not realize the importance of integrating content with language until she started teaching English as a foreign language in Japan. After her social and teaching experiences in Japan, Amy started teaching history again, but this

time with a different perspective on teaching ELLs. She thought, "Okay, I need to teach the content of history, but they don't know plurals and they don't know the subject—verb agreement. So, how can I kill two birds with one stone?" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). Amy, like many of her colleagues, revealed that by learning and practicing how to set language objectives and provide adequate language support—specifically direct vocabulary support—EL students find it easier to achieve content objectives.

Jenna, a math teacher, further commented that using the proper pedagogical methods she learned during SIOP training and the subsequent follow-ups and coaching sessions greatly improved ELLs' participation in content classes. She added that the best, most effective way to teach ELLs was "to attack the language and the math concepts and skills simultaneously" (1st individual interview). Given her vast teaching experience of mathematics in elementary and middle schools with all types of students including ELLs, Jenna came to recognize that although such an approach is "very tedious, quite difficult, but if you do it the correct way they generally tend to learn and they tend to do pretty well" (1st individual interview). Jenna's understanding of the connection between language and content, especially for ELLs, is supported by research that suggests well-prepared mainstream teachers of ELLs (like Jenna) have "a sense of self-confidence regarding their ability to teach EL students, a finding that echoes a broader body of research on teacher efficacy in general and its positive effect on student achievement" (Gandara et al., 2005, p. 3).

Consistent with research findings, Amy, the English teacher, spoke about the importance of integrating literacy strategies with the academic content. She encourages

all teachers, especially novice teachers, to modify and improve their instructional strategies and practices to ensure the integration of language with the content taught (Paris & Block, 2007). Amy felt that at the beginning of practicing the idea of integration in mainstream classrooms, it is "overwhelming, but there is a point where there's like a paradigm shift. And you realize like, 'Oh yeah, we all are English teachers. We all are responsible'" (1st focus group).

Accepting and promoting the responsibility on the part of mainstream teachers to fully consider and accommodate the linguistic needs of ELLs while teaching them and other regular students the academic content was emphasized by many of the participants. For example, Anna stated,

It's bridging the divide between saying you're a content teacher, that's true, but you can integrate vocabulary in units and throughout the unit, and it's not outside of what you're doing. It's taking just that one slight little extra step to define a couple of words at the beginning of the day that you're going to be encountering or specialized vocabulary, and just finding little steps. That's what the SIOP model is supposed to be doing for the content teachers, training them on how to integrate that. I think there's still this mindset from content teachers, unfortunately, that you're asking me to do something extra and you're putting more work on me, when in fact it doesn't have to be that. It should be more natural integration (1st individual interview).

The issue of student diversity in terms of their English proficiency levels was discussed throughout all of the interviews in this study. As indicated by all participants,

they need professional help on how to effectively manage teaching their students who may vary in their English proficiency. Megan asserted that she needed

more time and I don't have a magic wand for that. But because of that, I have kids in a class reading from the third grade level to a college level, and kids who understand at WIDA six level as opposed to kids who have grown up with parents who have Masters and Doctorates and at the dinner table are using words that are advanced, I need more help differentiating (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Anna shared Megan's perspective on the imperative need on how to manage teaching ELLs with different language levels. Anna stated that "what I'm struggling with, and that is when I have these really diverse level differences. How do you bridge those better without having to separate the class" (1st individual interview).

Sarah echoed the other participants' concern by confirming the notion that mainstream teachers "struggle with differentiating for our students in our classrooms" (1<sup>st</sup> focus group). Emily explained that it is important that as "the teacher is expected to teach at various levels and I would like to see that in practice." Emily added that when she attends a PD she wants to see videos of a class "where the students themselves are across a spectrum of abilities and then watch how that's managed" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). Jenna echoed her peers' concerns about the need to get proper training on how to deal with different levels of English proficiency, hoping "to see anyone coming in and teach a group like that may be differentiating for levels of kids" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

Mark, on the other hand, expressed his desire to receive practical PD when teachers have a "kid [who] has this level, [and] this kid has that level. How do we get

them to work together?" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). Further, Carlos indicated that he would like to learn more about "how to scaffold different levels, and then how to understand which kid gets what. That's important because not all kids learn the same" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). Eventually, teachers ask for guidance and change in PD in this regard, as explained by Julie; "If we can have a PD where you come in and you say, you bring your lesson, any lesson, and then you adapt it to these different languages, different levels" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

The arguments made by many of the participants centered on the limited focus of existing teachers' PD opportunities on the integration and discussion of the issue of student diversity in the learning context of K-12 education (Berg & Huang, 2015; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Goldenberg, 2011; Janzen (2007; Watkins & Lindahl, 2010). This suggests that there is a mismatch between what PD communicates and instructs versus the realities and demands of classroom environments and contexts; a gap that needs to be addressed by organizers of PD programs.

It was obvious from the interpretation of the data that participants preferred to receive training on how to scaffold and develop reading, motivate and inspire love for reading, build reading stamina in students, and develop EL students' critical thinking. Carlos suggested that in PD, it is essential to train mainstream teachers on how to effectively engage EL students in assignments and practices that would induce critical thinking. According to Carlos, introducing and encouraging critical thinking for some ELLs "tends to be one of the biggest issues with EL students, because they don't have the support at home to do some of the higher level order thinking skills that some homework

is required to do," (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview) suggesting that there is a need to involve ELLs' families in their children's education. Sarah echoed Carlos's perspective that there is a lack of emphasis on developing critical thinking for students in general and ELLs in particular. She was not reluctant to admit that "there is a decline in critical thinking. And so, when children are given a sheet, the first thing is, 'I don't know what to do.' 'Have you read the directions?'" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). Carlos and Sarah were not hesitant to blame some teachers who tend sometimes to simplify reading for ELLs instead of providing the appropriate instructional practices with more emphasis on critical thinking and reading comprehension.

### Teachers benefit more from practical and authentic PD

Above all, participants asked for more PD programs that are practical, in which they will be exposed to instructional approaches and materials they can use right away. Many of the participants explained that they would like PD programs to first build on foundational knowledge and expertise and then gradually and periodically start to increase teachers' abilities to integrate vocabulary and comprehension skills with content. This assertion is consistent with research findings that suggest it is essential to engage mainstream teachers of ELLs in practical and specialized PD programs, focusing on raising their awareness and understanding of the learning needs of ELLs, and developing their PCK and skills needed to effectively teach ELLs in their classroom (Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013). Participants agreed that they would like to have PD programs focus more on the ability to teach the academic content and skills to students who are still in the process of learning and mastering the English language (Lucas et al., 2008).

Amy explained that

Most of the PD we've had here has been very practical and related to the classroom, not just big theory. I think they start off with a theory and just to get people understanding. But then they always include strategies and examples, and they give us things to take back to the classroom and try, which is really helpful (1st individual interview).

She also added that these professional experiences have helped her to

plant the seed in my head so that ...to start thinking that way is good. Because I know the students that I work with, and the things they like and don't like, but it's that person who gave me the ideas, starting the whole thing. So, it's good (1st individual interview).

Similarly, Mark spoke positively about his PD experiences, particularly the practical aspect of it. He remembered in one PD training they were told "Here's an hour, make something to use" (1st individual interview) and they were encouraged to spend some time to apply what they had learned. He believed this was positive as they could immediately start making it during the PD time and then they could "apply it more quickly with less of our own personal time being spent on it. That's good, especially if we can go as a CLT to the training, and that we can collaborate during the training. That's ideal" (1st individual interview).

The arguments made by Amy and Mark are consistent with the existing literature that suggests it is better to have some discretion on the part of mainstream teachers of ELLs, especially those who are well educated and trained in theories about effective

practice, to determine how and to what extent they will implement new instructional approaches and materials in their classrooms (Daniel & Conlin, 2015). Definitely, certain types of coordination with the school and division-level administrators should be followed prior to making any significant instructional changes. Emily also indicated that "there are a lot of strategies that I've learned from [PD] that I then feel like I have an easier time following through with and applying in the classroom, when I have peer support. So, that's helpful" (1st individual interview). Emily added that "throughout the school year where we worked with SIOP teachers and they did come and observe us teaching and give us feedback and it was pretty intensive" (1st individual interview). Amy's, Mark's, and Emily's assertions about the value of having practical PD are consistent with the adult learning theory, which postulates that being at a mature development stage, adults have a more secure self-concept than children, which allows them to relate, share, and discuss real-life applications during PD activities with their peers and the PD instructor (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

Commenting on her experience in the SIOP training, Sarah further clarified that she regularly utilized all the SIOP course booklets in her classroom as she found them very hands-on. She also added that "it was particularly helpful because there were many practical strategies that can be applied to help English language learners access the curriculum (1st individual interview). During the first interview with Sarah, she explained how she took apart this approach, step by step, and then picked out different strategies she could use in the classroom. Kate agreed with Sarah on the valuable benefits they got from attending SIOP. Kate thought that "the [PD] that we had, especially the SIOP

training. I think it's good for most students...I think it's a good model. That's why I continued to use it" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). Reciting his good experience with SIOP where he learned and mastered certain techniques that he could directly apply in his classrooms, Mark indicated that "There haven't been many [PD] classes I've taken for English language learning that was not immediately usable. It's always been very focused and helpful" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Participants also expressed their desire to receive readily applicable materials to learn and master instructional strategies and best practices, to observe modeled successful lessons; and to get support on how to approach the content and make it accessible to ELLs. Anna, for example, expressed her desire "to get some real tangible hands on techniques and ideas that I can start seeing use in my classroom and it'll produce results" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). Commenting on the value of one PD workshop she attended at a college, Anna suggested that it

looked like it would've been fantastic because it would have been something you can utilize immediately in your classroom. It had very practical application. So, I think that's the continuing is, if I'm going to take the time out to learn these new things, I want to see direct impact on improving my instructional quality (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

While Anna and her fellow participants agree in principle that PD programs should be reformed to support mainstream teachers in meeting ELLs' learning needs, they still need more extensive and repeated field experiences and hands-on teaching experiences to develop solid understandings of literacy practices (Baecher, 2012).

During the first focus group interview, many of the participants expressed their desire to have more practical PD activities that they can utilize in their classrooms. Jenna, for example, explained that it is very important in PD activities to start the presentation of the materials from a theoretical point of view followed by a practical guidance and examples from real-life applications. She suggested to the PD organizers to

do this, give us a practical suggestion. This would benefit way more [ELLs] and just speaking generically about the proper ... what you're actually doing differentiating notes, differentiating handouts, would make a much, much bigger difference than putting up a content and language objective (1<sup>st</sup> focus group).

This finding is supported by social constructivist theory that assumes that learners are active in the construction of knowledge and meaning and that learning should take place in authentic and real-life environments (Beck & Kosnik, 2006; Palincsar, 1998).

Additionally, Anna stated that for a PD program to be practical and useful, it needs to be integrated, not separate, and just show how it blends better. I think if people could see some excellent examples of teaching, like I said, some video shots, maybe five minutes, doesn't have to be real long periods, but at different phases through a unit, then they could see how that evolves and how people naturally incorporated the concepts into their overall curriculum (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

#### Anna added that teachers

need to see it modeled by another teacher who's really gotten the concept down, and maybe not just one isolated lesson but maybe videotape [of] a willing teacher

for a few lessons within a unit, maybe two or three snippets of lessons throughout a unit showing maybe at the beginning, 'Okay, we're going to do this vocabulary instruction. But then in the middle, how do you practice that language process?' (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

Emily argued that as teachers are expected to teach at various levels, they expect to see the same in PD activities. At least, she suggested, "it would be useful to have a series of videos where we can watch a class develop at different levels (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

Across subject area classes, participants had been utilizing many literacy strategies they had learned during their previous PD programs, including brick and mortar, sentence stem, scaffolding with graphic organizers, 20-word summary (summarization), and gap (missing information) strategies. Consequently, the participants were able to come up with specific and practical strategies that they could utilize and apply in their classrooms right away. Amy expressed her support for the need to engage teachers of ELLs in PD activities with real-life applications that train them on how to support the academic and linguistic needs of ELLs in the mainstream classrooms instead of only learning the cultural and legal aspects related to the EL student population. Megan also asked for more practical PD training because her "kids are so needy" (1st individual interview). For Amy, what she and her colleagues have received from participating in PD activities they considered a very good start, but "there are other additional things that would be helpful.... I think at [Lakewood], we have a really big need" (1st individual interview). As widely reported in the literature, most experienced teachers of ELLs, like Amy and Megan, have the desires and interests to continuously

improve their pedagogical knowledge and skills to effectively work with this group of students (Cervone, 2010).

Carlos voiced his concern, however, that in the absence of authentic and practical PD training on the integration of language and content, some average-to-smart EL students, who may have some difficulties with reading and writing, are increasingly vulnerable to becoming struggling students; and eventually becoming unproductive citizens (Batalova et al., 2007; Snow et al.1998). As discussed in the literature, this problem, coupled with the fact that there is a significant increase in EL students attending public schools in the United States, could eventually lead to major and damaging effects on the economic competitiveness of the U.S. labor market (Lovette, 2013).

### Teachers gain better teaching experiences through social interactions with their peers

One striking finding in this study is that many participants consistently perceived their within-school informal or formal PD, such as peer collaboration, peer observation and feedback, mentoring, and coaching to be their most meaningful PD experiences. At Lakewood and with the support of WPSD and school administrators, mainstream teachers have the opportunity to participate in within-school informal or formal PD meetings across subject areas and grade levels, amongst and with language specialists and content specialists. By utilizing many of the platforms availed by the school and supported by the WPSD such as the PLC and CLT, participants reported that they can learn from one another, share pedagogical knowledge and skills, and observe and assess each other's teaching methods (e.g., learning labs). Co-teaching with subject-area teachers, ESOL specialists and mentoring new teachers are very common at Lakewood.

Through these types of within-school informal or formal PD activities, participants indicated that it is easier and more time-efficient to share pedagogical knowledge and skills across and between different classrooms and subject-area teachers, hold PD sessions in smaller groups consisting of the same grade level or subject-area teachers, or engage and learn from reading specialists and ESOL teachers. Additionally, these platforms help teachers to connect theory to practice as well as avoid the outside judgment and evaluation that sometimes exists in traditional, district- or outside-based PD training. By viewing language teaching as an integrated process as opposed to a discrete discipline, new ways of engaging with colleagues are introduced at Lakewood (Brozo & Fisher, 2010; Cummins, 2000; Risko et al 2008).

Kate explained that she felt fortunate because as mainstream teachers of ELLs, they are

sharing ideas and the culture, I think at least here at [Lakewood] and the schools I've been here in [WPSD] because I've always taught in schools that have second language learners... But I've got lots of folks who help. So it's very collaborative and I really appreciate that because that's how we get better (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

This way, PD opportunities provide practical settings to have first-hand experiences with improving and integrating new teaching practices for ELLs through intensive interaction and discussions about the subject taught, and by means of collaboration and actively engaging in meaningful dialogue with colleagues (Pawan & Ortloff, 2011; Snow et al, 1989; Stoller, 2004).

Mark shared Kate's views on the importance and impact of peer collaboration on improving the English and academic levels of their ELLs. He believed that it's best when teachers who see it working in their classrooms, share it. That's the simplest way to put it. That kind of [PD] is best. So within a school it's great, within a school district it's great if it's already being used and shared, so it's ready to go, you don't have to change much about it (1st individual interview).

Mark also expressed his preference in learning from other teachers. He indicated that there've been formal [PDs] and then just informal teacher to teacher kind of [PD] and those have been the most when I learned just from peers. I have only been at the beginner level [of SIOP]... I've learned from people who took the advanced and they shared the advanced things (1st individual interview).

Mark added that he wanted to "learn more about ways that social studies teachers use SIOP strategies in the rooms from other teachers" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

During my first interview with Emily, she eloquently provided a good explanation for her preference for peer collaboration. She suggested that peer collaboration in all of its types is the most useful procedure for teachers' professional growth. Emily revealed that she "was hearing from my peers what they thought I could do better, and having my peers share with me what ideas they had" (1st individual interview). Among the peer collaboration procedures, Emily perceived the peer feedback to be

the most useful, because we have a lot of staff who have many years of experience so we all have different levels of [PD] in the field of working with

ELLs and some people have Master's degrees in teaching English as a second language (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

She revealed that "when we were able to teach, where our peers come and watch us and then tell us what else we could do, that was the most helpful" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). This finding is consistent with how the adult learning theory accounts for social interaction as an important part of the learning process (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

Megan, on the other hand, revealed that she and many other teachers at Lakewood informally and selectively initiated many platforms to help share pedagogical knowledge and skills. She frequently talks to the other teachers about what they are doing, and shares what she is learning. Although her teaching assignment was English, Megan described how she has developed her own initiatives over time to support her ELLs to understand, math literacy in the simplest language possible. For example, she was using a book written by her sister, also a math teacher, to help EL students when they have trouble with math due to the notion that math definitions are different than the English equivalent of the same words. Julie, the health and physical education teacher, often sought the help and support of the reading specialists and/or ESOL teachers at the school to provide her with "tools to work with ELLs as far as language goes and putting up word walls" (1st individual interview). She thought that collaboration between content teachers and ESOL teachers is extremely helpful, and imperative for the success of ELLs. The participants' perceptions of good experiences with and preferences for peer-to-peer PD activities are supported by prior research findings (Baecher, 2012; Farrell, 2008; Gandara et al., 2005; Stewart, 2014). As postulated by the social constructivist theory of learning, teachers

construct knowledge and skills from lived experiences by interacting with other teachers in educational settings (Palincsar, 1998).

Consistent with the extant literature, most of the participants expressed their desire to observe successful lessons to collaborate and plan with their colleagues, and to develop coaching rapports in an ongoing manner rather than just a "one-shot" PD (Cervone, 2010; Gandara et al., 2005). It is worth noting that collaboration across subject areas supports both student learning and content-area teachers' professional growth (Cummins, 2000; Risko et al 2008). Emily asserted that it is most beneficial "when we start off in a meeting working in groups and then have substitute time to go work with each other in each other's classrooms so that we can support each other and provide each other with shared materials" (1st individual interview). Furthermore, Anna thought it was better to get teachers in the same content area, either in the same school or even better from different schools, to fully engage in PD activities relevant to their field of teaching and what ELLs might be facing in these areas. She also suggested that such workshops can be scheduled at the district wide meetings, which all of the academic departments have on a monthly basis. During these monthly meetings, one session could be dedicated for PD activities related to teaching ELLs. In these settings, Anna explained that you can "team people up and say, 'Okay, you know this is coming up in this unit. How can you add a SIOP model into this?' Everybody takes a little piece and pulls it together" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

Furthermore, Kate indicated that by utilizing in-school collaboration platforms such as CLT and PLC, mainstream teachers within each subject department or within

each grade level are able to share knowledge, resources, and ideas that can be utilized to teach ELLs. Kate explained

It helps to have a team of colleagues that you can try things with and develop it together. I try it in my room, and they try, he or she tries it in his or her room and then we come back and talk about it. To me, I collaborate that way (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

On another note, Julie advocated for content-area-based PD activities, even though she reported a lack of PD within the physical education, athletics, and health department on how to teach and train ELLs. When I probed Julie to further explain why she thinks it is important for her to get more training on how to meet the learning needs of ELLs, she clarified that there is a written curriculum that includes specific content, and that she is concerned about the different treatment her department is receiving with respect to PD opportunities as opposed to how other academic departments are treated with respect to PD opportunities.

In contrast to her previous teaching jobs at other school districts where there was less emphasis on PD, Amy came to recognize and highly value the PD at Lakewood and WPSD, especially the school's encouragement to have teachers collaborate. She asserted that she is "glad that [Lakewood] values [PD]. Because I've worked in other places where ... not really professional. It's just like, 'Okay, good luck. Here's your class'" (1st individual interview). More specifically, she enjoyed peer-to-peer observation. She revealed that "having like a partner or people you can go to, or a friendly observation to just give you ideas would be good" (1st individual interview). Amy further noticed that

there is a difference between administrators and peers with respect to feedback and observation. She classified the latter as a healthy environment. She explained that when we get observed, it's mostly the administrator who has to observe at certain times of the year or prepare for this observation. And when they walk in, you know it's an observation. So it's not just, 'Okay, let me know what's happening with my lesson. What are the students doing when I'm over here doing

something?' Because another person can be observing those students and see

Megan echoed Amy's assertion about the need to have positive, healthy feedback and observation, she noticed that this type of observation has a very positive effect on students' learning. She said that "observers in the classroom who are here to help, the kids will respond well to and they'll go to for support" (1st individual interview).

what's happening (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Another way of collaboration at Lakewood is the introduction of a one-year mentoring program for novice teachers, which has been perceived positively and as rewarding, both educationally and professionally by many of the teachers who benefited from such programs. Amy proposed to build on the idea of having a mentor program at Lakewood. She said

One thing that I think would be good is a continued mentor program. So I know teachers, when they come to [Lakewood] a new teacher gets a mentor who they can ask questions of and give them advice about things throughout the year...Even second year teachers, third year teachers, they still need that... somebody (1st individual interview).

Amy reflected on her experience with some teachers she had worked with as a mentor. According to Amy, these novice teachers indicated that "it was really helpful …just to come in sometimes and just give … some suggestions" (1<sup>st</sup> focus group).

Most importantly, some participants suggested that peer-to-peer-based PD programs are most beneficial to improving their instructional practices due to the absence of time pressure they face when enrolled in PD activities organized and delivered by outside consultants as well as the additional skills and abilities possessed by some teachers that can be utilized to strengthen the academic knowledge and literacy of ELLs. Commenting on her experience with one SIOP training she took, Anna revealed that she mostly liked the follow-up that took place after a couple of months, and learning how to observe other teachers in a SIOP lesson and give them meaningful feedback according to the SIOP model. Amy echoed Anna's perspective on the value of follow ups and observation, but she preferred to engage with and learn from both highly experienced and skillful Lakewood teachers. "I'd rather do more from [Lakewood] teachers than be like, 'We've got it right,' and then move on," Amy said about some of her previous PD activities (1st group interview). Commenting on the benefits of engaging in in-house PD, Amy believed that "in-house knows what we need and they know our population and they know what each teacher's doing in science and social studies and what the challenges are. So they can address that" (1st individual interview).

In another note, it was interesting to listen to participants suggesting the use of social media like Twitter or Facebook as platforms to exchange ideas and best practices.

Mark, for example, advocated for the utilization of the Internet to learn and promote PD and perhaps do trainings online. He explained

that's been awesome. And YouTube and other things where we can share, Twitter, and share strategies much more easily, but it is still coming down to the idea of when do I have time to write this all into a lesson (1st individual interview).

#### Differentiation

The third theme was that participants collectively argued that *it is imperative to differentiate PD activities based on teachers' abilities, readiness, interests, expectations, involvement in the PD processes, choices, professional and teaching experiences, and pedagogical knowledge and skills.* Ample research evidence indicates that teachers vary in many aspects. This could include educational qualifications, teaching experiences, general PD experiences, specific ELLs PD experiences, and existing pedagogical knowledge and skills (Lucas, 2011). Consistent with research findings on the importance of differentiation in PD, participants in this study uniformly suggested that PD activities should be designed and implemented with differentiation in mind (Bunch, 2013; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Gallucci et al., 2010; Gandara et al., 2005; Molle, 2013).

Participants expressed their desire to engage in PD activities that take into account their prior knowledge, to make the content of PD more relevant to the teaching of ELLs, and to have a voice in their learning opportunities. By surveying targeted mainstream teachers about their attitudes, perceptions, interests, experiences, pedagogical knowledge, and skills prior to designing and implementing PD programs, more relevant and effective

PD activities can be developed and implemented to fulfill and improve the pedagogical knowledge and skills of mainstream teachers of ELLs.

### Teachers demand PD programs be based on their prior knowledge

Teachers have rich experiences, both academic and social, that provide the basis for PD activities. Most participants argued for PD differentiation. For the most part, all participants agreed that in order to ensure the appropriateness and effectiveness of PD activities, targeted teachers need to be surveyed prior to designing and running PD programs to collect and analyze information related to their attitudes, perceptions, interests toward teaching ELLs on one hand, and their teaching experiences, academic and professional abilities, and pedagogical knowledge and skills on the other hand. Such information should then be analyzed and used as a basis to design and deliver PD programs as well as plan post-PD and follow-up activities for the targeted and surveyed mainstream teachers. In essence, this is what all participants would like to see happening in future PD programs. Similar to many groups of students who require certain types of instruction, teachers also have diverse learning needs that must be considered by the organizers of PD initiatives. This finding is supported by the adult learning theory that assumes that adults, like children and youth, have their own specific learning needs (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

Emily elaborated on the issue of differentiation in PD by explaining that she did not

find it as useful when somebody is hired from the outside to come in, because they tend to share information to everyone at the same level. And we're all teaching different students at different levels. And also, teachers come with a variety of background knowledge... [The consultant] did not differentiate what is being taught to the teachers so that we all receive the same training even if we already did that training before" (1st individual interview).

Jenna further supported Emily's assertion about the need to survey teachers prior to the PD activities to discover their needs and objectives. She explained that it would be practical and logical to differentiate during the delivery of the PD workshop and said "it would be nice if they differentiated and said, 'Okay, have you heard these 25 times? Feel free to leave'" (1st individual interview). The assertions by Emily and Jenna are consistent with prior research findings (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015).

Carlos affirmed his peer's dissatisfaction with some PD activities and explained that "sometimes I end up in PD's where I'm like, I'm just kind of like watching the clock because I already know all that stuff" (1st individual interview). Anna also expressed her concern about the limited benefits she had received from participating in some of the PD programs in the past. She explained that "you're going to have different things be more meaningful, of course, than others. I'll be generous, say 60% of the time it's useful, 40% it's like, well, that was a waste of my time" (2nd individual interview). Participants' assertions about the importance of differentiating training, which are supported in the literature (Guskey, 2000), suggest that randomly assigning teachers to PD programs would seem to ignore the fact that each individual teacher possesses different teaching experiences, abilities, interests, and competencies. This finding is supported by the

constructivist theory that assumes that learning starts with an individual's prior knowledge (Beck & Kosnik, 2006; Palincsar, 1998).

According to participants, school districts and school leadership ought to consider integrating differentiation into the PD curriculum to mimic the actual classroom setting in which teachers have to work with ELLs who possess varying degrees of English proficiency. Generally, all participants supported the utilization of PD differentiation. Emily, however, admitted that it is not an easy task to differentiate for the different levels of background knowledge teachers bring to the PD experience. Nonetheless, she remained supportive of differentiating PD activities to account for the variances in teachers' abilities and expertise. Emily explained:

I think all of the [PD] that I've ever received, there's been a mismatch because the coach comes in and teaches a whole class lesson and then when they leave, the teacher is expected to teach to different ability levels. And I would like to see coaching at different ability levels (1st individual interview).

Furthermore, Sarah explained that "if we are trained within best practice and the message is best practice is the expectation in your classroom when you're teaching, then lead by example. When you're teaching us, use best practice on a consistent basis" (1<sup>st</sup> focus group). Anna affirmed her fellow participants' testimonials by indicating that "you're gonna expect us to do best practices as teachers for our students, and yet in our own PD department, you don't necessarily provide the same modeling" (1<sup>st</sup> focus group).

It is evident from the participants' feedback that they want to see PD instructors apply some level of differentiation while they are lecturing and applying certain

instructional methods. During the first focus group interview, participants discussed how frustrated they get sometimes when they attend PD programs that do not add any value to their knowledge. Sarah argued that perhaps one of the major challenges school administrators are facing is when they start planning and assigning PD programs among teachers. The challenge is how to assign an entire staff of people who are all in different places of the spectrum in terms of proficiency in pedagogical knowledge and skills to different PD programs. Sarah explained, "Just like we struggle with differentiating for our students in our classrooms, our school administrators are struggling with differentiating for us" (1st focus group). She, however, emphasized that as it is so essential to adopt it for students, it is equally important for teachers, because "best practice is just as important for adult learning as it is for adolescent learners" (1st focus group).

With her vast experience in PD training coupled with strong personal interest in self-learning and PD, Anna was also unhappy about some of her PD experiences which she felt were to a large degree unbeneficial. She stated, "I don't wanna be bored to death with just the outlines" (1st focus group). Anna felt frustrated about having to attend redundant PD workshops like SIOP and explained, "We've already had it six times," (1st focus group). She elaborated further on this issue and called for assessing targeted teachers prior to delivering any PD activities:

I mean, how much is there to learn about this? Because a lot of us do have the experience and it does get really redundant after a while. I think which is like, 'Enough, we got it.' The new staff sure, make sure they're trained. But evaluate,

what does your staff already know? Stop forcing things down our throats (1st focus group).

Participants collectively suggested that as schools systematically differentiate instruction for students who have diverse learning needs, it seems equally important to structure PD activities with differentiation in place for participating teachers who, as adult learners, have different learning needs that ought to be considered in planning PD activities. Sarah explained that "Student choice is best practice; adult choice is best practice. But for some reason, best practice isn't extended to us the way that we are expected to apply it to students" (1st focus group).

# Teachers desire the content of PD to be relevant to their current situation

PD programs need to be relevant to school setting and student population. As postulated by adult learning theory, it is expected that PD be relevant to teachers' lives (Knowles, 1984). The unique, different instructional setting and composition of students for each teacher or group of teachers may be overlooked by some outside consultants when conducting PD programs. In my second interview with Emily, she complained that one of her PD instructors was not aware of what exactly mainstream teachers do in the classrooms. The content of the PD workshop was related to teaching new language learners at the secondary level, whereas Emily and her middle school peers did not have those students in their mainstream classrooms. Emily noted "The information that we were getting was not very relevant to the mainstream teachers" (2nd individual interview) and she asserted that the PD should have been targeting ESL teachers or elementary school teachers.

Many participants discussed the need for outside consultants to understand teachers' professional backgrounds and teaching settings, especially with respect to their particular student population (e.g., ELLs). Mark stated that sometimes outside consultants share an idea, but it doesn't apply to our student population, so it's not useful. For instance, when I used to teach sixth grade, I would use things that would never work very well here, because I didn't understand how kids thought, and I didn't understand the EL population (1st individual interview).

Emily added that she would like to learn more about the methods of supporting ELLs who have certain communication needs, such as ELLs with autism, or ELLs who have other disabilities or learning disabilities. She felt that they need extra help in meeting the literacy needs of these groups of students and suggested the "greatest area of need, is when our ELLs come to us with more complex needs, as opposed to just learning English by itself" (1st individual interview).

Participants argue that research and theory are good to know but must be applicable to their student population and have practical takeaways. Risko et al. (2008) explained that, when modeled and implemented correctly, PD programs introduce mainstream teachers to a new understanding of teaching practices and knowledge that they may use to make connections with their student population. This, in turn, will allow teachers to eventually integrate and implement what they have learned into their mainstream classroom practices.

In my first interview with Sarah, I asked her to share how the composition of different groups of students impacts their learning needs. She explained that at Lakewood

they have a large group of EL students, along with those with special needs, who are considered proficient in English but are reading two or three levels below grade level, and gifted children, who are reading at upper high school, almost college level, all mixed in one class. For Sarah and many of the participants this is a very challenging educational task for teachers and for administrators to deal with every day and in every classroom. She cautioned, therefore, that

if I'm sitting there listening to someone give advice, information, that has not had that experience, I often find that that person really doesn't understand the setting in which I'm operating. And sometimes, the things that they suggest that we do, are not applicable to our situation, and won't be successful (1st individual interview).

Constructivist theory requires that the content of PD programs be relevant to teachers' existing settings (Palincsar, 1998). Similarly, Anna argued that it is important to have PD instructors who are familiar with student diversity and its effect on instructional practices in the classroom. She explained that "depending on what their background is and where the teachers have come from, you've got teachers from places that maybe they haven't really had to encounter English language learners before. And then this is a new taste" (1st individual interview).

Jenna expressed concern about having PD instructors who do not have teaching experience and very likely have little connection to practice:

Actually very often when we have these consultants come in and present I think to myself, 'I know much more than you do and I do it every day in my classroom so

there's nothing that you're telling me that is either new or revolutionary, or maybe a lot of what you're telling me is not really workable in my classrooms. So, yeah I'll let you know if life is not working' (1st individual interview).

In contrast, Jenna suggested that "receiving [PD] from someone who's actually a practitioner [might be better] as opposed to someone who's out there doing this for a living. I think it varies. Teachers sometimes tend to be good" (1st individual interview). Similarly, Carlos, Emily, Mark, and Sarah revealed their preference to have more PD programs led by teachers as opposed to only outside PD consultants:

Carlos: So, the [PD] professionals themselves, they're great. They're just not as immersed as I've been. So, I have expectations that are a little different.... So, that's why I can't bring my expectations and say that 'Oh, this is what I did here' because I just have a different viewpoint altogether than what anyone else is going to say (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Emily: The professional learning that happens at school is most useful when teachers are able to help each other (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Mark: I like the [PD] that's led by teachers more than I like the ones from consultants, outside businesses that are offering a system or program (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Sarah: Teachers have credibility. If you have someone coming in with some sort of PD that has not actually been in the classroom it falls flat. Because that person really does not have an understanding, a realistic perspective, of what the classroom setting is like (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

It can be argued that the participants' dissatisfied sentiment with outside consultants delivering PD programs are mainly due to the lack of focus on the practical aspects of PD opportunities, especially to those relevant to mainstream classroom settings. This, in turn, may explain why many of the participants expressed their preference to engage in peer-to-peer PD activities.

## Teachers want to have a voice in their learning opportunities

As postulated by the adult learning theory, adults need to be involved in the planning of their learning (Knowles, 1980, 1984). As indicated by several of the participants, the involvement of teachers prior to, during, and after conducting PD activities is essential to ensure the effectiveness of such activities. Baecher (2012) and Farrell (2008) contend that mainstream teachers should be invited to communicate their expertise and experiences with the personal, social, and psychological demands of working with ELLs, as these students struggle to adapt to the realities of their learning environment. Accordingly, participants indicated that they wanted to observe and actually "feel" the impact of PD training in their classrooms by learning from their peers, particularly from those with exceptional expertise and professional certification.

With extensive professional training coupled with SIOP certification, Anna, for example, has offered many times to help in leading workshops focused on the concept of integrating language with content in mainstream classrooms. She added that she knew other teachers with other areas of strong expertise who, for some reason, have not been utilized to actively participate in the planning and delivery of some PD activities. Anna contended that "we wanna have these workshops in-house, but then we don't really

survey the staff and say, 'Do you have a special skill? Could you please tell us, we have a database to draw off for these PD days?'" (1st individual interview). Amy's argument for the need to involve teachers, especially those who have good and relevant teaching experience, is further supported by other participants. They expressed their desire to have PD activities performed by a teacher to ensure the applicability of the PD content. However, in the case where PD activities are run by persons from outside the school, it is essential to make sure that PD instructors have practical experience. These arguments by the participants are corroborated by prior research findings that suggest mainstream teachers should be invited to play an active role in assisting with PD activities in some capacity to increase the chances of transforming their "special knowledge and skills" to best meet the learning needs of ELLs (Lucas, 2011, p. 6).

From her previous PD experiences, Emily believed the most relevant PD is when teachers have a voice in how and what PD activities to choose and apply. She indicated that "it's just important that it be at a convenient time where teachers can meet as a group, and colleagues can work together" (1st individual interview). Similarly, Kate expressed her preference to participate in workshops because she better connects with peers. She revealed that she likes "to be able to discuss things and be able to bounce ideas off people" (1st individual interview). Unlike some of her PD experience that was all lecture-based format, Amy indicated that she had been

in really good [PD] where the professional who's presenting is using the techniques that they're teaching us, and they're doing a rotation of activities, and

we're standing up and we're doing the things that they're telling us to do in the classroom (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

During the second focus group interview, I divided the participants into two groups and asked each group to design a PD program from their perspective as experienced teachers and based on the existing Lakewood environment, where almost 50% of the student population are ELLs. They very much liked the idea of being in charge of planning and designing the PD program. As the coordinator of the second group, Mark summarized his team's plan for the PD program as follows:

First, we introduced the concept that is the focus of the training and then explain the what, the why, and the how, the rationale behind the training. Why is it important? Two, explain examples of how it works, include then time for the learning teachers to practice the thing they're hearing, because we all learn best by doing. Number three, go deeper into explanation. After everyone has had a chance to put to use what they've been learning, then the instructors explain the nuances that we may have missed that help us understand it better. That doesn't also include that after we practice, we get to hear critiquing of what we did well, what we need to improve upon. That would come from the professional presenter in the room who knows the material. Then there should be a break.

These PD programs designed by the participants can be viewed as a direct application of adult learning theory, which suggests that a transaction process between the learner and the instructor takes place through the learner's active participation in identifying their learning needs and planning how these needs will be met (Knowles, 1984).

Teachers' choice was widely cited by participants as a key factor affecting the quality of PD activities. Allowing teachers to have a choice in their PD definitely enhances their level of engagement and benefits from participating in such PD activities. At WPSD, teachers can pick and choose among many PD options to identify the ones they think are going to work best for them as mainstream teachers. Kate, for example, expressed her satisfaction with the wide PD opportunities to choose from the WPSD level and added "I liked that...if I'm trying to build background knowledge" (1st individual interview). Similarly, Jenna spoke highly of the exceptional and generous support teachers are getting from WPSD in the form of providing a wide range of PD opportunities. She admitted that "[Lakewood] very often gives us choices, so whenever we have early release, very often they have like many different sessions going on and we can pick the ones that might be helpful for us" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). Megan confirmed her fellow participants' assertion about the generous support they are receiving from WPSD in terms of providing PD opportunities free of charge, and added that "every year there are lots of classes to help us support second language or third language learners" (1st individual interview). In line with adult learning theory, Sarah felt relatively good about having the ability to choose a course or a PD program that would add to her knowledge and skills. She revealed that "it would be an asset, would learn a great deal, and I'd see the need for it in my classroom. So yeah, I think teacher choice is another huge component of that" (1st focus group).

Overall, PD needs to be designed for teachers across subjects, years of teaching, exposure to knowledge about the topic, and student types. PD opportunities should have

something helpful for everyone, not only teachers, at a school like Lakewood with a significant number of EL students. Thus, mainstream teachers' different learning needs ought to be considered by any PD program. Furthermore, when enrolled in PD workshops, teachers should be treated and dealt with as adult learners and as such, instruction and learning experiences should be differentiated to better meet their individual learning objectives (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

### Time

The fourth theme was that that *participants are concerned about the lack of time allocated for PD programs, including planning, scheduling, content, delivery, amount of information, implementation, feedback, self-reflection, and follow-up activities.*Research findings suggest that time is an important factor that affects mainstream teachers' ability to master and apply newly learned instructional strategies and practices needed to better meet the learning needs of their EL students (Blank & de las Alas, 2009; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016). In this study, participants reported that they invariably struggle with time constraints as they try to deepen their understanding of new learning strategies and best instructional practices to better teach ELLs.

Applying new strategies and techniques is not an easy process for mainstream teachers. They need time to apply what they have learned as they continue facing problems with teaching their students who may vary in their English proficiency. In this context, Jenna explained:

I need more time and very often with [ELLs], they're trying to catch a moving target. So, then you have to think of what's more important to them? Is it the skill

or is it a concept? Is it a combination of both with the language? And then you know if you don't have enough time you teach them the concept, you teach them the skill, and you throw in as much language as you can in that amount of time. So, the language might get the short end of the stick in those situations (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Given the notion that she has demanding EL students in terms of their literacy and academic needs, Megan indicated she needed more time to implement newly introduced learning strategies and practices but argued she does not have "a magic wand for that" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). Participants believed that it is essential within PD programs to distribute and manage the PD materials and activities in such a manner that ensures teachers' comprehension of the content. After that, they should have time to apply and integrate these strategies and learning methods into their classrooms, plan and practice with colleagues (e.g. give and receive feedback), master content, follow up activities, and reflect on their teaching practices.

# Teachers require PD materials to be divided into segments

Throughout all of the interviews, participants repeatedly suggested that it is best to break up the PD materials and related activities over a long period of time (e.g., months). Referencing one of her PD experiences, Sarah indicated that certain PD activities were helpful to a large degree and "what's really helped me the most was that four-day training. It was for four days, all day long, spread over the year" (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group). Similarly, Kate indicated that she thought that

It's good to spread things out a little bit, to not have all the training over three days. It's too much information for most people to absorb. So to break it up over a certain months or weeks I think it's more important too (1st individual interview).

In line with adult learning theory, the participants as adult learners preferred to receive new information broken up as opposed to getting a great deal of information in a very short time span (e.g., a one-day workshop) (Knowles, 1984).

For the most part, all participants attributed their limited benefit from PD opportunities to the lack of time allocated to the components of these programs. Kate complained that some of the PDs she attended had bombarded her with a large chunk of information in a very limited time and she explained that "When people just throw stuff at me, it bounces off" (1st individual interview). Anna agreed with Kate on the need to integrate time into the PD curriculum to guarantee that teachers learn and apply the new materials. Anna explained that they "want that balance of yes, you want information, but you don't want so much that you just are completely tuned out and overwhelmed, because then it's not helpful. You just blank out on it" (1st individual interview).

Lecture is traditionally utilized when introducing new information to teachers or confirming their prior knowledge. However, this teaching approach may not necessarily lead to increasing the knowledge and skills of teachers, changing their attitudes, or stimulating higher order thinking. Sousa (2017) explains that "the lecture method allows a lot of information to be presented in a short time. However, the question is not what is presented, but what is learned" (p. 106). Kate spoke extensively about the need to

consider breaking up information in PD activities as opposed to listening passively to an instructor. Reflecting on how PD programs should be structured, Kate explained that

The content is fine as long as you give us short bits of information and then let us work together to try to create something with it and then come back. I have a very hard time...I'm just like an 11-year-old. I cannot sit and listen to somebody have a three-hour presentation. I can't do that. But what I can do is I can listen for a little bit and try to apply it and fit it in and then come back and talk about it (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

As the case with adult learners, teachers expect to receive PD materials that are straightforward, focused, and ready to be implemented in their classrooms. Anna suggested that "when they can give you something to take away with... and try it out, it's not so overwhelming. I think that's a huge, huge success" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview). It is evident that teachers desire to have PD programs that are simple, focused, and practical. Anna suggested to keep PD simple because "if you start throwing stuff out that has tons of prep work, people aren't going to follow through. They just aren't. They're going to say, 'I don't have time for this'" (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Teachers wanted to keep the PD topics more specific and more in depth instead of breadth. In depth content is essential to ensure teachers' ability to understand and apply new instructional practices. Sarah argued that "people who led a quick presentation. They provided a lot of great information but the depth wasn't there, and I'm a person who appreciates depth. I don't like things that are just skimming the surface" (1st individual interview). Kate supported Sarah's argument to have PD that is more in depth and

detailed as opposed to go to a two hour or so workshop and said she did not like PDs where "you learn about everything... [Because] that's a waste of my time. I would rather have a whole day, or two or three days, and focus on one thing and then have to go back and plan and use it" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview). Additionally, Amy said she desired to be part of PD programs that "give more depth than just a shallow explanation, covering the basic, even if they take longer periods" (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group).

Participants argued that in the absence of factoring time into all of the PD facets, they may not be able to absorb and apply the information introduced during these PD activities. It is quite clear from the participants' feedback about their PD experiences that it is essential for teachers to have the PD content spread out over time instead of delivering an overload of information in a short period of time, making it more difficult to absorb and apply.

# Teachers desire to have ample time to master content covered

According to adult learning theory, adults must have time to analyze, think, and assimilate the new knowledge they receive at any PD activity (Knowles, 1980, 1984). Penuel et al. (2011) provided strong evidence that PD can be more effective when factors such as program duration, proximity to practices, and teachers' professional communities are considered. To induce positive change in the instructional practices of mainstream teachers, they need time for planning, strategic thinking, implementation, analysis, and reflection.

Throughout all of the interviews, participants found PD to be most helpful when they were are given time to practice and experience the strategies as well as time to evaluate and process them. Just as the time factor impacts students' learning needs and practices, Kate also argued that mainstream teachers "need time, time to practice, time to collaborate, time to analyze what we've done. And so often we don't have that analysis time, and that reflection" (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

Sarah asked to have "more time to master [the content/strategies] before you give us something new" (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group). Accordingly, Sarah suggested that school districts and school administrators consider allowing more time for teachers to master those techniques introduced in PD programs before getting new content or strategies. She elaborated on how imperative it is to factor in time when planning and implementing PD programs:

We always have to be on every single moment and often we have to shift the gears really quickly because of something that's occurred. If we can master something, then we can draw on it without even thinking about it. It will become instinctual, but we're never given the opportunity to make it to that point where we've mastered something to that level. That's a shame because there's a lot of great information out there from which our children would benefit and yet I feel like a lot of it's going down the drain before we can catch it and save it and use it (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group).

The lack of time was reported by all of the participants during their individual interviews and the focus group interviews, as contributing to less rewarding PD activities (Penuel, et al. 2011; Tran (2014). They voiced their concern about the limited time allocated to comprehend the content, to practice, and to master what they had learned,

and most importantly, to implement post-PD activities. To resolve the time limitation, they suggested that teachers already have been educationally prepared, and they continuously receive some PD training on new instructional strategies and practices. In order to make the most of these new best practices, they need more time to employ them effectively in their classrooms (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016).

During the first focus group interview, all participants voiced their concern about the limited time allocated for PD activities. In this context, Sarah discussed the importance of considering the time factor when planning and implementing PD activities,

I constantly feel like I'm a jack of all trades and a master of none. And that is a very uncomfortable place for me to be...there's a lot of value in the things that we're doing but we are not given the respectful time that it deserves...because I'm pretty sure that's the ultimate goal, is for me to then transfer it into my classroom and put it into practice. And I always feel like it's like a drive-by. So, I really think that it's because we have so many competing agendas (1st focus group).

Throughout all the interviews, participants indicated that they were interested in attending as many PD activities as they could, but to make PD worth their time and investment, they are often faced with a time barrier. It is quite clear from the evidence gathered in this study that time is of essence when it comes to PD activities. In these PD programs, time is a commodity that most teachers do not have, because they have busy schedules that include aspects like classwork, preparation, grading, and readings. In addition to all of these pressing requirements, they also need additional time for the preparation work they have to do if PD occurs during school hours, as well as keeping up

with mandates and changes related to instruction and assessment. Mainstream teachers, like those in this study, desire to be engaged in productive and useful PD opportunities that are worth their time. As postulated in adult learning theory, it is essential that PD activities be adapted to teachers' busy lives (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

Carlos explained that teachers have busy schedules and they may find it hard to find sufficient time to meet PD programs' preparation work. He asserted that sometimes you don't have the time because you have other things to do and other readings to do, especially in the climate we live in. There is a lot to do, and sometimes that's what [PD] is. It's a large concept, broken down so that you can get something to work right as a teacher... This is the way we're approaching this (1st individual interview).

It is quite evident by the participants' testimonials that they would appreciate having time to be able to master what they have learned before they move to something new (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016). Julie said, for example,

Give us some information but then allow us to apply it and practice it in that same setting, within our content here. So, give us a template and then have us fill in the template based on what we're teaching. It's okay if it's science, but if you can show me how they're going to break down their lesson on genetics then I can break down my lesson on how the heart works (1st individual interview).

On the other hand, Jenna spoke about some of the difficulties teachers face when applying the methods of PD activities into their mainstream classrooms, especially with

respect to the lack of sufficient time needed to meet the varying levels of the literacy needs of ELLs. She explained that:

It's very difficult like I said, here this is the SIOP structure, this is what you do and you have to have your content and language objectives. You have to have your hook and you have to get kids in. You have to put up the vocabulary. You get the kids to interact with the vocabulary. That's a lot of information and that's theoretical. How do you actually practice that in your classroom? And it takes a while, it doesn't happen overnight. And maybe you should start with one small thing and go from there. You can't take everything that they teach you and do it all at once and do it every day (1st individual interview).

Jenna invariably identified time as perhaps the most critical factor impacting PD programs. She suggested that

if I had more time, I would go into those [new learning strategies] much more and I would be able to get them [ELLs] to understand these more language intensive problems. So, for me I think it's more a time factor than it is strategies (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

This argument by Jenna, in effect, reflects how mainstream teachers value the time needed to learn and master techniques to best teach ELLs in mainstream classrooms.

Participants suggested that PD can be more fruitful when teachers are provided with ample time to master the newly introduced strategies and practices in PD programs.

Learning is a continuous process that requires sufficient time to accomplish the objectives set by school leaders and educators. In this learning process, there are building and

subsequent blocks in which teachers need time to learn, practice, collaborate, and to reflect.

### Teachers seek opportunities to reflect and follow up on their professional practices

As stated by many participants, teachers should be given enough time to practice the new instructional strategies they have learned and have an opportunity to reflect and follow-up based on applying the new instructional concepts and methods. Kate indicated that it is important within PD programs

to teach a little bit and then have time to plan with colleagues. Planning is so necessary. And then to be able to come back and talk about what your results were, what you found helpful or not helpful. So that has been the most helpful I think (1st individual interview).

All participants revealed that they would like to be able to come back and talk about the results of their newly learned SIOP teaching strategies with their assigned PD instructor and their peers. Self-reflection was cited extensively by all participants as important for mainstream teachers following PD.

Participants commented on their experiences with the SIOP lab training as being a very good one and said it was especially good for new teachers at Lakewood. Many of the participants noted the SIOP lab allowed for teachers to evaluate their own work and be self-reflective. This suggests that one of the main objectives of PD programs should be to help teachers become more self-reflective in order to improve their instructional practices in mainstream classrooms. This finding is supported by the constructivist theory, which assumes that teachers must be taught to be more reflective in their

professional and instructional practices (Beck & Kosnik, 2006). Jenna came to realize that self-reflection is essential to guarantee not only the transfer of new knowledge to teachers, but also to ensure the proper practice of what has been learned in the classroom, and as such should lead to good results with ELLs. She highly recommended all teachers practice self-reflection to enhance their teaching practices. For Jenna, "experience is the best teacher if you're willing to reflect and if you're willing to use what you've learned and combine it with what you see in the classroom" (1st individual interview). According to the adult leaning theory, adults need time to reflect on the new knowledge and skills they receive from PD activity (Knowles, 1980, 1984).

Follow up activities were highlighted by many of the participants as a key to successful PD. In my first interview with Anna, I asked her to describe her PD experience with respect to the applicability of follow up and feedback. She explained:

We had a class, and then we have a four day [workshop] through CAL. That gave them a concentrated training on SIOP techniques, but then their follow up of like, 'Okay, now you're in the classroom, how are you utilizing this?' So the people who've gone through that type of training and then have that consulting, that feedback later on from outside professionals, I feel like that made a big difference (1st individual interview).

## Furthermore, Kate suggested that

There should be some kind of proof to show that you have actually done a strategy, because a lot of times some people will say, "Oh, that's great." And then

they go back and they don't apply it. So I think there needs to be some kind of application parts to the training (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

Also, Julie revealed that she did not have the opportunity to have other teachers observe her teaching and give her feedback. She expressed her interest to "reach out to those teachers and spend some time watching them and seeing how they break the information down" (1st individual interview).

Amy highlighted that because of time constraints, even district and school administrators may overlook the ultimate goal of PD programs, which is to enhance the pedagogical knowledge and skills of teachers, and, in turn, should be reflected in teachers' classroom practices, and should lead to the improvement of ELLs' academic performance. Amy suggested that content teachers should be thinking about "what's the language objective for today's lesson" (1st individual interview) that best serves the academic content and enhances EL students' literacy. She further argued that even the school administrators need to be aware of the best way to validate how the language objectives are met in mainstream classrooms instead of just following observational routine checks. In these settings, it is often the case that the term "language objectives" is written on the board but without proper application and updates thereafter.

The same analogy can be made about the potential value of the "learning lab" platform associated with SIOP, which was the long-term training program for all teachers adopted by WPSD and was designed to allow for shared knowledge and skills among mainstream teachers, in addition to the CLT and PLC platforms. Concerned about the lack of sufficient time given between the delivery of the training course and the post-PD

activities associated with the SIOP program, Kate argued that she "would have liked to have seen some time to be able to settle in and let it cook and stew before we had to do the learning lab" (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group). Related to her experiences with the SIOP training and its integral follow up component, learning lab, Kate thought the SIOP training would have been more successful "if they had had some more time in between the two. That would have been a nice refresher course" (2<sup>nd</sup> focus group).

Amy stressed the possibilities of losing track of the actual objectives of PD programs, warning that especially

...there's so many things that teachers have to be thinking about that if there's no requirement and nobody checking that they're doing it, it's gets put on the bottom of the list. So I think for principals, they should use their power to encourage and more than encourage, require certain things in terms of teaching language (2<sup>nd</sup> individual interview).

Mark agreed with Amy about the lack of professional and timely follow up of PD activities. He argued that "the [PD] you go to, they'd just ask you are you going to try using it, and you say yes or no, and that's the end of it. They never follow up to see if we did use it" (1st individual interview).

In other instances of PD experiences recounted by the participants, many viewed their PD programs as focusing mostly on content delivery, without proper and timely follow up. They argued that without allocating time for follow up, there is no value in attending such PD programs. Anna, for example, complained that the follow-up activities after observing the teacher, which were associated with a PD program she took, were

very minimal. As evidenced by the participants' responses, in the absence of appropriate and timely follow-up activities, there is a high probability that some teachers might be less inclined to participate in future PD activities. Sarah asserted that she may not enroll in future PD programs because "How do we improve [PD] in your experience for lack of follow through. [It] certainly would make people less inclined to participate if the follow through isn't there" (1st focus group).

Given this prevalent concern of most participants about the lack of timely follow-up activities of many PD programs, Sarah raised the ultimate question in the first focus group interview about how to improve PD. This prompted Sarah and Anna to engage in a meaningful and informative exchange around this critical issue. The discussion reflects their perspectives on their PD experiences, especially with respect to the potential risks of scaring teachers away from participating in future PD opportunities that do not meet their expectations for follow ups:

Sarah: I would feel so defeated if I had been through that experience that you just described and then it went into a black hole somewhere. Then the next time they ask me to do something like that, I am pretty sure I would probably decline, because I wouldn't ... that was a huge investment and time on your part. And then it didn't come to fruition.

Anna: Yeah, and it's like just, I don't mind but I'm all about learning of course, but make it worth my while. If it's worth my while that's great. I'll take a credit plus if it's something I can use. If it's a waste of my time, then we'll [not enroll] ....

Jenna made it very clear that mainstream teachers are

functioning always in time constraints... The curriculum for math, especially the pacing guide, is relentless. We know literally down to the day what we need to cover, and if we don't, we are backlogged and the benchmark comes, and it shows up in the results of our kids. So we are very much under the pressure of time. And therefore there's not much time to experiment, there's not much time to say, Oh yeah, you know what, if the whole thing fails today, I'll do it again tomorrow. Very rarely do we have that kind of luxury (1<sup>st</sup> individual interview).

To ensure the success of PD, it is essential to consider the time factor, which appears to impact all planned PD activities, including spreading PD content and activities over time to ensure the maximum benefits for all participants. As opposed to engaging teachers in one-shot PD programs, researchers suggest that PD ought to be offered on a continuous basis in order to improve the pedagogical knowledge and skills of mainstream teachers (Tran, 2014). From a practical perspective, teachers require PD to be an ongoing process that shapes their knowledge in depth over time.

## **Summary**

This chapter presented and discussed the four major themes that emerged from this study of mainstream teachers' perspectives about their experiences with PD with teaching adolescent ELLs. The themes were: the effect of PD opportunities on mainstream teachers' attitudes and perceptions toward teaching ELLs in mainstream classrooms; the need for PD programs to address integrating language and subject-area content; the need to take into account mainstream teachers' abilities, experiences, and pedagogical knowledge and skills prior to designing and implementing PD activities; and

the extent of PD impacts due to the limitation of time during and after taking PD activities.

The participants felt that PD experiences and opportunities often helped them to maintain and enhance their supportive attitudes toward teaching ELLs. However, participants' positive attitudes and perceptions were also driven by their personal and professional experiences. Teachers, in general, have many valuable ideas that can be utilized during the PD activities to enrich the PD experiences of both the participants and the instructors. In this context, teachers would like to have the opportunity and appropriate time to share and discuss their perspective and feedback about teaching ELLs. For the most part, participants indicated that it is important to factor in the impact of time on improving the odds for producing successful PD experiences. According to the participants, time to plan, deliver, and evaluate a lesson should inform PD experiences.

### **Chapter Five**

The findings of this study on the attitudes and perceptions of mainstream teachers about the effectiveness of PD activities in enhancing their teaching of ELLs are best explained within social constructivist theory and adult learning theory. The findings are also correlated and contrasted with the extant literature on PD concerning mainstream teachers of ELLs. Teachers seek out continuous learning based on personal interests, wants, and needs. As discussed in Chapter Two, adult learning is largely driven by individual personal factors, which include but are not limited to teacher beliefs, attitudes, interests, perceptions, and school and district culture (Knowles, 1980, 1984; Loucks-Horsley et al. 2003). In the process of learning, new knowledge is constructed to help teachers function in their classrooms. When engaging in a new experience, teachers draw from their own conceptual models to understand the new information and construct their own interpretation of reality. Generally, the views of the participants in this study provide a holistic picture of how teachers make meaning of their experiences of their PD activities.

A large body of research on ELLs suggests that there is a gap between the reality of teaching ELLs and how and what mainstream teachers ought to teach ELLs (August et al., 2010; Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Molle, 2013; Short, 2013). It can be argued that this learning gap largely contributes to the observed achievement gap exhibited between ELLs and non-ELLs (Berg & Huang, 2015). Therefore, the best and practical approach to closing the learning gap is to design responsive, continuous PD programs for mainstream

teachers of ELLs. However, as revealed by research findings, this learning gap can only be closed by improving the ongoing PD programs that are planned to support mainstream teachers to adequately teach ELLs (Calderon et al., 2011; Coady et al., 2015; Stewart, 2014).

To shed some light on this challenging and persistent gap, this qualitative research study was undertaken to listen to mainstream teachers' voices about their PD experiences concerning the teaching of ELLs. The research questions that guided this study were:

- 1. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of PD opportunities on their perceptions and attitudes regarding teaching ELLs?
- 2. What do mainstream teachers believe is the impact of PD opportunities and experiences on the degree to which their pedagogical content knowledge and skills support the academic and literacy needs of ELLs?

In this chapter, I will synthesize the findings of this study with reference to the research questions as well as to the theories that guided this study, which were the adult learning theory and the social constructivist theory. Next, I will explain the implications of the findings from this study with an emphasis on those that are related to educational instructional practices, teacher education, teacher PD, educational policy, and research. Furthermore, I will discuss the limitations of this study, which should be taken into account when reading and interpreting the findings. Finally, I will conclude the chapter by offering my own reflections that were developed throughout the duration of this study.

#### **Discussion**

A case study was conducted by interviewing 10 mainstream teachers of ELLs, individually and in a focus group format, from a middle school that was located in the mid-Atlantic region of the United States. From my analysis of the data I collected, I was able to distill four major themes comprising the main findings from this study:

- 1. The participants felt that PD opportunities often helped them to enhance their attitudes and perceptions toward teaching ELLs (Research Question 1).
- 2. The participants place great emphasis on the need for PD programs to comprehend and practice integrating literacy and content in mainstream classrooms with ELLs (Research Question 2).
- The participants reported that it is critical to consider mainstream teachers'
  abilities, readiness, choices, experiences, and pedagogical knowledge and skills
  prior to designing PD activities (Research Question 2).
- Participants expressed their greatest concern about the extent of benefits PD
  provides due to the limitation and impact of time during and after completing the
  PD activities (Research Question 2).

As indicated in the narratives of most of the participants in this study, participants had been actively engaged in PD experiences, as they tried to learn about best teaching strategies and practices to support ELLs. The participants revealed that their previous PD activities had partially helped them improve their attitudes, beliefs, and perceptions toward teaching ELLs. Consistent with social constructivist theory and adult learning theory, most of the participants possessed a positive attitude and perception about

teaching ELLs. When adult learners go through an effective PD training, they will be able to construct new knowledge and skills by refining or rejecting their prior knowledge, beliefs, and attitude. As suggested by the social constructivist theory, teachers will gain maximum benefit from PD activities when they actively "monitor their own ideas, and thought processes, compare and contrast them with those of others, and provide reasons why they accept one point of view over another" (Loucks-Horsley et al., 2003, p. 35).

Furthermore, Beck and Kosnik (2006) assert that within a social constructivist framework, "the primary purpose of knowledge is to help learners to function in the world, not to describe universal reality" (p. 10). This assertion is relevant and quite applicable to this study as many participants affirmed their immediate need to engage in PD activities that help them to function in their classrooms—to better teach ELLs. Although it is helpful for mainstream teachers to understand the social backgrounds of ELLs, the findings of this study show that it is rather more important to train these teachers on how to better teach their ELLs. Feedback from all of the participants made it clear that they gained new knowledge from PD activities, not only in terms of relevant pedagogical knowledge and skills but also from having a proper platform to question the agenda and content offered during the PD sessions, to share knowledge with other teachers, and most importantly to reflect and assess their prior knowledge and skills regarding teaching ELLs. Although the participants remained committed to attending PD activities, they still had concerns about some of their PD experiences and on many occasions during the interviews they voiced their disapproval of some PD activities.

Most participants openly expressed their desire and interest to learn and apply new instructional strategies and practices. In all of the individual and the focus group interviews, I was impressed by the overall level of professionalism and dedication they showed; though some were more professional and dedicated than the others. In particular, participants indicated that they were to a large degree self-motivated to attend as many PDs as needed because they saw the value of these activities for their career, recognition, and self-esteem. A major finding in this study, however, was that most participants relied primarily on their previous experiences and prior beliefs when developing their attitudes toward teaching ELLs. This is supported by research findings that suggest mainstream teachers of ELLs are mainly driven by their prior beliefs and attitudes (Stewart, 2014).

Another key finding was participants' objection of continuously enrolling in a non-cohesive set of PD offerings. As suggested by many of the participants, there is a lack of well-structured PD programs that are planned, designed, and implemented in a manner that fosters continuous professional and academic growth for teachers. Indeed, it seems that most of the PD opportunities offered to teachers exhibit this common problem of being incohesive. This perspective about the lack of complete, well-structured PD programs was raised and discussed during several of the interviews. In fact, this concern was one of the main issues debated among the participants during the first and second focus group interviews. In various individual and focus group interviews, however, some of the participants referred to the SIOP training as a somewhat complete approach to teaching ELLs. In the individual and focus group interviews, participants identified SIOP as the only PD approach that was cohesive and relevant to the teaching of ELLs.

Moreover, the participants revealed that they remain eager to learn more about integrating literacy practices into their mainstream classrooms. Their eagerness was due mainly to personal and professional interests and as a result of having a large percentage of ELLs in their classrooms. As corroborated by ample research findings, some participants felt that while they possess knowledge of research-based literacy practices, they still lack sufficient practical preparation on how to incorporate that knowledge into content area instruction for ELLs (Franco-Fuenmayor et al., 2015; Lovette, 2013; Lucas et al. 2008; Penuel et al. 2011; Polat & Mahalingappa, 2013). As postulated by both adult learning theory and the social constructivist theory, teachers with EL students, like most teachers, are problem-centered in their learning, and as such they go into any PD activity with specific learning expectations related to furthering their effectiveness with this group of students. They want to learn how to effectively manage the classroom while meeting the learning needs of EL students and how to integrate literacy strategies with content area instruction in ways that meet the needs of ELLs.

Another major finding of the study revealed that the main challenge the participants faced was figuring out how to successfully enhance ELLs' English proficiency while teaching them the content of the subject area, such as math, science, language arts, and social studies (Molle, 2013; Yoon, 2008). The participants were frustrated about many of the challenges they face in teaching ELLs, and one of the more significant challenges was learning effective ways to integrate literacy skills with the content introduced in their classrooms. The findings of this study also suggested participants felt that some PD programs do not focus on practical strategies they need

most in their classrooms. Research findings indicate that teachers seek hands-on instructional strategies (Baecher, 2012). In the long run, it can be argued that mainstream teachers may adopt the idea of integrating literacy instruction with the content once they realize the impact of doing so on ELLs' academic achievement as reflected in the improvement of their reading and writing skills (Mayher, 2012).

Additionally, participants highlighted the need to get training on supporting those ELLs with varying degrees of English proficiency and academic abilities. Many participants reported that they remain unsure regarding how to manage a class with not only ELLs but also with different sub-groups of the ELLs. They felt they always need more help differentiating instruction, since reading levels in one class could range from third grade to a college level. It should be noted that the issue of how to manage student diversity, both in terms of academic and literacy ability, does not stop at the ELLs, but rather applies across the board for all students. Research findings report that in most teacher education programs, the issue of student diversity has not been substantially integrated and discussed in the learning context of K-12 education (Berg & Huang, 2015; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Goldenberg, 2011). This finding can be extended to teacher PD requiring continuous support as reported in this study. Overall, the findings of this study indicate a significant mismatch between the reality of mainstream teachers' work with ELLs and the kinds of PD experiences and opportunities they have, particularly with respect to dealing with different ability levels within the EL student population.

Differentiating PD was also highlighted by many of the participants as a major suggestion for improving PD opportunities. Teachers have different educational qualifications, teaching experiences, general PD experiences, specific ELLs PD experiences, and existing pedagogical knowledge and skills (Lucas, 2011). Consistent with the extant literature, participants in this study recommended that PD activities need to be designed and implemented with differentiation in mind (Bunch, 2013; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Gandara et al., 2005).

Reflecting on many of their PD experiences, participants acknowledged that they continue to struggle with time as they needed sufficient time to shift their thinking and start practicing what they have learned in the PD activities. They were concerned about finding adequate time to put new knowledge into practice and to have quality time for reflection on new instructional practices to implement in their mainstream classrooms. Time will impact mainstream teachers' ability to master newly learned instructional strategies and practices required to best meet the learning needs of their ELL students (Blank & de las Alas, 2009; Hansen-Thomas et al.,, 2016).

Nonetheless, participants expressed interest in having more practical, relevant, and cohesive PD programs. Among many other factors, participants were concerned about the lack of focus on the implementation aspects of PD programs. They felt they were receiving a lot of information in these programs, but without focusing on the practical aspects of the newly introduced teaching strategies. Clearly, the ultimate goal for teachers attending PD programs is to be able to apply what they have learned in their classrooms. However, the participants remain frustrated that while they want to help their

ELLs, they still do not receive sufficient support, especially during the post-PD implementation phase. Mainstream teachers, like those in this study, at all levels need continuous and timely assistance as they struggle with implementing new instructional practices. For teachers, it is not a matter of gaining new knowledge, but rather it is about sustainability of PD programs through proper and structured follow-up activities.

It is important to note that the main, mounting challenge for participants was how to change or improve their instructional practices at the implementation stage as opposed to just learning about new strategies and practices. As indicated by most of the participants, teachers in any PD program context can willingly embrace a new learning approach and likely plan to apply it in the classroom, but the question remains: do they? In general, teachers cannot sustain newly introduced PD practices or strategies for a long time because they do not have someone who is experienced to help them on a day-to-day basis with the real-life challenges that may arise. Hence, policy makers and PD organizers must provide support to mainstream teachers during that process. While they are still in the practicing mode, teachers need support after PD sessions are completed.

Consistent with prior research findings, this study provides compelling evidence supporting the imperative need to listen to individual teachers' experiences as a basis for improving PD (Coady et al., 2015; Gandara et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2011; O'Neal et al., 2008). Accordingly, PD opportunities can be significantly enhanced by engaging mainstream teachers in the planning and designing processes of PD designed for teaching ELLs, including getting their feedback on the content, delivery, and outcome of these programs, a finding that was largely suggested by the participants. Given the notion that

teachers are the most influential factor in enhancing the academic performance of students, it is, therefore, essential to listen to their voices about their PD experiences and find ways to meet their needs (Ballantyne et al., 2008; Bunch, 2013; Coady et al., 2015; Netolicky et al., 2019).

From the outset of the interviews, it was apparent that the participants who were English teachers did not have as much difficulty as participants from other disciplines in understanding and applying what they had learned about the strategies and practices related to the integration of language and content from PD experiences. This finding is clearly justified as it is natural to have literacy as an integral part of the curriculum for English. In contrast, the participants from the other content areas continued to struggle when it came to applying best instructional practices concerning the integration of literacy strategies and content. For example, while both Kate (science teacher) and Jenna (math teacher) expressed their satisfaction with some of the PD experiences they had, they also revealed that they still need more practical training on how best to teach vocabulary and comprehension skills within their content areas. For them, the subject content took priority over other requirements such as literacy, especially since they are mandated to follow a sequential curriculum. While Kate and Jenna saw value in literacy, their instructional priorities were affected by their commitment to content instruction and time constraints to meet disciplinary curriculum requirements. In addition, participants preferred to see more PD opportunities that provide a platform to discuss and confirm what they do intuitively as well as provide them with new perspectives on their instructional practices. Perhaps more than anything else, more collaboration between

reading and literacy specialists and content area teachers was desired by many of the participants as a way to help in understanding and mastering the integration of language and content.

Most of the participants expressed their profound desire to have more PD opportunities that are different from what is currently offered to them. Throughout all the interviews, participants expressed their concern about the way these important PD programs have been planned and conducted. When PD activities do not meet their expectations, they are likely to perceive PD as a waste of time and money as well as a missed opportunity to receive training that could help them make a difference in the academic lives of their ELLs. The content teachers in this study desired to engage in professional learning programs that increase their understanding of literacy integration in their classrooms to assist ELLs.

Even when teachers learn a great deal from PD opportunities, they still need school support and resources to ensure the complete success of such programs (Guskey, 2014). Most participants expressed a desire for more than PD workshops. They also wanted additional support from administrators to ensure the success of implementing new instructional practices learned in these workshops. Perhaps one of the most interesting findings was participants' preference to engage in in-house formal or informal PD activities as opposed to only attending typical, formal PD programs. This desire is consistent with research findings that suggest school districts and school leaders should encourage and adopt informal school-based professional learning activities (Gandara et al. 2005).

Given Lakewood's supportive culture for embracing ELLs and the proper and continuous training on how best to teach ELLs, the participants came to understand the importance and recognize the positive effect of integrating literacy skills with the content to address the academic and language needs of ELLs. Consistent with prior research findings, all participants expressed their dissatisfaction with some of the typical, formal "one-fits-all" or "one-shot" PD programs (Cobb et al. 2003; Darling-Hammond et al. 2002; O'Brien, 2011). More specifically, they indicated that existing, formal PD programs have many drawbacks including a lack of focus on the practicality of the content presented, insufficient time allocated to the various PD activities, lack of follow-up activities, and their short-term orientation. Therefore, it is important to listen to teachers' voices who would like to have variety of PD, especially those that allow teachers to share experiences and knowledge and interact with each other in non-formal fashion. Research findings suggest that informed teacher collaboration results in improved student achievement in math and reading (Ronfeldt et al., 2015).

#### **Implications**

The findings of this study have several implications related to instructional practices, teacher education, teacher's PD, educational policies, and future research. This study adds to the literature by documenting the rich experiences of mainstream teachers of ELLs. To make a difference in student outcomes, the opinions of mainstream teachers should be pursued, listened to, and highly valued. In this study, 10 mainstream teachers were given the chance to speak directly about their experiences with PD activities related to teaching ELLs, critique these experiences, and suggest ways to enhance future PD

activities. Providing opportunities for mainstream teachers to share their perceptions of PD activities will eventually lead to construction of more responsive professional learning. Accordingly, participants in this study had the opportunity to voice their concerns and desires about the way PD has been conducted and suggest ways to improve these programs.

#### Implications for Instructional Practices

The findings of this study can inform the practice of mainstream teachers of ELLs in many ways. Contrary to some research findings, all the participants in this study reported that they understood, recognized, and assumed their professional and ethical responsibility to meet the learning and cultural needs of their ELL student population (August et al. 2010; Ballantyne et al. 2008; Bunch, 2013; Coady et al. 2015; Molle, 2013; Téllez & Waxman, 2006). As discussed previously in this chapter, this practice on the part of participants to accept the responsibility of teaching ELLs was mainly due to the personal interests in and initiatives taken by the participants themselves as well as the supportive educational environment at Lakewood. This suggests, in turn, that other schools in the WPSD and other school districts should fully understand and adopt similar measures to encourage and ensure that their mainstream teachers assume responsibility to integrate literacy skills with content when teaching ELLs.

As indicated by the participants, the impact of PD cannot be totally achieved without organizational support, from both the school and school district leaders. After completing a specific PD program, the focus shifts from participants to organizational dimensions that may be vital to the success of the professional learning experience

(Guskey, 2014). It should be noted, however, that existing, non-flexible or non-adaptive organizational structures may hinder or prevent success, even when teachers' PD responsibilities have been met (Sparks, 1996). In such a situation, the lack of good results in mainstream classrooms does not mean that the training or the PD program was poor or inadequate learning on the part of the participants, but rather due to the organizational regulations that are incompatible with implementation requirements.

School administrators and teachers can make the difference in improving instructional practices for ELLs in mainstream classrooms by transforming their school culture, norms, and teachers' instructional practices, as well as promoting a culture of collaboration and sustained professional learning. Administrators may greatly influence the way teacher leaders, specialized teachers, and instructional coaches perform. And, during periods of transformation, principals can establish the relevant culture and norms in the school in order to promote positive changes in ELLs' instructional practices (Gallucci et al., 2010; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016). Teacher leaders can greatly assist in this regard as well. Acting as instructional leaders and change agents, designated teacher leaders can play a key role in supporting mainstream teachers in meeting the learning needs of ELLs (Portin et al., 2006).

Another implication of this study is the need to consider engaging and educating ELLs' families in their children' future education, both at the district and school levels. Researchers have highlighted the importance of a teacher-parent communication, especially for maintaining professional interactions between schools and students' families in relation to ELLs and their learning (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016). In his

compelling testimonials reported in this study, Carlos stressed repeatedly the importance of understanding and involving ELLs' families in their children's education. It will be informative to document and learn from the lessons behind personal experiences of those successful cases of ELL students and their parents who initially came to the United States with limited literacy and English knowledge and skills, coupled perhaps with poor educational and professional backgrounds. To assist in the educational journey of ELLs, schools should focus not only on teaching ELLs, but also on providing many communication platforms to educate ELLs' parents about the value of education and the support they can provide to their children.

#### Implications for Teacher Education

Most educational programs at the college and university level include standard, traditional education-related courses and content, but little, if any, training on issues of teaching to student diversity in the learning context of K-12 education (Berg & Huang, 2015; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Goldenberg, 2011; Kibler & Roman, 2013; Molle, 2013). Consistent with these research findings, all participants felt they learned little from their teacher preparation programs about teaching and working with ELLs in mainstream classrooms. Future teachers, therefore, should get much greater exposure to how to teach ELLs, including how to develop a positive attitude and perception about ELLs, how to increase understanding of their cultural and linguistic backgrounds, how to practice differentiated instruction, and how to integrate literacy skills and strategies in content area instruction These changes in educational programs can be made directly through undergraduate and graduate schools or indirectly through school districts by

changing teachers' licensure requirements. School districts can establish additional requirements of potential teachers to ensure they have sufficient knowledge and skills related to teaching ELLs by offering PD that addresses these topics.

#### Implications for Teachers' PD

Listening to the voices of mainstream teachers of ELLs will open the door for PD leaders and designers to modify and improve PD programs to better meet the learning needs of these teachers. In this study, participants expressed an urgent need to receive support to better teach ELLs, including getting proper and more effective PD. As reported in this study, all participants agreed that there is a mismatch between what PD communicates and instructs versus the realities and demands of their classroom environments and contexts. For both novice and experienced teachers with ELL students, therefore, PD opportunities that are long-term oriented, practical, and cohesive are needed.

Consistent with a large body of research evidence, participants in this study revealed that they were not able to adopt newly learned strategies and practices from their PDs. They described several constraints and difficulties they face during and after the implementation of PD activities, including lack of assessment opportunities of PD experiences, lack of involvement in the development of PD structure and content, overwhelming class work and responsibilities, time needed to learn and practice, lack of focus on practical instructional strategies and approaches, limited teacher-parent communication, and poor organizational support (Gandara et al. 2005; Urmston and Pennington, 2008). To overcome these challenges, participants suggested it is essential

for mainstream teachers to receive additional help from both the school district and school leaders to be able to better serve the learning needs of their ELLs. In addition, the issue of ELLs with disabilities was raised by many of the participants. It is imperative, therefore, that mainstream teachers of ELLs learn about specific and differentiated strategies for teaching ELLs with learning disabilities, a specialized population of ELL students.

Most of the participants expressed a desire to be actively involved in the planning, designing, and implementing of PD programs. Researchers argue that mainstream teachers should be invited to share with other teachers their expertise and experiences with respect to the educational and psychological difficulties of working with ELLs (Baecher, 2012; Farrell, 2008). Many of the participants suggested that there should be a teachers' assessment survey prior to conducting any PD opportunity (Coady et al., 2015; He et al. 2011). Such an assessment should have a long-term focus on determining teachers' competencies and accordingly suggested areas for improvement. School administrators may, for example, conduct a planning session to develop customized PD programs that meet each teacher's interests and needs. Teachers with other areas of strong expertise can be invited to lead PD programs. To implement these suggestions, school administrators should take transformational steps in terms of working closely with teachers, listening more to their opinions and suggestions regarding enhancing teaching practices with ELLs, and providing proper monetary incentives, recognition, and professional growth to induce more effective instructional practices for ELLs.

Given the long-term aspect and intended effect of PD, school districts may find it feasible and worthwhile to make organizational changes by assigning a dedicated PD coordinator in each school. After I received the official approval letter from the WPSD to conduct this study, I met with the PD coordinator at Lakewood. During my meeting with the PD coordinator, she told me that she works as a teacher, but was assigned the responsibility to coordinate with the school district with respect to the planning and scheduling of PD activities. What I propose here is to go beyond serving as a liaison between the school and school district. From the findings in this study about the importance of PD and the notion that such activities are vital to the advancement of teachers, it may be time to consider incorporating organizational changes at the district and school levels to devote more time, budget, and human resources for continuous, ambitious PD. It is not only about scheduling PD activities, but more importantly about keeping track of each teacher's educational and professional growth. Reorganizing PD opportunities may also include monitoring the impact of teachers' PD on student performance over time.

#### Implications for Policy

According to the U.S. Department of Education (2020), about 1.5 billion dollars of federal funding under Title II, Part A, and billions more in other federal funds have been allocated to programs related to the PD of teachers and leaders in public schools. This great investment is evidence that educational leaders are committed to the advancement of student academic achievement through the improvement of teachers' pedagogical knowledge and skills. It is expected, therefore, that educational policy

makers are constantly in pursuit of evidence-based research about the impact of PD opportunities on teachers' and students' achievement. Given the increasing number of ELLs in K-12 public schools, it is not clear, however, how much of this budget, if any, is allocated to those PD programs designed for mainstream teachers of ELLs. Despite the generous funding for formal PD activities from school districts, participants in this study showed great interest in informally working with other teachers and learning from each other. This suggests that the funding policy and allocation may need to be reexamined in light of these findings in order to provide additional funding to in-school formal and informal PD.

As reported in Chapter Two, many States such as Arizona, California, Florida, and Texas have already implemented certain instructional and PD rules that require all general education teachers to have PD programs to support their teaching of ELLs (Peter et. al., 2012). Based on the findings of this study and the notion that the number of ELLs attending public schools has substantially increased over time, there is an immediate need to expand this mandate to mainstream teachers in the other States.

At the school district level, more requirements to improve the teaching of ELLs are warranted. Based on participants' feedback after they received a summary of the findings of this study, they indicated that the WPSD continues to provide organizational support in the area of teaching ELLs. In this direction, the WPSD recently (2020) created a new department, which mandates ESL teachers to provide their mainstream colleagues five hours of direct consultation and coaching per year for the next three years. This, in turn, will provide additional organizational support to general education teachers who

have expressed their desire to get direct training and collaboration to support the learning needs of ELLs.

#### Implications for Research

In this study, mainstream teachers of ELLs described their PD experiences and how these experiences impacted their teaching practices of ELLs. By allowing teachers of EL students to explore common problems and share their experiences, knowledge, practices, and perspectives about their PD experiences, it is expected that future PD opportunities for mainstream teachers of ELLs and ultimately the teaching practices which best benefit EL students will be improved (Gandara et al., 2005; O'Brien, 2011; O'Neal, 2008). Generally, the research on this topic remains in its infancy, and many of the recommended pedagogies for teaching in a classroom with a wide range of languages and proficiency levels are relatively new and untested (Berg & Huang, 2015; Calderon, 2009; Coady et al., 2015; Goldenberg, 2011; Kibler & Roman, 2013; Molle, 2013). Although I was not able to include a different range of experience levels in my mainstream teacher participants, this could be a line for future inquiry in this area. Another line of research is to explore how to develop and apply literacy intervention programs specific to mainstream classroom with ELLs who vary in their English proficiency. Often, intervention programs target struggling students irrespective of their student category (i.e., ELLs vs. non-ELLs).

While there is a great amount of federal funding provided for continuous teachers'
PD in general, it is not clear how much is allocated to the PD of mainstream teachers of
ELLs. One expects that a significant portion of the PD budget should be allocated to the

improvement of teaching ELLs and strengthening family support of their literacy and learning. It may be worth studying the issue of PD for mainstream teachers of ELLs from both a policy and investment perspective. Additionally, it would be interesting to conduct a set of studies targeting mainstream teachers of the same subject area. For example, research can be conducted to listen to the voices of only science mainstream teachers, another study to get the perspectives of math mainstream teachers, and so on.

Another suggested line of research for the impact of PD on mainstream teachers of ELLs is to conduct a longitudinal study. This proposed line of inquiry may involve the examination of a group of novice-to-experienced mainstream teachers of ELLs over a certain period of time, such as a minimum of 3-5 years. The purpose of this type of study would be to document the long-term impact of PD opportunities on mainstream teachers of ELLs. Additionally, this research may utilize a mixed method approach, in which qualitative data (i.e., bi-annual interviews with teachers) and quantitative data (i.e. students' performance) can be collected. Given the vital role of school leadership in supporting mainstream teachers' implementation of new instructional strategies and practices for ELLs, it may be worthwhile to learn more about the leadership perspective on PD opportunities. While this study provides teachers' rhetorical perspectives on their PD experiences, it would be interesting to combine what teachers say about their PD experiences with observational perspectives. Based on the feedback I received from participants, another area of fruitful future research would be to explore the direct connection between professional learning that these teachers received and the extent to which that learning translated into actual classroom practices.

#### Limitations

The findings of this study should be interpreted within the context of several limitations. One limitation is related to the fact that the study involved the interviewing of 10 mainstream teachers of ELLs in one middle school, which may limit the generalizability of the findings to other schools as well as to the whole population of mainstream teachers of ELLs. The participants in this study consisted of a group of teachers in various educational content areas (4 English, 3 social studies, 1 math, 1 science, and 1 PE/health) who taught at a middle school that was highly diverse, particularly having a large ELL student population. Accordingly, the findings must be interpreted within the context of that school, its diverse student population, and the participant pool.

Another limitation of this study was that I acted throughout the study as the researcher, interviewer, and interpreter. To address this issue, I made use of both member checking and critical friends. During the second individual interviews, I shared the initial findings from the first individual and first focus group interviews with each participant.

Later, I emailed each participant a summary of the findings and asked for their comments and additional input. Five of the participants responded with agreement with the findings. Furthermore, after transcribing the interviews, I sought the help and input of a critical friend, who has both professional and academic backgrounds in qualitative research to cross-validate my coding, and the interpretation of my subsequent findings based on the interview data. My critical friend provided valuable feedback, especially in the areas of initial coding, and interpretation of the findings.

The reported findings reflect mainstream teachers' perceptions of the impact of PD opportunities on their attitudes and perceptions towards teaching ELLs, and, therefore, it is critical that these perspectives are not to be considered as absolutes. Moreover, it should be noted that I only worked with highly experienced mainstream teachers and they had an average of more than 10 years of experience in teaching. The participants also indicated that they have had a number of PD experiences. As a result, the reported findings may be limited to only experienced teachers.

#### **Final Thoughts**

Although there are a number of limitations to this study, the findings add value to the extant literature on teachers' PD. It is important to listen more to the voices of teachers when it comes to what and how PD should be conducted. To make a significant transformation in the classroom, school districts and schools need to identify, listen to, and value the rich experience of teachers. Teachers should be given the opportunity to play an active role in PD processes from the start to the end. In this study, participants expressed the desire to lead PD opportunities. Educational leaders should change how they view and value the teaching profession by putting more trust in teachers and promoting teacher empowerment. Evers and Kneyber (2016) suggest that the only way to transform the educational system is by reforming education from the bottom up; by empowering teachers, allowing them to lead, and dealing with them as trusted change agents. Starting a global movement about transforming the teaching profession, Netolicky et.al. (2019) argue that

Policy and research would benefit from honouring teachers' and leaders' voices, addressing the multidimensionality of work in schools, and acknowledging its situatedness and complexity. Education reforms would benefit from engaging with how teachers and school leaders perceive and describe themselves, their lives, and their work (p. 16).

This study contributes to the literature by documenting the voices of mainstream teachers of ELLs about their experience with PD targeting the teaching of ELLs.

Although there are a few studies that have addressed mainstream teachers' perceptions of the impact of PD opportunities on their teaching of ELLs, an even smaller number of studies focused on teachers' perspectives on education reforms (Coady et al. 2015; Gandara et al. 2005; Molle, 2013; Netolicky et.al. 2019). In addition, this qualitative study utilized multiple data collection methods, such as individual and focus group interviews, which, taken together, provided more compelling evidence about teachers' perspectives of PD programs.

I was deeply touched by the powerful and lived narratives shared by all participants about their teaching experiences of ELLs. I found most of these teachers to be unusually perceptive, dedicated and committed to diverse learners. I understand how ELLs feel as they start a new learning journey; once they complete their ESL program and exit their somewhat learning comfort zone, they become immersed in mainstream classrooms, together with native, non-EL students, academically competing with them, and to a large extent subject to the same assessment standards. In effect, it is new and very challenging in many aspects. They continuously struggle with trying to improve

their English language, while grappling with comprehending complex academic content.

I have experienced all of these feelings, frustrations and challenges, but they still proved to be great opportunities.

#### Appendix A

#### IRB Approval Form



# Office of Research Development, Integrity, and Assurance

Research Hall, 4400 University Drive, MS 6D5, Fairfax, Virginia 22030 Phone: 703-993-5445; Fax: 703-993-9590

DATE: May 29, 2018

TO: William Brozo, Ph.D.

FROM: George Mason University IRB

Project Title: [1228070-1] Mainstream Teachers' Perceptions of the Effectiveness of

Professional Development Programs in Meeting the Academic and Literacy

Needs of Adolescent ELLs.

SUBMISSION TYPE: New Project

ACTION: APPROVED
APPROVAL DATE: May 29, 2018
EXPIRATION DATE: May 28, 2019
REVIEW TYPE: Expedited Review

REVIEW TYPE: Expedited review category #7

Thank you for your submission of New Project materials for this project. The George Mason University IRB has APPROVED your submission. This submission has received Expedited Review based on applicable federal regulations.

Please remember that all research must be conducted as described in the submitted materials.

Please remember that informed consent is a process beginning with a description of the project and insurance of participant understanding followed by a signed consent form unless the IRB has waived the requirement for a signature on the consent form or has waived the requirement for a consent process. Informed consent must continue throughout the project via a dialogue between the researcher and research participant. Federal regulations require that each participant receives a copy of the consent document.

Please note that any revision to previously approved materials must be approved by the IRB prior to initiation. Please use the appropriate revision forms for this procedure.

All UNANTICIPATED PROBLEMS involving risks to subjects or others and SERIOUS and UNEXPECTED adverse events must be reported promptly to the IRB office. Please use the appropriate reporting forms for this procedure. All FDA and sponsor reporting requirements should also be followed (if applicable).

All NON-COMPLIANCE issues or COMPLAINTS regarding this project must be reported promptly to the IRB.

The anniversary date of this study is May 28, 2019. This project requires continuing review by this committee on an annual basis. You may not collect data beyond this date without prior IRB approval. A continuing review form must be completed and submitted to the IRB at least 30 days prior to the anniversary date or upon completion of this project. Prior to the anniversary date, IRBNet will send you a reminder regarding continuing review procedures.

Please note that all research records must be retained for a minimum of five years, or as described in your submission, after the completion of the project.

Please note that department or other approvals may be required to conduct your research in addition to IRB approval.

If you have any questions, please contact Katie Brooks at (703) 993-4121 or kbrook14@gmu.edu. Please include your project title and reference number in all correspondence with this committee.

GMU IRB Standard Operating Procedures can be found here: <a href="http://oria.gmu.edu/1031-2/?\_ga=1.12722615.1443740248.1411130601">http://oria.gmu.edu/1031-2/?\_ga=1.12722615.1443740248.1411130601</a>

This letter has been electronically signed in accordance with all applicable regulations, and a copy is retained within George Mason University IRB's records.

#### Appendix B

#### **Invitation Letter**

September 24, 2028

#### Dear Lakewood Teachers:

My name is Zahra Alhuwairini and I am a PhD candidate at George Mason University, Fairfax, Virginia. As a PhD student, I am required to conduct original research. In my research, I intend to collect data related to PD activities provided to mainstream teachers of ELLs. I have been invited here by the Wilson Public Schools District (WPSD) to see if you are interested in participating in a research project to assess the effectiveness of teacher PD (PD) opportunities and experiences from the perspectives of mainstream teachers of ELLs.

I came to know about Lakewood MS and their effort and strive to meet the academic needs of ELLs through some of my colleagues at GMU. I met with some of Lakewood teaching staff as well as the Principal. Lakewood MS was recommended by my dissertation committee members, Dr. William Brozo, Dr. Robert Smith, and Dr. Kristien Zenkov.

By listening to mainstream teachers' voice, this research is expected to reveal characteristics of effectiveness of teacher PD activities. Given the focal role of teachers in advancing the education of students, I anticipate that you will have significant input and feedback that will shape and drive the research project. Guidelines may be established for PD planning, content and delivery, curriculum and teaching methods of ELLs in mainstream classrooms according to the results of this study.

I would like to invite each of you to participate in this research project. You are not obligated to participate if you choose not to. Participation in this project will not affect your career, nor will it require that you do any additional work. Participation simply means that you will be engaged in one group interview and one individual interview at the beginning and end of the Fall Semester of the academic year (2018-2019), for a three-hour participation time for each participant.

I also would like to assure you that all the interview data collected in this study will be confidential, and a pseudonym for your actual name will be used in the research report. Only my advisor and I will have access to the data. I fully understand how busy you are,

flexibility to select the suitable	1 1	us research project. You have
Please complete this form and	l put it in Ms. Haley's	mailbox by October 5, 2018.
I am interested in participating	g in this research proje	ct:
Name	email	Date

## Appendix C

### Demographic Questionnaire

Professional Developmen	t (PD) for Mair	nstream Teachers:	
Q1 Gender: 🖶 Female	- Ma	le	
Q2 Years of Total Teachi ➡ 1 Year			More than 10 Years
Q3 Years of ELLs' Teach ➡ 1 Year			→ More than 10 Years  →
Q4. What Subject Area(s) you are currently Teaching?			
Math Arts	<ul><li>Science</li><li>➡ Other (Spe</li></ul>	Social Studies cify):	English
Q5 Have you attended Pro ➡ Yes	ofessional Deve 	elopment Programs tha	at focus on Teaching of ELLs?
Q5 If Yes, How many (ap		ore Than 5	

#### Appendix D

#### Consent Form

Mainstream Teachers' Perceptions of the Effectiveness of PD Programs in Meeting the Academic and Literacy Needs of Adolescent ELLs

#### RESEARCH PROCEDURES

This research is being conducted to assess the effectiveness of teacher PD opportunities from the perspectives of mainstream teachers of ELLs. If you give permission to participate, one group interview and one individual interview will be conducted twice, at the beginning and at the end of academic year (2018-2019). The anticipated time to participate in the individual interviews is one hour for each participating teacher. For the focus group, the anticipated time is approximately two hours for the two focus group interviews. A digital recorder will be used to record the audio of the individual interviews and the group interviews. The audio recordings will be transcribed, and data from the transcriptions will be used in the student researcher's doctoral dissertation and in future presentations and publications. To further validate the interview data, I will send an email to all participating teachers to get their feedback about the data collected and conclusions made from interviewing teachers. The anticipated time to read and validate the report sent is about thirty minutes for each participating teacher.

#### **RISKS**

There are no foreseeable risks for participating in this research.

#### **BENEFITS**

There are no direct benefits to you as a participant in this project. However, this research is expected to reveal characteristics of effectiveness of teacher PD opportunities from the perspectives of mainstream teachers of ELLs. Guidelines may be established for PD content and delivery, curriculum and teaching methods of ELLs in mainstream classrooms according to the results of this study.

#### **CONFIDENTIALITY**

The interview data collected in this study will be confidential. Your actual name will be removed from all interview data, and a pseudonym for your actual name will be used in the research report. While it is understood that no computer transmission can be perfectly secure, reasonable efforts will be made to protect the confidentiality of your transmission.

The audio recordings of the interviews will be stored on the digital recorder until they have been transcribed. Once the group interview and the individual interviews have been transcribed, the audio files will be transferred to two flash drives. One flash drive will be given to Dr. William Brozo (the PI for this study) and will be kept in a locked filing cabinet at George Mason University. Only Dr. Brozo will have access to the key to the cabinet. The second flash drive will be kept in a locked filing cabinet in the student researcher's home and only she has access to the cabinet key. The audio will then be permanently deleted from the digital recorder 5 years after the study ends. Although focus group participants will be asked to keep the contents of the discussion confidential, due to the nature of a focus group, the researcher cannot control what participants might say outside of the research setting.

#### **PARTICIPATION**

Your participation is voluntary, and you may withdraw from the study at any time and for any reason. If you decide not to participate or if you withdraw from the study, there is no penalty or loss of benefits to which you are otherwise entitled. There are no costs to you or any other party.

#### **CONTACT**

This research is being conducted by Dr. William G. Brozo, Professor of Literacy and Zahra S. Alhuwairini, PhD candidate in the College of Education and Human Development at George Mason University. This research has been reviewed according to George Mason University procedures governing your participation in this research.

#### **CONSENT**

I have read this form and agree	ee to participate in this study.
Name	
Date of Signature	<u></u>

#### Appendix E

#### First Individual Interview Protocol

#### Before starting the interview:

- 1. Interviewer will give the participant a copy of the informed consent form and will review the form with the participant.
- 2. Interviewer will read: This individual interview will be semi structured and will follow an informal, conversational style. I will present the questions for your feedback. I will use a digital audio recorder to record the interview and also will take notes. This interview will last approximately 30 minutes.
- 3. Do you have any questions before I begin?
- 4. Interviewer turns on the digital recorder and notes time.

Interviewer:	Interviewee:
Date:	Time of Interview:
Location:	

#### Questions for 1<sup>st</sup> Interview:

- 1. Tell me about your teaching experience with ELLs?
- 2. Tell me about your experience with PD Programs you have participated in at your school or your district related to teaching of ELLs.
- 3. How relevant were those PD programs to the teaching of ELLs in mainstream classrooms?
- 4. What types of PD activities designed to support the teaching ELLs have you participated in?
- 5. Which type of PD activities do you think is more beneficial? Why?
- 6. What learning strategies and practices would you like to learn more about in order to support ELLs?
- 7. Do you believe that these PD programs provide you with the needed knowledge and skills to support ELLs? Please explain.
- 8. Do you feel that you have learned useful theories and teaching strategies and practices from the PD activities you have participated in? If Yes, in what ways?
- 9. Were you able to apply what you have learned in those PD sessions in your classroom? Please provide an example.

#### Appendix F

#### Second Individual Interview Protocol

Before starting the interview:

- 1. Interviewer will read: This individual interview will be semi structured and will follow an informal, conversational style. I will present the questions for your feedback. I will use a digital audio recorder to record the interview and also will take notes. This interview will last approximately 30 minutes.
- 2. Do you have any questions before I begin?
- 3. Interviewer turns on the digital recorder and notes time.

Interviewee:
Time of Interview:

### Questions for 2<sup>nd</sup> Interview:

- 1. Last time you talked about some literacy strategies such as "brick and mortar, sentence stem, and summarization. Can you elaborate on how these strategies support your teaching of ELLs?
- 2. Does your teaching and professional experience help in terms of understanding how to make these strategies work well in your classroom and understanding the literacy needs of ELLs?
- 3. Are there any complete PD programs related to teaching ELLs other than SIOP that you know of?
- 4. Through my interviews with different subject area teachers I noticed that the perspective of teachers of disciplines that are language loaded is different from these teachers of disciplines that are more into content focus, in terms of the PD programs that focus on integrating the language into the content. What is your thought on this?
- 5. As an adult learner and experienced teacher, what would you like to see different in future PD?
- 6. Will you participate in any future ELL-related PD programs? Why or why not?

#### Appendix G

#### First Focus Group Interview Protocol

#### Before starting the interview:

- 1. Interviewer will read: This focus group interview will be semi structured and will follow an informal, conversational style. I will present the questions for your feedback and discussion. I will use a digital audio recorder to record the interview and also will take notes. This interview will last approximately 45-60 minutes.
- 2. Do you have any questions before I begin?
- 3. Interviewer turns on the digital recorders and notes time.

Interviewer:	Interviewees:
Date:	Time of Interview:
Location:	

Questions for 1<sup>st</sup> Focus Group Interview:

- 1. Did you feel that you have benefited from participating in PD programs that are designed to support the teaching of ELLs?
  - Probe for the following information:
    - Did these PD activities meet your teaching needs to support ELLs? Explain.
    - What learning strategies and practices did you learn more about in order to support ELLs?
- 2. What types of PD programs do you think are more useful in supporting the teaching needs of ELLs? Explain.
- 3. How do you evaluate the content and the design features of PD programs related to English language learners in terms of meeting your teaching needs of ELLs?
- 4. What are the obstacles that prevent you and other mainstream teachers from applying what you have learned in PD programs?

#### Appendix H

#### Second Focus Group Interview Protocol

#### Before starting the interview:

- 1. Interviewer will read: This focus group interview will be semi structured and will follow an informal, conversational style. I will present the questions for your feedback and discussion. I will use a digital audio recorder to record the interview and also will take notes. This interview will last approximately 45-60 minutes.
- 2. Do you have any questions before I begin?
- 3. Interviewer turns on the digital recorders and notes time.

terviewees:
me of Interview:

Questions for 2<sup>nd</sup> Focus Group Interview:

- Last time we talked about ways to enhance PD programs such as differentiation, teacher choice, and follow up activities to make sure that these PD are effective. What other ways you can add to enhance PD programs to meet your needs in supporting the reading and writing needs of these students?
- 2. You have recently used the learning lab to observe each other's teaching using SIOP strategies? How does it help in improving your pedagogical knowledge and skills?
- 3. Describe the collaboration between art, PE and elective-subject teachers and the other subject area teachers or ESL teachers?
- 4. Will you participate in any future ELLs PD programs? Why or why not?
- 5. How do you like PD programs to be improved in terms of content and delivery?
- 6. As an experienced teacher, assume that you are in a school where 50% of your students are ELLs and you are asked to design a PD program. What are the design features that you would like to see in that PD program to support teachers of ELLs? What are the strategies that you would like to include that will help integrate the language into the subject area?

#### References

- August, D., Goldenberg, C., Saunders, W. M., & Dressler, C. (2010). Recent research on English language and literacy instruction: What we have learned to guide practice for English language learners in the 21st century. In M. Shatz, & L. Wilkinson (Eds.), *The education of English Language Learners: Research to practice* (pp. 272-297). Guilford Press.
- Baecher, L. (2012). Feedback from the Field: What novice PreK–12 ESL teachers want to tell TESOL teacher educators? *TESOL Quarterly*, 46(3), 578–588. https://doi/org/10.2307/41576069
- Bainbridge, J. M., & Macy, L. (2008). Voices: Student teachers link teacher education to perceptions of preparedness for literacy teaching. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 35(2), 65-83. https://doi/org/10.2307/23479224
- Ballantyne, K. G., Sanderman, A. R., & Levy, J. (2008). *Education English language learners: Building teacher capacity*. Washington, DC: National Clearinghouse for English Language Acquisition. Available at <a href="http://www.ncela.gwu.edu/practice/mainstream\_teachers.htm">http://www.ncela.gwu.edu/practice/mainstream\_teachers.htm</a>
- Batalova, J., Fix, M., & Murray, J. (2007). *Measures of change: The demography and literacy of adolescent English learners*. Carnegie Corporation of New York.
- Beck, C. & Kosnik, C. (2006). *Innovations in teacher education: A social constructivist approach*. State University of New York Press.
- Berg, M. A., & Huang, J. (2015). Improving in-service teachers' effectiveness: K-12 academic literacy for the linguistically diverse. *Functional Linguistics*, 2(1), 1–21. https://doi/org/10.1186/s40554-015-0017-6
- Birman, B., Desimone, L., Porter, A., & Garet, M. (2000). Designing professional development that works. *Educational Leadership*, *57*(8), 28-33.
- Blank, R. K., & De Las Alas, N. (2009). Blank, R. K., & de las Alas, N. (2009). Effects of teacher professional development on gains in student achievement: How meta-analysis provides scientific evidence useful to educational leaders. Washington, DC: Council of Chief State School. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ccsso.org/Documents/2009/Effects\_of\_Teacher\_Professional\_2009.p">http://www.ccsso.org/Documents/2009/Effects\_of\_Teacher\_Professional\_2009.p</a>

- Bogdan, R. & Biklen, S.K. (2007). *Qualitative research for education: An introduction to theory and methods*. Allyn & Bacon.
- Borko, H. (2004). Professional development and teacher learning: Mapping the terrain. *Educational Researcher*, 33(8), 3-15. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033008003">https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033008003</a>
- Brozo, W.G., Fisher, D. (2010). Literacy starts with the teachers. *Educational Leadership*, 67(6), 74-77.
- Bunch, G. (2013). Pedagogical language knowledge: Preparing mainstream teachers for English learners in the new standard era. *Review of Research in Education*, *37*(1), 298-341. https://doi-org/10.3102/0091732X12461772
- Calderon, M. (2009). Professional development: Continuing to understand how to teach children from diverse backgrounds. In L. Morrow, R. Rueda, & D. Lapp (Eds.), *Handbook of research on literacy and diversity*, (pp. 413-429). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Calderon, M., Slavin, R., & Sanchez, M. (2011). Effective instruction for English learners. *The Future of Children*, 21(1), 103-127. https://doi/org/10.2307/41229013
- Capps, R., Fix, M., Murray, J., Ost, J., Passel, J. S., & Herwantoro, S. (2005). *The new demography of America's schools: Immigration and the No Child Left Behind Act*. Urban Institute.
- Cervone, L. (2010). Excellence for Connecticut's English language learners: A national professional development grant project. AccELLerate! *The Quarterly Newsletter of the National Clearinghouse for English Language Acquisition*, 2, 103-127. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.ncela.us/files/uploads/17/Accellerate">http://www.ncela.us/files/uploads/17/Accellerate</a> 2 2.pdf.
- Coady, M., Harper, C., & De Jong, E. (2015). Aiming for equity: Preparing mainstream teachers for inclusion or inclusive classrooms? TESOL Quarterly, 50(2), 340-368. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.223">https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.223</a>
- Cobb, P., McClain, K., Lamberg, T., & Dean, C. (2003). Situating teachers' instructional practices in the institutional setting of the school and district. *Educational Researcher*, 32(6), 13-24. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X032006013">https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X032006013</a>
- Council of Chief State School Officers, & National Governors Association Center for Best Practices. (2010). *Reaching higher: The Common Core State Standards Validation Committee*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.corestandards.org/assets/CommonCoreReport\_6.10.pdf">http://www.corestandards.org/assets/CommonCoreReport\_6.10.pdf</a>

- Council of Chief State School Officers (2012). Framework for English Language
  Proficiency Development Standards corresponding to the Common Core State
  Standards and the Next Generation Science Standards. Retrieved from
  <a href="https://www.ccsso.org/sites/default/files/2017-11/ELPD%20Framework%20Booklet-Final%20for%20web.pdf">https://www.ccsso.org/sites/default/files/2017-11/ELPD%20Framework%20Booklet-Final%20for%20web.pdf</a>
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks.
- Cummins, J. (2000). *Language, power, and pedagogy: Bilingual children in the crossfire*. Multilingual Matters.
- Daniel, S. M., & Conlin, L. (2015). Shifting attention back to students within the sheltered instruction observation protocol. *TESOL Quarterly*, 49(1), 169-187. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.213">https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.213</a>
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1997). The quality of teaching matters most. *Journal of Staff Development*, 18(1), 38-41.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Chung, R., & Frelow, F. (2002). Variation in teacher preparation: How well do different pathways prepare teachers to teach? *Journal of Teacher Education*, *53*(4), 286–302. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487102053004002">https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487102053004002</a>
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). Preparing teachers for a changing world: What teachers should learn and be able to do. Jossey- Bass.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Richardson, N. (2009). Research review/teacher learning: What matters? *Educational leadership*, 66, 46-53.
- De Jong, E. J., & Harper, C. (2005). Preparing mainstream teachers for English-language learners: *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *32*(2), 101-124. https://doi.org/10.2307/23478724
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2005). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (3rd ed). Thousand Oaks.
- Durgunoglu, A. Y., & Hughes, T. (2010). How prepared are the US preservice teachers to teach English language learners? *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 22(1), 32-41.
- Escamilla, K. (2007). Consideration for literacy coaches in classrooms with English language learners. Retrieved from Literacy Coaching Clearinghouse website: <a href="http://literacycoachingonline.org/briefs/Escamilla\_BRIEF.pdf">http://literacycoachingonline.org/briefs/Escamilla\_BRIEF.pdf</a>.

- Evers, J. and Kneyber, R. (2016). Flip the System: Changing education from the ground up. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Farrell, T. S. C. (2008). Learning to teach language in the first year: A Singapore case study. In T. S. C. Farrell (Ed.), *Novice language teachers: Insights and perspectives for the first year*, (pp. 43-56). Continuum.
- Fenech Adami, M, & Kaiger, A. (2005). The use of triangulation for completeness purposes. *Nurse Researcher*, 12(4), 19-29. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr2005.04.12.4.19.c5956
- Franco-Fuenmayor, S. E., Padrón, Y. N., & Waxman, H. C. (2015). Bilingual/ESL teachers' knowledge and professional development opportunities in a large suburban school district in Texas. *Bilingual Research Journal*, *38*(3), 336-352. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15235882.2015.1091049">https://doi.org/10.1080/15235882.2015.1091049</a>
- Gallucci, C., Lare, M., Yoon, I., & Boatwright, B. (2010). Instructional coaching: Building theory about the role and organizational support for professional learning. *American Educational Research Journal*, 47(4), 919-963. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831210371497
- Gandara, P., Maxwell-Jolly, J., & Driscoll, A. (2005). Listening to teachers of English language learners: A survey of California teachers' challenges, experiences, and professional development needs (pp. 1-32). Santa Cruz, CA: Center for the Future of Teaching and Learning. Retrieved from <a href="http://escholarship.org/uc/item/6430628z">http://escholarship.org/uc/item/6430628z</a>.
- Gebhard, M. (2010). Teacher education in changing times: A systemic functional linguistics (SFL) perspective. TESOL Quarterly, *44*(4), 797–803. https://doi.org/10.2307/27896766
- Goldenberg, C. (2011). Reading instruction for English language learners. In M.L. Kamil, P.D. Pearson, E.B. Moje, & P.P. Afflerbach (Eds.), *Handbook of reading research* (Vol. 4, pp. 684–710). Routledge.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, 18(1), 59–82. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903">https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X05279903</a>
- Guskey, T. R. (2000). Evaluating professional development. Corwin Press.
- Guskey, T. R. (2014). Reach the Highest Standard in Professional Learning: Data. Corwin Press.

- Haberman, M. (2004). Can star teachers create learning communities? *Educational Leadership*, 61(8), 52-56.
- Halcomb, E. J., & Andrew, S. (2005). Triangulation as a method for contemporary nursing research. *Nurse Researcher*, *13*(2), 71-82. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.13.2.71.s8
- Hamann, E. T. & Reeves, J. (2013). Interrupting the professional schism that allows less successful educational practices with ELLs to persist. *Theory Into Practice*, *52*(2), 81-88. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2013.770325">https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2013.770325</a>
- Hansen-Thomas, H., Grosso, R., Liliana, K., Kakkar, K., & Okeyo, C. (2016). Do not feel I am properly trained to help them! Rural teachers' perceptions of challenges and needs with English-language learners. *Professional Development in Education*, 42(2), 308-324. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2014.973528">https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2014.973528</a>
- Harré, R. (1984). *Personal being: A theory for individual psychology*. Harvard University Press.
- Hawkins, M. R. (2004). Researching English language and literacy developing in schools. *Educational Researcher*, *33*(3), 14-25. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033003014
- Hawkins, M. R. (2009). Developing reading and writing in second-language learners: Lessons from the Report of the National Literacy Panel on Language-Minority Children and Youth. *TESOL Quarterly*, 43(2), 377-379.
- He, Y., Prater, & Steed, T. (2011). Moving beyond "just good teaching": ESL professional development for all teachers. *Professional Development in Education*, *37*(1), 7-18. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/19415250903467199">https://doi.org/10.1080/19415250903467199</a>
- Hersi, A. A., Horan, D. A., & Lewis, M. A. (2016). Redefining 'community' through collaboration and co-teaching: a case study of an ESOL specialist, a literacy specialist, and a fifth-grade teacher. *Teachers and Teaching* 22(8), 1-20. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2016.1200543">https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2016.1200543</a>
- Hirsh, S. (2009). A new definition. *Journal of Staff Development*, 30(4), 10-16.
- Howard, T. C., & Aleman, G. R. (2008). Teacher capacity for diverse learners: What do teachers need to know? In M. Cochran-Smith, S. Feiman-Nemser, D. J. McIntyre, & K. E. Demers (Eds.), *Handbook of research on teacher education: Enduring Questions in changing context* (pp. 157-174). New York, NY: Routledge.

- Janzen, J. (2007). Preparing teachers of second language reading. *TESOL Quarterly*, 41(4), 707-729. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1545-7249.2007.tb00100.x">https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1545-7249.2007.tb00100.x</a>
- Jiménez, R., David, S., Pacheco, M., Risko, V., Pray, L., Fagan, K., & Gonzales, M. (2015) Supporting teachers of English Learners by leveraging students' linguistic strengths. *The Reading Teacher*, 68(6), 406-412. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1289
- Kibler, A. K., & Roman, D. (2013). Insights into professional development for teachers of English language learners: A focus on using students' native language in the classroom. *Bilingual Research Journal*, *36*(2), 187-207. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/15235882.2013.820226">https://doi.org/10.1080/15235882.2013.820226</a>
- Knight, S., & Wiseman, D. (2006). Lessons learned from a research synthesis on the effects of teachers' professional development on cultural diverse students. In K. Téllez, & H. Waxman (Eds.), *Preparing quality teachers for English language learners: Research, policies, and practices* (pp. 71-98). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Knowles, M. S. (1980). The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to andragogy. Follett.
- Knowles, M. S. (1984). Andragogy in action. Jossey-Bass.
- Kohler, A. D., & Lazarin, M. (2007). *Hispanic education in the United States*. Washington, DC: National Council of La Raza. Available: <a href="https://www.nclr.org/content/publications/download/43340">https://www.nclr.org/content/publications/download/43340</a>
- Kruger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2009). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research. Sage.
- Kvale, S., & Brinkmann, S. (2009). *Inter views: Learning the craft of qualitative research interviewing*. Sage.
- Lee, D., & Buxton, C. (2013). Teachers professional development to improve science and literacy achievement of English Language Learners. *Theory Into Practice*, 52(2), 110-117. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2013.770328">https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2013.770328</a>
- Leko, M., & Mundy, C. (2012). Preparing secondary educators to support adolescent struggling readers. *Preventing School Failure*, *56*(2), 137-147. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2011.619220
- Loucks-Horsley, S., Love, N., Stiles, K., Mundry, S., & Hewson, P. (2003). *Designing professional development for teachers of science and mathematics*. (2nd Ed.) Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

- Lovette, G. (2013). Reading preparation of secondary ELA teachers: A U.S. survey of state licensure requirements. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 57(3), 193-203. https://doi.org/10.1002/JAAL.222
- Lucas, T., & Grinberg, J. (2008). Responding to the linguistic reality of mainstream classrooms: Preparing all teachers to teach English language learners. In M. Cochran-Smith, S. Feiman-Nemser, & J. McIntyre (Eds.), *Handbook of research on teacher education: Enduring issue s in changing contexts*, (pp. 606-636). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Lucas, T., Villegas, A. M., & Freedson-Gonzalez, M. (2008). Linguistically responsive teacher education: Preparing classroom teachers to teach English language learners. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *59*(4), 361-373. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487108322110
- Lucas, T. (2011). Language, schooling, and the preparation of teachers for linguistic diversity. In T. Lucas [Eds.], *Teacher preparation for linguistically diverse classroom: A resource for teacher educators*, (pp. 3-17), New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.
- Mayher, J. S. (2012). English teacher education as literacy teacher education. *English Education*, 44(2), 180-187. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/23238753">https://doi.org/10.2307/23238753</a>
- Maxwell, J. (2013). Qualitative research design: An interactive approach (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Sage.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). John Wiley & Sons.
- Molle, D. (2013). Facilitating professional development for teachers of English Language learners: Teaching and teacher education: *An International Journal of Research and Studies*, 29, 197-207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2012.10.002
- Mueller, T. G., Singer, G. H., & Carranza, F. D. (2006). A national survey of the educational planning and language instruction practices for students with moderate to severe disabilities who are English language learners. *Research & Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 31(3), 242-254. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/154079690603100304">https://doi.org/10.1177/154079690603100304</a>
- National Assessment of Educational Progress (NEAP) (2015). *Mathematics & Reading Assessments*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/reading\_math\_2015/#reading?grade=4">https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/reading\_math\_2015/#reading?grade=4</a>

- National Center for Educational Statistics (2020). Characteristics of public school teachers. Retrieved from <a href="https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator\_clr.asp">https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator\_clr.asp</a>.
- National Clearinghouse for English Language Acquisition (NCELA). (2011). *The growing numbers of English learner students*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncela.gwu.edu/files/uploads/9/growing\_LEP\_0809.pdf">https://www.ncela.gwu.edu/files/uploads/9/growing\_LEP\_0809.pdf</a>.
- Netolicky, D. M, Andrews, J and Paterson A. (2019). Flip the system Australia: What matters in education. Abingdon: Routledge.
- O'Brien, J. (2011). The system is broken and it's failing these kids: High school social studies teachers' attitudes towards training for ELLs. *Journal of Social Studies Research*, 35(1), 22-38.
- O'Neal, D., Ringler, M., & Rodriguez, D. (2008). Teachers' perceptions of their preparation for teaching linguistically and culturally diverse learners in rural eastern North Carolina. *Rural Educator*, 30(1), 5-13. <a href="https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v30i1.456">https://doi.org/10.35608/ruraled.v30i1.456</a>
- OECD (2016). *PISA 2015 Results (Volume I): Excellence and Equity in Education*, OECD Publishing, Paris. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264266490-en.
- Palincsar, A. S. (1998). Social constructivist perspectives on teaching and learning. Annual Review of Psychology, 49, 345-375. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.49.1.345
- Paris, S.R. & Block C.C. (2007). The expertise of adolescent literacy teachers. *Journal of Adolescent and Adult Literacy*, 50(7), 582-596. https://doi.org/10.1598/JAAL.50.7.7
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed). Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (4th ed). Sage.
- Pawan, F., & Ortloff, J. H. (2011). Sustaining collaboration: English-as-a-second-language, and content-area teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*. 27(2), 463-471. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2010.09.016">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2010.09.016</a>
- Penuel, W., Gallagher, L., & Moorthy, S. (2011). Preparing teachers to design sequence of instruction in earth systems science: A comparison of three professional development programs. *American Educational Research Journal*, 48(4), 996-1025. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831211410864

- Peter, L., Markham, P., & Frey, B. (2012). Preparing teachers for success with English language: Challenges and opportunities for university TESOL educators. *The Teacher Educator*, 47(4), 302-327. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2012.707757">https://doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2012.707757</a>
- Polat, N., & Mahalingappa, L. (2013). Examining service and gender effects on teacher beliefs about ELLs in content area classes: A case for inclusion, responsibility and instructional support. *Teaching Education*, 24(1), 58-83. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2012.713930">https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2012.713930</a>
- Polat, N., & Cepik, S. (2015). An exploratory factor analysis of the Sheltered Instruction Observation Protocol as an evaluation tool to measure teaching effectiveness. *TESOL Quarterly*, 50(4), 817-843. https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.248
- Portin, B. S., Knapp, M. S., Alejano, C. R., & Marzolf, E. (2006). *Roles, responsibility, and authority of school leaders: Patterns in current research, theory, and practice*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Center for the Study of Teaching and Policy and the Wallace Foundation.
- Reeves, J. (2006). Secondary teacher attitudes toward including English-language learners in mainstream classrooms. Journal of Educational Research 99(3), 131-143. https://doi.org/10.3200/JOER.99.3.131-143
- Rice Doran, P. (2014). Professional development for teachers of culturally and linguistically diverse learners: Teachers' experiences and perceptions. *Global Education*, 4, 62-80.
- Risko, V., Roller, C., Cummins, C., Bean, R., Block, C., Anders, P., & Flood, J. (2008). A critical analysis of research on reading teacher education. *Reading Research Ouarterly*, 43(3), 252-288. https://doi.org/10.1598/RRQ.43.3.3
- Ronfeldt, M., Farmer, S. O., Mcqueen, K., & Grissom, J. A. (2015). Teacher collaboration in instructional teams and student achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, *52*(3), 475-514. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831215585562
- Rubinstein-Avila, E. (2004). Conversing with Miguel: An adolescent English language learner struggling with later literacy development. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, 47(4), 290-301. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/40014775">https://doi.org/10.2307/40014775</a>
- Short, D. (1993). Assessing integrated language and content instruction. *TESOL Quarterly*, 27(4), 627–656. https://doi.org/10.2307/3587399

- Short, D., Fidelman, C., & Louguit, M. (2012). Developing academic language in English language learners through sheltered instruction. *TESOL Quarterly*, 46(2), 334-361. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.20">https://doi.org/10.1002/tesq.20</a>
- Short, D. (2013). Training and sustaining effective teachers of sheltered instruction. *Theory Into Practice*, *52*(2), 118-127. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405841.2013.770329
- Snow, M. A., Met, M., & Genesee, F. (1989). Conceptual framework for the integration of language and content in second/foreign language instruction. *TESOL Quarterly*, 23(2), 201-217. <a href="https://doi.org/10.2307/3587333">https://doi.org/10.2307/3587333</a>
- Snow, C. E., Burns, M. S., & Griffin, P. (Eds.). (1998). *Preventing reading difficulties in young children*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Snow. C. E., & Biancarosa, J. (2003). *Adolescent literacy and the achievement gap: What do we know and where do we go from here?* Carnegie Corporation of New York.
- Sousa, D. A. (2017). *How the Brain Learns*. Corwin Press.
- Sparks, D. (1996, February). Viewing reforms from a systems perspective. *The Developer*, 2, 6.
- Stewart, C. (2014). Transforming professional development to professional learning. *MPAEA Journal of Adult Education*, 43, 28-33.
- Stoller, F. (2004). Content-based instruction: Perspectives on curriculum planning. Annual Review of Applied Linguistic, 24, 261-283. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0267190504000108
- Téllez, K., & Waxman, H. (2006). Preparing quality teachers for English language learners: an overview of the critical issues. In K. Téllez, & H. Waxman (Eds.), *Preparing quality teachers for English language learners: Research, policies, and practices* (pp. 1-22). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Thomas, L, MacMillan, J, McColl, E, Hale, C., & Bond, S (1995). Comparison of focus group and individual interview methodology in examining patient satisfaction with nursing care. *Social Sciences in Health 1*, 206–219.
- Tran, Y. K., (2014). Professional development and teacher efficacy: Contexts of what, when, and how in serving ELs. *Multicultural Education Review*, 6(2), 81-116. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/2005615X.2014.11102913">https://doi.org/10.1080/2005615X.2014.11102913</a>

- U.S. Department of Education (2001). *No Child Left Behind Act*. Retrieved from <a href="http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html">http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/esea02/index.html</a>.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016). *Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA)*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn">https://www.ed.gov/essa?src=rn</a>.
- U.S. Department of Education (2020). Teacher professional and career development. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ed.gov/oii-news/teacher-professional-and-career-development">https://www.ed.gov/oii-news/teacher-professional-and-career-development</a>.
- Urmston, A., & Pennington, M. C. (2008). The beliefs and practices of novice teachers in Hong Kong: change and resistance to change in an Asian teaching context. In T.S.C. Farrell (Ed.), *Novice language teachers: Insights and perspectives for the first year* (pp. 89–103). London: Equinox Publishing Ltd.
- Walqui, A. (2000). Access and engagement: Program design and instructional approaches for immigrant students in secondary school. Center for Applied Linguistics.
- Watkins, N. M., & Lindahl, K. M. (2010). Targeting content area literacy instruction to meet the needs of adolescent English language learners. *Middle School Journal*, 41(3), 23-32. ttps://doi.org/10.1080/00940771.2010.11461718
- Weimer, M. (2002). *Learner-centered teaching: Five key changes to practice*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Yin, R. K. (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Yoon, B. (2008). Uninvited guests: The influence of teachers' roles and pedagogies on the positioning of English language learners in regular classrooms. *American Educational Research Journal*, 45(2), 495-522. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831208316200

### Biography

Zahra S. Alhuwairini received her Bachelor of English Literature from Princess Nourah University in 1993. She was employed as a teacher in Saudi Arabia and received her Master of Arts in TESL from Kent State University in 1997.